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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

R R AT AR E R

In the Group's business integration, the revenue of our shopping
mall business in the PRC for the entire year was included in the
Group's consolidated accounts for the first time. For the overseas
flooring materials trading business launched in the second half
of 2021, sales in 2022 achieved good growth as compared with
the previous year. The two businesses have enriched the Group's
business portfolio and diversified its income.

The global economic and trade activities have become more
frequent as the epidemic recedes, and the world economy and
business activities have shown a recovery trend, which was
beneficial to the overseas sales of the Group’s flooring materials
trading business. At the same time, the Group will actively expand
the domestic market of flooring materials products.

Affected by the epidemic, in 2022, all shopping malls of the
Group were closed due to the government’s epidemic prevention
orders, and each time lasted for one week to three weeks. At the
same time, it was also necessary to provide corresponding rent
or management fee concessions for merchants, so as to tide over
the difficulties with merchants and stabilize the operation of the
malls. The Group maintained customer sources and enhanced
customer shopping experience by strengthening the promotion of
various shopping mall areas and themed projects. Although the
epidemic has affected the operation of shopping malls, instead of
slacking off, the Group has made good use of the period when the
shopping malls were affected by the epidemic to improve shopping
mall facilities, so as to prepare in advance when the epidemic
subsides and the operating environment returns to normal.

Under the complex and difficult operating environment last year,
the Group maintained the healthy operation of its business and
sought new development in a stable manner. | would like to take
this opportunity to thank our shareholders, clients, the professional
parties, and our staff for their contributions over the last year.

Tai United Holdings Limited
Wang Hongfang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E W ST

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The revenue of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022 (“Year") was approximately HK$159.7 million, representing
a significant decrease of 48.3% as compared to revenue of
approximately HK$309.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, such decrease was mainly contributed by decrease in
revenue attributable to sale of stores’ operating rights generated
from the shopping mall businesses in the People’s Republic of
China (“China” or “PRC") in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, mitigated by the increase in revenue from
sales of flooring materials. Revenue decreased substantially and
notwithstanding the Company actively implemented continuous
cost saving plan, the Group still recorded a loss before tax of
approximately HK$1,606.1 million during the Year, increased by
241.7% as compared with the loss before tax of HK$470.1 million
in the year ended 31 December 2021, with the combined effect of:

(i) A decrease in fair value of investment properties to
approximately HK$679.2 million resulting from the
continuous adverse impact of the outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic;

(i) an increase in finance costs from approximately HK$130.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$178.2 million during the Year, which was
due to the bank loans of approximately RMB1,350.0 million
in connection to the acquisition of Guangzhou Shopping Mall
(as defined below);

(i) impairment on intangible assets of HK$41.5 million, and

(iv) provision for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$683.5
million during the Year, which was due to guarantees
provided by immediate holding companies of the Guangzhou
Shopping Mall and Jinzhou Shopping Mall (as defined below).
The guarantees were provided to onshore banks in the PRC
in relation to third party loans and such guarantees were not
disclosed to the Group by the seller at the time of acquisition
of the holding companies of the two shopping malls.

Income tax credit for the Year was approximately HK$150.7
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WM

BUSINESS REVIEW e e

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property ~ AEBEEBHREWELE - RV REBEREE
investment, flooring materials and medical equipment trading, % * RERMERAER RemBRELEEEE
mining and exploitation of natural resources, and financial services £

and assets management.

(1) Property Investment (1) MERE

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC

The Group wholly owns three shopping malls in the PRC,
including: (i) a single-storey underground mall (“Jinzhou
Shopping Mall”) located in Jingzhou, Liaoning Province,
the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall business
("Jinzhou Shopping Mall Business”); (ii) a two-storey
underground mall (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall”) located in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC, which is engaged
in the shopping mall business (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business”); and (iii) a two-storey underground mall (the
“Anyang Shopping Mall”) located in Anyang city, Hunan
Province, the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall
business (“Anyang Shopping Mall Business”).

Anyang Shopping Mall Business, together with Jinzhou
Shopping Mall Business and Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business are the “Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC".

The business and operating model of the Jinzhou Shopping
Mall, Guangzhou Shopping Mall and Anyang Shopping
Mall primarily involves the leasing of stores to retailers and
wholesalers of apparels, accessories, household appliances
and food and beverage and other venue areas in the
shopping malls for marketing and promotional activities.
It derives revenue from rental income and the provision of
property management services to tenants, including mall
security, maintenance and repair and management of the
operations of the three shopping malls. The Company
holds the three shopping malls as investment properties
and conducts day-to-day operations primarily in leasing and
property management services which generate rental and
property management incomes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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¥KEEE e
(1) MERE®)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)

In addition, as to the Guangzhou Shopping Mall, under
certain contracts with its tenants, the operating rights of the
stores may be transferred to them after a specified period of
the lease. This and the sales promotion and leasing activities
by the leasing team of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall
generate additional revenue from the transfer of operating
rights of the stores. For the Year, there was no further
completion of pre-existing contracts prior to the acquisition
of the holding company of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall in
2021 due to COVID-19, which led to no revenue recorded
(2021: approximately HK$217.8 million) from the transfer of
the operating rights of store units of the mall.

The Group has been undertaking a diversified business
strategy. The acquisitions of three shopping malls in Anyang,
Jinzhou and Guangzhou that completed in 2021 are in
line with the strategic development of the Group and have
provided an opportunity for the Group to widen its shopping
malls network, expand the geographical coverage and scale
up its shopping mall businesses. It is expected that the
promotional campaigns, marketing activities and branding of
the shopping malls of the Group will become more effective
and cost-efficient. Anyang Shopping Mall is located in the
central region of the PRC while the shopping malls in Jinzhou
and Guangzhou are located in the north-eastern region and
southern region of the PRC respectively. The acquisitions
have allowed the Group's shopping mall network to have
a strategic presence in central, north-eastern and southern
regions of the PRC and expand geographically across the
above regions in the PRC and potentially grow its market
share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN®EROIT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ESAE]- e

(1) Property Investment (Continued) (1) MERE®)
Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued) HEREY N ET ()

FEEVTFOEFRFENFHEREELGE
Bt~ SRINEE RO R EMN B L 2 T
BB -BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—8 =@
B OFBRINAT

The Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC primarily involve the
leasing and management of operations of Anyang Shopping
Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall and Guangzhou Shopping Mall.
As of 31 December 2022, details of the three shopping malls
are set out as follows:

Gross Leasable Leased
Shopping Mall Floor Area Floor Area Floor Area
AHEEE S HEER
BT BEEEE [k [
(approximately  (approximately  (approximately
sg.m.) sq.m.) sq.m.)
(FFHAK) (K1 FHAK) (KIFHXK)
Anyang Shopping Mall ZREE P
Anyang Diyi Shopping Street PR 25 it — YR Y
Shopping Mall in the PRC HR 25,310 24,815 17,924
Jinzhou Shopping Mall SRINEEY P
Jinzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall H B 8RN 3 — KB R 0
in the PRC 40,765 38,809 35,055
Guangzhou Shopping Mall N BB R s
Guangzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall in  # Bl & M b — ASEE ¥ 0
the PRC Phases 1 and 2 —H N — 89,415 37,570 17,142

For the Year, the revenue generated from the Shopping Mall
Businesses in the PRC was mainly attributable to the rental
income and property management and related service income
from shops and venue spaces tenants of approximately
HK$55.8 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair values of investment
properties of Anyang Shopping Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall
and Guangzhou Shopping Mall amounted to approximately
HK$474 million, approximately HK$662 million and

;{Qxlm\qiely HK$@IUon respectively.
\~\ oy
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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(1) MERE®)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Real Estate in the UK

The Group holds luxury real estate in premium location in
central London within close proximity to the Buckingham
Palace (UK Investment Properties”). As at 31 December
2022, the UK Investment Properties of the Group carried at
fair value were approximately HK$575.8 million. The revenue
generated from the UK Investment Properties for the Year
was approximately HK$10.7 million, representing an increase
of 81.4% as compared to approximately HK$5.9 million over
the year ended 31 December 2021. Such increase in rental
income was mainly attributable to the lease payment arising
from the new lease of the town house at 6 Buckingham
Gate, London, the United Kingdom leased out in July 2021
for a term of three years.

The business and operating model of the UK Investment
Properties involves the leasing and property management of
luxury residential properties in London, which are leased to
high-end tourists and tenants for rental income.

As such, the overall segment results were therefore a loss
of approximately HK$1,558.7 million, representing an
increase of approximately 283.5% as compared to the
loss of approximately HK$406.4 million in the year ended
31 December 2021, which was mainly due to provision
for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$683.5
million, decrease in fair value of investment properties
of approximately HK$679.2 million resulting from the
continuous adverse impact of the outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic and finance costs of approximately HK$177.8
million during the Year, which was due to the bank loan
of approximately RMB1,350.0 million in connection to the
acquisition of Guangzhou Shopping Mall.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(2)

(3)

\ including the closure of factories, suspension of production

Flooring Materials and Medical Equipment
Trading

The Group commenced the trading business of flooring
materials with overseas customers in second half of 2021
and recorded revenue of approximately HK$83.4 million for
the Year, representing an increase of 229.6%, as compared
to approximately HK$25.3 million over the year ended 31
December 2021. The Group has made sales of flooring board
materials to overseas customers by exporting to markets
including the United States and India. Leveraging on the
potential synergies with the Group’s Shopping Mall Business
in the PRC, we expect to capitalise on the shopping mall
tenants and customer networks to develop and expand
our domestic sales of flooring, ceiling and other decorative
materials.

The Group carries out medical equipment trading business
in China for which the majority customers are hospitals. As
the selling products are mostly general medical equipment,
consumable goods and optical medical devices and the
related parts (“Medical Products”), the Group operates in
a highly competitive market. Sales of Medical Products were
still negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The
revenue for the Year decreased to approximately HK$9.9
million, represented a decrease of 43.4% as compared
with approximately HK$17.5 million of the year ended 31
December 2021. The segment gain for medical equipment
trading business for the Year was approximately HK$0.3
million, as compared to a loss of approximately HK$2.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources

Currently, the Group holds four mining right licences
("Mining Rights”) of three tungsten projects in Mongolia.
The segment of mining and exploitation of natural resources
business recorded no revenue during the Year as numerous
investors who we approached have suspended their
negotiations with us due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
subsequent lockdown measures. In view of various factors

iand.therefore the Iower market demand resulting from
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEHBRS

i

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(3)

(4)

Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources (Continued)

The carrying values of the Mining Rights was approximately
HK$18.7 million as at 31 December 2022. The Group is still
continuously identifying potential investors to negotiate the
sales of the Mining Rights.

Financial Services and Assets Management

No segment revenue was recorded as the prospect and
market condition were yet to be certain, especially in light of
the economic recovery affected by repeated resurgence of
COVID-19 pandemic and the China-US tension. The Group
has adopted a prudent approach in financial investments
during the Year. As such, the segment loss for the Year was
approximately HK$3.5 million, compared with the segment
loss of approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The status of each of the business in this
segment is further discussed as below.

Financial services

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) through a wholly-owned subsidiary.
Due to uncertain market conditions, the commencement of
money lending business will be postponed.

Distressed debt assets management

The business incurred a loss of approximately HK$2.8 million
for the Year, mainly representing the overhead costs of the
business operation, whereas the loss of the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$2.6 million. The
Directors will continue to assess whether the Group should
continue to engage in distressed assets investment.

Securities investment

The Group sold majority of its securities investments in the
Y&ar .a nex in estment Ioss of approximately HK$0 5 million
aslrg q‘etiQ compared to a net investmept
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2022, the consolidated net asset of the Group
was approximately HK$222.6 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1,490.6 million as compared to that of
approximately HK$1,713.2 million as at 31 December 2021.
There is no shares movement since the end of the last year. As at
31 December 2022, the Company has 5,250,019,852 shares of
HK$0.05 each in issue and the total equity attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$221.0 million (as at 31
December 202 1: approximately HK$1,711.0 million).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank balances and cash
were approximately HK$222.9 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$255.4 million), current assets of approximately
HK$349.1 million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately
HK$392.1 million), current liabilities of approximately HK$3,005.1
million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately HK$2,392.4
million). The current ratio was 0.12 times®°t " (as at 31 December
2021: 0.16 times). As at the end of the Year, the net current
liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$2,656.0 million (as
at 31 December 2021: the net current liabilities of approximately
HK$2,000.3 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the total debt financing of the Group
was approximately HK$1,741.5 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1,910.8 million), and there was no non-current
debt financing for the Year (as at 31 December 2021: nil).

As at 31 December 2022, net debt®o 2 of the Group was
approximately HK$1,518.5 million (as at 31 December 2021 net
debt of approximately HK$1,655.4 million) and the total equity
was approximately HK$222.6 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1,713.2 million). Therefore, the gearing
ratio™o®2) as at the end of the Year was 7.82 (as at 31 December
RO NN

The objective of the Group’s funding and treasury management
activities is to ensure a sufficient liquidity to meet operational
needs and varlous mvestment plans.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has no material capital
commitments and was not engaged in any future plans concerning
major investment or acquisition of capital assets (as at 31
December 2021: nil).

Charges on group assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank borrowings of
approximately HK$1,736.1 million were secured by certain assets
of the Group, including investment properties and the equity
interest of a wholly-owned subsidiary (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1,907.8 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (as at 31 December 2021: nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group's financial statements are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD"), while the Group is conducting business
mainly in HKD, United States Dollar (“USD"), Great British Pound
("GBP") and RMB. Since exchange rates of HKD is pegged to USD,
there is no material exchange risk in respect of USD assets and
transactions. However, the assets, liabilities and transactions of the
UK and the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are mainly denominated
in GBP and RMB respectively, there were exchange risks during
financial settlement at the end of Year in this regard.

The Group has implemented policies and guidelines in relation to
foreign exchange risk management. Meanwhile, the subsidiaries
in the PRC are able to generate sufficient income to deal with
their local currency expenses; therefore, the management of the
Company considered that the Group’s exposure to the potential
foreign currency risk was relatively limited.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 169 (as at 31 December
2021: 193) employees, of whom approximately 8.9% (as at 31
December 2021: 14.5%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest
were located in the PRC and overseas.

The Group recognises the employees as the key element that
contributes to the Group’s success. The Group's remuneration
policies are formulated based on the individual performance and
the salaries trends in various regions, which will be reviewed
annually. Apart from mandatory provident fund and medical
insurance, the Company has adopted a share option scheme under
which share options may also award to the Directors and eligible
employees as an incentive with reference to the assessment of
individual performance. The board of Directors (“Board”) believes
that the Group maintains an admirable relationship with the
employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (year ended 31 December 2021: nil).

PROSPECTS

The National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC announced that
the gross domestic product (“GDP") in 2022 was approximately
RMB121 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 3.0%.
Annual final consumption expenditure drove GDP growth by 1
percentage point. Residents’ income growth was basically in sync
with economic growth. Market sales volume was basically stable,
with faster growth in sales of basic daily necessities and online
retail sales. The overall economic situation was stable, laying a solid
foundation for sound development after the economy and daily life
return to normal after the pandemic next year. The PRC’s economic
growth target for 2023 is 5%, which will take the lead in global
economic recovery.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

Looking forward to 2023, with the comprehensive relaxation of
the pandemic prevention measures in the PRC, the PRC’s overall
economy will continue to improve, and business activities will
resume normal. It is expected that the rental and management fee
income of the Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC will gradually
return to the level before the pandemic. The shopping malls of the
Group will continue to make good use of the integrated online
and offline promotion model, and cooperate with online celebrities
to market goods online and promote tenants’ sales. At the same
time, the Group also introduced early learning elements to the
shopping mall experience, and added facilities and leisure activities
targeting the interests of children and teenagers in order to attract
more young consumers and young families, and drive the growth
of the shopping mall business.

International trade is expected to become more active as the global
COVID-19 pandemic eases, and the PRC’'s import and export
business will regain momentum. Guangzhou Shopping Mall will
expand the clothing export zone, work with fashion merchants to
promote export trade business, and strengthen the position of the
clothing wholesale zone in the export market.

Jinzhou Shopping Mall will optimize the tenants mix, cooperate
with online and offline cross-media promotion and online sales
celebrities to promote goods of tenants, and attract more young
consumers to shop and consume in the mall. At the same time,
safety management will be enhanced, with fire prevention,
floods prevention, facility maintenance and building safety will be
implemented comprehensively and rigorously.

Anyang Shopping Mall will carry out key promotions for
major festivals throughout the year, enrich promotional videos
production, and promote through mainstream media mobile
application platforms to introduce to the new look of the mall to
consumers.

The flooring materials trading business is expected to maintain
sound development. In 2023, it is planned to further expand the
North American market while exploring the development of the
PRC, European and Indian markets.

For UK Investment Properties, the Group will be more active in
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

The Group will continue to review the operating environment and
capital market conditions and make timely and optimal adjustments
to the assets and liabilities portfolio in order to strengthen the
stability and sustainability of its businesses.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
Litigation claims, alleged guarantees and pledges

After the Year, the Company became aware of litigation claims
that had been brought in the PRC by an onshore bank against
among others, Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities Management Co.,
Ltd. (815502 L& EE AR A F) (“Jinzhou Jiachi”) and
Longain Park Limited (§3)% 52 7)) (“Longain”), both of which
are subsidiaries of the Company. Jinzhou Jiachi was alleged to have
provided guarantees as one of the guarantors of bank loans taken
out by third party companies, while Longain was alleged to have
provided a pledge against the entire equity interest in Guangzhou
Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co., Ltd. (B/NERE A H& I
& HBBRA 7)) (“Guangzhou Rongzhi”, a subsidiary of Longain) for
a bank loan taken out by Guangzhou Rongzhi.

Furthermore, after the Year, the Company became aware
of additional guarantees alleged to have been provided by
Guangzhou Rongzhi as one of the guarantors in 2019 and pledges
alleged to have been provided by Jinzhou Jiachi and/or Guangzhou
Rongzhi, against their respective operating rights to the Jinzhou
Shopping Mall and the Guangzhou Shopping Mall, as one of the
respective pledgors in 2018, for bank loans taken out by third party
companies. Litigations claims had been brought in the PRC by an
onshare bank against Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi for
the pledges alleged to have been provided by the two companies.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Litigation claims, alleged guarantees and pledges (Continued)

At the prevailing time of the above alleged events, neither
Jinzhou Jiachi, Longain nor Guangzhou Rongzhi were subsidiaries
of the Company. The Company acquired the entire equity
interest in Jinzhou Jiachi (the “Jinzhou Acquisition”), the
entire shareholding interest in Longain and correspondingly the
entire equity interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi (the “Guangzhou
Acquisition”) through acquisitions that completed in April
2021. For further details regarding the aforementioned matters,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
February 2023, 9 March 2023, 28 March 2023 and 4 April 2023,
respectively.

PRC legal counsel has been engaged to advise on the said litigation
claims. The Group reserves all rights and remedies it may have
against seller of Jinzhou Jiachi and Longain and other relevant
parties.

Delay in publication of annual results

The Company experienced a delay in the publication of its annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Annual
Results”) as stated in its announcement dated 31 March
2023. Such delay was mainly due to (i) the late receipt of bank
confirmations from one of the principal banks of the Group,
leading to the Company’s auditor, Elite Partners (as defined
below) requiring more time to complete audit procedures in this
regard; and (ii) the delay in finalisation of provisions to be made
for certain financial guarantees as a result of the late receipt of
bank confirmations as aforementioned. In particular, (i) two bank
confirmations from the Shanghai Road Branch of the Bank of
Jinzhou in Jinzhou, Liaoning, the PRC were only received in the
late afternoon of 31 March 2023; and (i) one bank confirmation
from the Dadong Road Branch of the Shengjing Bank in Shenyang,
Liaoning, the PRC received on 22 March 2023 required further
clarification as to the outstanding principal amount and interest
accrued under certain financial guarantees as such information was
missing on the relevant confirmation, the clarification of which was
not received until after 31 March 2023. Such bank confirmations
represented all bank confirmations relating to guarantees and
pg gsought for the dunng the audit process performed by Elite
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Delay in publication of annual results (Continued)

Bank confirmations had been sent to the principal banks of the
Group (including the Bank of Jinzhou and the Shengjing Bank) for
their handling in mid-January 2023 (with respect to Guangzhou
Rongzhi sent to the Bank of Jinzhou), mid-March 2023 (with
respect to Jinzhou Jiachi sent to the Bank of Jinzhou) and mid-
March 2023 (with respect of Guangzhou Rongzhi sent to the
Shengjing Bank), which is at least two weeks before the originally
planned publication of the Annual Results on 31 March 2023,
which accords with customary practice of the audit procedures of
the Auditors, and which the Board considers more than sufficient
for such banks to provide a written response. Nonetheless, for
reasons unbeknownst to and outside the control of the Company
and despite repeated follow-up enquiries by the Group, (i)
confirmations from the Bank of Jinzhou were only received
on 31 March 2023; and (ii) confirmations from the Shengjing
Bank received on 22 March 2023 did not set out all requisite
information, which led to Elite Partners unable to complete their
audit procedures within the prescribed timeline. Furthermore, the
last-minute discovery of pledges alleged to have been provided by
Jinzhou lJiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi (as disclosed in the inside
information announcement of Company dated 28 March 2023) led
to extra back-and-forth correspondences with the relevant bank,
resulting in more time needed to complete the requisite audit
procedures.

The Company will identify in advance the relevant bank officers
of the principal banks of the Group handling related bank
confirmations and will closely follow up with them to ensure the
timely receipt and accuracy of bank confirmations in the future.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Qualified Opinion

Separately, the Company noted that Elite Partners has issued a
qualified opinion for the Year (the “Qualified Opinion”), the text
of which is set out on pages 78 to 80 of this annual report.

In view of the basis for the Qualified Opinion as set out in the
Annual Results, the Company intends to perform the following
actions to address the qualifications raised thereunder:

M

obtain a written confirmation from Mr. Dai Yongge
(“Mr. Dai"”), the prevailing respective ultimate controlling
shareholder of (a) Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi prior to the Jinzhou Acquisition and Guangzhou
Acquisition; and (b) Anyang Jiangchuan Public Facilities Co.,
Ltd. (ZB5 T )II A HE & B PR A 7], the immediate holding
company of the shopping mall of the Group located in
Anyang) (“Anyang Jiangchuan”) prior to the acquisition
by the Group (the “Anyang Acquisition”, together with
the Jinzhou Acquisition and the Guangzhou Acquisition, the
“Acquisitions”), that, save as already publicly disclosed by
the Company, there are no further guarantees and/or pledges
and/or other similar security that have been entered into or
provided by Jinzhou lJiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi, Anyang
Jiangchuan, their respectively holding companies and their
controlled shopping malls located in Jinzhou, Guangzhou and
Anyang (collectively, the “Subject Matters”) prior to the
Acquisitions; and

conduct an extensive exercise of obtaining bank confirmations
for each of Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Anyang
Jiangchuan from major banks across the PRC, the scope
of which will be agreed between the Company and Elite
Partners, to ascertain whether there are any other guarantees
and/or pledges and/or other similar security entered into or
provided by the Subject Matters in favour of third parties.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Qualified Opinion (Continued)

The Company expects the aforementioned steps to be completed
before completion of the audit process of the Company’s annual
results for the year ending 31 December 2023. Conditional on the
successful and satisfactory performance of the above steps, the
Company expects that the Qualified Opinion would be removed in
its audited financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2023.

Neither the Audit Committee (as defined below) nor the
management of the Company holds a different view to that of Elite
Partners regarding the qualified opinion. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the management’s position and has no objections
thereto. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the action plan set
out above can address the Qualified Opinion such that the coming
financial statements are free from material misstatement. The
Company will instruct relevant personnel of the Group to actively
implement the action plan set out above in a bid to remove the
Qualified opinion in the Company’s audited financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2023.

The Company has discussed with Elite Partners, who are of the
view that the Company’s action plan above could address the
underlying matters leading to the Qualified Opinion. Subject to the
satisfactory results and findings of such steps, Elite Partners will
consider the removal of the Qualified Opinion in the Company’s
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXEEHS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Hongfang (“Mr. Wang”), aged 63, was appointed
as the executive Director on 7 January 2021. Mr. Wang was
appointed as the Chairman and chief executive officer (“CEO") of
the Company on 20 May 2021 and 31 January 2022 respectively.

Mr. Wang has over twenty seven years of management
experience. From 2003 to 2018, Mr. Wang served in China Dili
Group (formerly known as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company
Limited (“Renhe”) AFIRZIZREH R A F]*, Stock Code: 1387, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange")). In 2003, he was appointed as
the vice president of China Dili Group and became the executive
president in 2006. He was then appointed as an executive director
on 14 December 2007, the executive president (Investments and
Financing) on 26 February 2008 and the chief executive officer on
30 June 2014, and resigned from all the positions on 4 September
2018.

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in shopping malls management
and property investments. Prior to joining China Dili Group, Mr.
Wang held management positions in a number of companies in
China during the period from 1994 to 2000. From 2001 to 2003,
Mr. Wang was the president of Harbin Jurong New Power Co.,
Ltd. in which he was responsible for the overall planning and
management of its business.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in automatic control
mechanics (B E#EHIE %) in 1982 and graduated with a Master’s
degree in politics and economics in 1991 from the Harbin Institute
of Technology (MERE T KE).

EER
BITES

TEREETEERE]D 6355 RZZE=
+tREZTARPTES - TAENFN_T=—F
RAZHERR-_ZE-—_F—A=1+—BHEZEA
AIEFRITHBE ([THRER]) -

FREBRBE-_TEFNERLR - TAER=-T
TZFE T \FHREBA B B (B
BAMBEERBRAG(TARM]D - BHOKRE
1387 —ERBABEXIMERAT([HRAT])
FIREFTHAGF) - RZET=F - HEZITATH
WA EEBRE  WRZSBNFETRITEE -
H% R -_ZETLF+_A+NBEEZT AR
B RN N\F_A -+ RNAEEEAHTE
HRERRME)  RR-ZE—MEXA=1+THES
EATRER YR -_ZE—N\ENLANBEEME
A -

ITREERSEERMEREABREEZRR - &
MARESAMERR - EEER-NNAEFE-E
ZTFHMETEECHRATANEEERML - ©
TER-FE_TT=F FERAERKBBERH
RERBRARAE  AEHEXBNEBREREILERE -

FRENR-NN-FRERMETEREE FESH
BRBELEM YR - NNA—FROAKRESELE
E)

Annual Repéi’é b
(] .

IS




Biographical Details of Directors
EXEEAFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zheng Yuchun (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 56, was appointed as
the executive Director on 20 May 2021. Mr. Zheng was appointed
as Executive President and Authorised Representative of the
Company on 31 January 2022. Mr. Zheng has over twenty years
of experience in corporate management and investment. He has
experience in analysis, investment and management in several
investment banks and large corporate groups in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Mr. Zheng was a senior researcher of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
between April 1997 and March 2001, senior vice president and
chief financial officer of Sun Media Investment Holdings Ltd. and
chief executive officer of Observer Star (HK) Co. Ltd between April
2004 and November 2006, Deputy General Manager (Investment
and Operation) of China Dili Group (formerly known as Renhe
Commercial Holdings Company Limited AR #4ER B R A F*),
Stock Code: 1387, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) between November 2008 and June 2010,
executive director and deputy chief executive officer (president)
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (formerly known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (Stock Code: 674, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) between July 2010
to June 2013, executive president of China Alliance International
Holding Ltd between July 2013 and December 2015, and the chief
executive officer of China Sky Financial Holding Ltd between March
2017 and May 2021.

Mr. Zheng has also served as a corporate financial consultant for
a number of companies proposed to be listed directly or indirectly
in Mainland China or Hong Kong, and was responsible for capital
operations and providing guidance for the listing of companies.

Mr. Zheng graduated from the department of physics of Peking
University in 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science and from the
school of management of Harbin Institute of Technology in 1997
where he obtained his master of business administration degree.
He also graduated from the school of economics and finance of
The University of Hong Kong in 2004 where he obtained a PhD in
finance. Mr. Zheng is.a member of the CFA Institute.
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Biographical Details of Directors
EXEEAFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. KWONG Kai Sing Benny (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 64, was
appointed as the executive Director and authorised representative
of the Company on 19 April 2018 and 7 September 2018
respectively. He was further appointed as CEO of the Company on
30 October 2019. Mr. Kwong resigned from all positions of the
Company on 31 January 2022.

Mr. Kwong holds a Bachelor Degree in Arts from Simon Fraser
University in British Columbia, Canada and was awarded the
Honor Degree of Doctor of Commerce by The University of
West Alabama in 2007. Mr. Kwong held senior positions with
major international banks in Hong Kong in respective lending
departments and China department for many years. For the past
years, he has served as executive director of over ten publicly listed
companies both in Hong Kong, Canada and the UK. Mr. Kwong
has extensive knowledge in corporate finance and banking. Mr.
Kwong was a director of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from
2008 to 2010 and was a member of the Campaign Committee
of The Community Chest from 2006 to 2010. Mr. Kwong was an
appointed member of the China People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Hubei Province and Zhaoging City of the
Guangdong Province. He was the Hospital Governing Committee
member of Tai Po Hospital from 2012 to 2021 and the audit
committee member of Tung Wah College since 2013.

Mr. Kwong has been appointed as non-executive director of
Blue River Holdings Limited (formerly known as PYI Corporation
Limited, Stock Code: 498) since 9 February 2021, he was
appointed as chairman and redesigned as executive director of
the company on 1 April 2021 and 8 November 2021 respectively.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive director on
30 April 2019 of Planetree International Development Limited
(“Planetree International”) (Stock Code: 613), and re-designated
to non-executive director on 1 April 2020, and then resigned on
17 February 2021. He was also acting as the chairman of Planetree
International from 1 April 2020 to 1 June 2020, all of which are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Weisong (“Mr. Chen”), aged 43, was executive
Director since 27 October 2017. He also served as senior vice
president of the Company and the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. He was the executive Director from 22 June 2016 to
25 April 2017, the chief financial officer of the Company from 15
February 2016 to 25 April 2017 and CEO from 27 October 2017 to
29 October 2019. Mr Chen resigned from executive Director of the
Company on 15 July 2022.

Mr. Chen has over ten years of experience in asset management
industry. He worked for CCB International Asset Management
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Construction
Bank Corporation, from April 2008 to February 2016. He was
a nonexecutive director of Genertec Universal Medical Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Universal Medical Financial
& Technical Advisory Services Company Limited, stock code: 2666,
a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from
6 March 2015 to 13 April 2016. Mr. Chen received a Master of
Philosophy degree from the University of Hong Kong in December
2005. Mr. Chen holds the qualification as a Chartered Financial
Analyst from the CFA Institute. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and was licensed as
a responsible officer for Type 9 (asset management), Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 4 (advising on securities) regulated activities
of the Securities and Futures Commission.
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Biographical Details of Directors
EXEEAFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xiao Yiqun (“Mr. Xiao”), aged 59, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 20 May 2021. Mr. Xiao has over thirty
years of experience in the agricultural industry. Between 1979 and
1981, he worked as a technician at the Bureau of Agriculture in
Xinhua County, Hunan. From 1984 to 2003, Mr. Xiao worked at
the economic crops unit of the Bureau of Agriculture in Xinhua
County, Hunan, where he was mainly engaged in the technical
promotion of tea and fruit trees. Afterwards, he served as the
general manager of Qingzhixiu (Beijing) Cultural Media Co. Ltd.*
(F 2 L) XL EHEB R AF) from 2005 to 2012. Since 2013,
Mr. Xiao has been serving as the general manager of Beijing Hanbo
Shengshi Investment Co. Ltd.* (EFUBIE R R EBRAF). Mr.
Xiao graduated from the College of Agriculture in Loudi, Hunan
province, with a college degree in tea and fruit major from 1981 to
1984.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. GAO Bin (“Dr. Gao”), age 60, is the independent non-
executive Director. Dr. Gao has extensive knowledge and rich
experience in foreign exchange, fixed income, equity and
commodity investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Space
Physics from University of Science and Technology of China, an
MA from Princeton University in Astrophysics and Master and a
PhD Degree in Finance from New York University. Dr. Gao currently
serves as chief executive officer and director of Kaifeng Investment
Management (Hong Kong) Limited. He has been serving as the
chief economist of Shenzhen Kaifeng Investment Management
Limited since January 2019. He has been serving as a special
term professor at PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
since December 2014. He has been serving as independent non-
executive director of Sunshine Insurance Group (stock code: 6963)
since May 2018. He served as a senior vice president of Lehman
Brothers from 2004 to 2005. He served as a managing director
of Bank of America Merrill Lynch from 2005 to 2014, in charge
of interest strategies in Asia Pacific. He was a tenured associate
professor of the finance department at University of North
Carolina-Business School, USA before joining this industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. LIU Yan (“Ms. Liu”), aged 52, is the independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Liu has over thirty years of solid
experience in auditing, financial management, taxation and fund
management. She holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from the
Central University of Finance & Economics and a Master Degree
in Business Administration from University of Rochester. She is a
member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CICPA)
and passed all tests for Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) program.
Ms. Liu has worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers (Guangzhou,
China), Barclays Capital (New York City), Angelo Gordon Asia
Limited (Hong Kong and New York), China Everbright Limited (Hong
Kong) and Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (Shanghai). Ms. Liu
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Great
Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 583) on 26 November
2018. She was an independent non-executive director of Planetree
International (Stock Code: 613) from November 2020 to October
2022. She was an independent non-executive director of U
Banquet Group Holding Ltd (Stock Code: 1483) from 1 November
2016 to 27 September 2018, she was also an independent non-
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(Stock Code: 665) from 19 June 2018 to 25 August 2021, all of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. TANG King Shing, GBS, PDSM (“Mr. Tang”), aged 68,
is the independent non-executive Director. Mr. Tang holds a
Master’s Degree in International and Public Affairs from The
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tang took office (until retirement) as
Commissioner of Hong Kong Police from January 2007 to January
2011. In 2013, Mr. Tang was appointed as a member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of China, as a director of the Hong Kong News-Expo
and an honorary advisor of Hong Kong Strategy. From September
2013 to August 2019, he was appointed as the Chairman of the
Country and Marine Parks Board of the Agriculture, Fisheries and
Conservation Department. He served as vice chairman of Hong
Kong Airlines from September 2016 to December 2018. He served
as Director (Strategic Planning) of Kai Tak Sports Park in June
2021. He served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
the Hong Kong Sports Institute Limited with effect from 1 April
2023. He also served as an independent non-executive director of
Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (stock code: 148) and as a
non-executive director of Hong Kong International Construction
Investment Management Group Co., Limited, now renamed as
Tysan Holdings Limited (stock code: 687), from August 2013 to
November 2016 and from July 2017 to May 2019 respectively, all
of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HgMERWRE

Tai United Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries
hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “We") incorporates
sustainable development in its corporate planning and operation
as part of our efforts to create long-term value for the Group's
stakeholders. The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Report (“ESG Report”) has been prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide"”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), to inform all stakeholders about our ESG
policies, measures and performance.

The ESG Report mainly covers the Group’s business segments,
comprising (i) properties investment; (ii) flooring and medical
equipment trading; (iii) mining and exploitation of natural
resources; and (iv) financial services and assets management, from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (“Reporting Period” or
“Year"). Management and staff of all major functions participated
in the preparation of this Report, to assist the Group's review of
our operations and identification of relevant ESG matters, as well
as assessing the materiality of the relevant matters to our business
and stakeholders. A summary of the ESG matters material to the
Group contained in this Report is set out in the following table:

ESG Guide Summary
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION

As a responsible enterprise, it is necessary for the Group to
understand the expectations and concerns of our stakeholders
with regards to our business development strategy, risk
management measures and internal control system. In order to
facilitate cooperation with our stakeholders, the Group actively
communicated with our stakeholders through various channels
during the Reporting Period to exchange opinions and ideas as well
as discuss and review ESG targets with stakeholders, with a view to
help the Group build key business strategies that will drive future
growth and tackle future challenges. Stakeholder participation
activities conducted during the Reporting Period is as follows.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION (Continued)

The Group understands the expectations and concerns of our
stakeholders. Feedback received allows the Group to make smarter
decisions and better assess and manage the relevant impact.
Our management and employees regularly communicate with
stakeholders to determine the material ESG matters. In doing so,
we identify aspects for improvement in our daily operations, in
order to progress towards environmental and social goals.

A. ENVIRONMENT

A1 Emissions

The Group is committed to sustainable development
and corporate social responsibility and strives to monitor
and implement emissions reduction measures in its daily
operations with regards to process management, energy
and resource management, in order to prevent any
unnecessary pollution and minimise any adverse impacts
on the environment. No exhaust and effluent was
generated by the Group’s segments under development
in daily business operations during the Year.

In addition, in terms of mining and exploitation of
natural resources business, the Group holds four mining
right licences (“Mining Rights”) of its three tungsten
projects in Mongolia. During the Reporting Period, these
tungsten projects were still at the exploration stage,
thus discharge of exhaust, sewage and waste during
the mining process are not applicable. No revenue
was recorded by the mining and exploration of natural
resources business segment during the Reporting Period
as potential investors have suspended negotiations
in view of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent
lockdown measures. Numerous uncertainties, including
the development of the pandemic across the world,
the discoveries of COVID-19 variants and the impact
of economic stimulus implemented in various countries
may create pressure on tungsten prices. Additionally,
various pandemic control measures have resulted in
logistics difficulties and significant increases in the costs
of mining and transportation. Some plants have been
forced to close due to the appearance of COVID-19
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. BE»)
A1 Emissions (Continued) A1 BB 2)
Waste Treatment EEYEE

In the Year, the total waste generated in the Group’s
daily operations was only 0.471 tonnes, including 0.406
tonnes of non-hazardous waste (paper and single-use
office supplies), as well as 0.065 tonnes of hazardous
waste (spent fluorescent tubes, cleaning agents and
other chemicals).

The Group does not generate any chemical waste,
clinical waste and hazardous waste in our daily
operations. Non-hazardous waste generated during
operations mainly include general office supplies which
do not have a significant impact on the environment.
The Group promotes the transmission and cultivation
of environmental awareness in daily operations
among our employees. Numerous policies have been
implemented in our offices to improve energy saving
and reduction of waste generation, including reducing
the usage of single-use items and paper, promoting
paperless operations and meetings, adopting electronic
circulation of documents, and encouraging employees
to adopt double-sided printing and to reuse paper, in
order to minimise waste paper generation. The above
environmental policies allowed us to save a total of 0.07
tonnes of paper during the Year.

The Group recognises the equal importance of waste
recycling and reduction at the source to environmental
protection. Accordingly, the Group actively promoted
various environmental recycling initiatives during the
past financial year. For garbage disposal, the Group
sorted all waste from its offices into five categories
(paper/plastics/non-recyclables/decoration waste/
gardening waste) according to regulations and
conducted disposal and recycling of each category in
accordance with government regulations. During the
Reporting Period, 0.1 tonne of papers was recycled
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1 Emissions (Continued)

Carbon Emissions

In the Year, the total carbon emissions of the Group
was 66.55 tonnes, and the carbon emissions density
was 0.04 tonnes of carbon dioxide per square metre of
office space Mt V. The above carbon emissions were
mainly generated from the usage of various energy
sources by the Group, including electricity, gasoline and
natural gas. Please refer to A2 Use of Resources —
Energy consumption Mt 2 in this ESG Report for details
on the usage and consumption of the respective energy
sources.

To promote environmental protection awareness among
our employees, the Group encourages the usage of
new energy vehicles and public transportation, as well as
teleconferencing to reduce employee travel. Moreover,
we utilise electronic technology such as email for written
communications, DingTalk office software as an instant
messaging platform and electronic approval process
management, in order to reduce carbon emissions and
at the same time increase work efficiency.

All the departments of the Group have strictly complied
with the internal management system related to
environmental protection of the Group. There were
no incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the emission of exhaust
and greenhouse gas, discharge into water and land,
generation of hazardous and harmless waste during the
Reporting Period.

1. The above carbon emissions are calculated with reference to the
2022 Government GHG Conversion Factors For Company Reporting
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group emphasizes saving resources and
environmental protection and is committed to minimise
possible risks of impact on the environment arising from
business development by utilising resources effectively
and advocating commercial acts accountability to the
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved various energy-saving targets and successfully
implemented green energy policies, and actively
participated in office energy-saving and environmental
protection activities organised by the property
management of the office building, such as resources
recycling activities, with a view to improve employee
awareness in energy conservation and emission
reduction.

Energy Consumption

The Group actively implemented various energy saving
policies and measures in order to meet our energy
saving objectives, which helped to reduce 2.89% of
total energy consumption during the Reporting Period.
The Group's office has fully installed energy efficient
LED lighting and other electronic equipment with high
energy efficiency. Air conditioning temperature is set at
environmentally friendly levels. The Group also monitors
electricity consumption of our offices. Employees are
required to turn off lighting, air conditioning and
office equipment after office hours to reduce electricity
consumption. Further, the Group provided regular
training and interactions for employees on saving
electricity, in order to raise environmental awareness
among employees.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. BE»)
A2 ERFER®)

A2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy Consumption (Continued) BEREFE(E)
Set out below is the Group’s total energy consumption AT RAEENAFRSLIREFEE KR
and total energy intensity in the Year: REE :

Consumption

Energy category (daily office work)

Total Energy Intensity
(office space per unit)

B BEEREE
BRER (AEHD) (BEUHBLEE)
Electricity 68,331.01 kWh 41.67 kWh/m?
5 68,331.01 F LK 41.67F R TRk
Gasoline 10,238.68 L 6.24 Um?
i 10,238.68 A7+ 6.24 3T/ F Ik
Natural gas 140 m? 0.08538 m3/m?
RAR 14037 773 0.0853837 /73K /F 773K
Note:  The above consumption only covers the consumption Misr: FiiptER BIEmEREESIELRE
that directly controlled and utilised by the Group, AMEE  2haiEEEaRTER

including the Group’s offices in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Mongolia and the UK, and excludes
consumption arising from other third parties.

Water Consumption

The Group's water consumption during the Reporting
Period was generated from daily office water utilisation.
Although the Group'’s business activities do not consume
a large volume of water, the Group has formulated an
internal system and standards to encourage employees
to adopt water conservation practices, in order to
promote water conservation awareness among our
employees. Steps which the Group has taken include
installation of water saving devices in the office, placing
notices and posters in all offices to remind employees
not to waste water, monitoring water usage in the
office to ensure that there are no leaky taps, and to

report any malfunctions as soon as possible to arrange B FHBFAFROMAEBERKES
repairs. During the Reporting Period, the Group's 0.084237 77 K » $¢E’Jﬁ'§}3ﬂ7kgtljé§-
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

NN
N

A3 The Environment and Natural

Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of
environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, and will continue to promote a green
office environment through the 4Rs of reduction,
reuse, recycling and replacement. Although the core
businesses of the Group do not have a significant impact
on the environment and natural resources, the Group
has always strictly complied with laws, regulations
and national standards relating to environmental
protection, and incorporates the impact of its operation
on environment as one of its significant considerations
and endeavours to minimise the impact of Company’s
operation on environment.

Besides, the Group constantly conducts assessment
and supervision on environmental risks during daily
operation, and immediately formulates mitigation
measures upon identification of potential environmental
risks to keep such risks under control.

Impact of Climate Change

In the past few decades, the global climate has
experienced significant change, as temperatures have
risen around the world, extreme weather events
have become more frequent and severe, potentially
disrupting business operations worldwide and adversely
impacting the macro economy. The Group is principally
engaged in property investments and trading, and is
not involved in manufacturing. Rising temperatures may
result in increased energy consumption by the offices
of the Group. The Group will continue to monitor
potential risks of climate change and its impact on the
Group's operations and customers, and formulate and
implement corresponding preventive and emergency
response measures.
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B. SOCIAL B. #&
B1 Employment B1 {EfE
Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities ESFERFEHEHT

Policies

The Group believes that talent is a key factor for
enterprise competitiveness and human resources play
a vital role in the Group's long-term development and
success. Therefore, the Group strives to introduce talents
through multi-channel and cultivate talents through the
adoption of an incentive mechanism. During the Year,
the Group had a total of 169 employees, all of which
were full-time employees. The number of male and
female employees was 109 and 60, respectively. 137
employees worked in Mainland China, 15 employees
worked in Hong Kong, 8 employees worked in the UK,
and 9 employees worked in Mongolia. The total staff
turnover rate was 38% during the Year.

To attract and retain talents, ensure smooth business
operation of the Group and in line with continuous
expansion needs, the Group has its human resources
management policy in place to regulate matters
relating to staff recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, remuneration packages and
benefits. The remuneration of the Group’s employees is
determined with reference to market standard, industry
practice and staff's qualifications and experience.
Meanwhile, the Group distributes bonuses to employees
to the extent possible according to profitability as
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incentives for the contributions they made to the BERE - BIMRRE - BB - BEERH
Group and provides staff with on-the-job training and (R "R ER #FER BR =

development opportunities to assist them to show their
talents in the positions. The benefit plan of the Group's
staff comprises MPF, medical insurance, accidental
insurance, employees’ benefits, paid holidays (annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marital
leave and examination leave). Both staff’s working
hours and holiday schedules have rigorously complied
with national and local laws and regulations to make
sure staff can demonstrate their abilities in a favourable
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B1 Employment (Continued) B1 E{E=)
Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities ESHFERFEHEHE(E)

Policies (Continued)

The Group takes a fair and open principle on
recruitment policy, adheres to the basic principle of
merit and capabilities, open position recruitment, equal
competition, two-way selection and engagement of
the excellent in recruitment. All candidates are required
to undergo an objective orientation examination and
interview to assess whether their abilities can meet
our development requirements. At the same time, the
Group is also required to ensure the fairness of the
overall recruitment process through stringent approval
procedures. In addition, the Group provides staff with
good promotion prospects and opportunities. The
Group established an annual performance appraisal
system to review staff performance and remuneration
policy regularly, intending to reward and motivate the
contribution and performance of employees and assist
them in their career development and promotion within
the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is committed to providing
staff with a fair and equitable working environment with
no discrimination. The Group prohibits the occurrence of
any form of discrimination in its working environment,
avoid any form of discriminating recruitment,
redesignation, remuneration and promotion. The Group
establishes the reporting and complaint mechanism
system to report or submit complaints to the head of
the human resources department immediately in case
of any biased treatment, and the task force will conduct
an investigation and take appropriate follow up actions.
If our employees have any problems or opinions, they
could give feedback through the communication
channels established by the Group.

As teamwork is one of the core values of the Group, we
understand the importance of maintaining a suitable
work-life balance for our employees, hence the Group
arranged a series of corporate and social activities for

employees to enhance the corporate culture and their
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B2 Health and Safety B2 REHZZE
Occupational Health and Safety BEREHEHZTE

The Group regards staff’s occupational health and
safety as our foremost responsibility, and endeavours
to provide staff with a satisfactory and safe working
environment. As regard to fire control safety, the Group
provides all staff with detailed guidelines on fire escape
routes and escape procedures and requires staff to
participate in fire escape drills of office buildings. In
addition, the Group also encourages staff to report
various accidents that occurred during work and other
unsafe factors. Staff may seek assistance from the
human resources and administration department in case
of an accident during work or within the working arena.
The Group gives priority to staff’s safety under adverse
weather conditions (such as a rainstorm, typhoon).
Staffs are required to comply with the guidelines for
the staff’s working arrangement under adverse weather
conditions to safeguard staff safety to the greatest
extent.

Besides, the Group also pays high attention to the
staff’s physical and psychological health. The Group
organises various sports and recreation activities from
time to time. In addition to building up a healthy body,
staff may develop team spirit to promote a harmonious
working environment.

For tungsten mines exploitation in Mongolia, as
no active mining operation of the Group has taken
place yet, the guidelines on providing a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards were not applicable during
the Reporting Period. Once the exploitation of the
mines commences officially, apart from making sure
meeting the business compliance with local laws and
regulations on production safety, the Group will also
formulate a code of practice and safety guidelines in
place to standardise business processes, and detail the
safety precautions for different mining procedures. At
t@g‘i@&GLoup will also conduct regular

6 o
~ ., occupational.
!!f%G'L.

ALRE B TroB SRR R 28 R
REZNEME  YRNRBETRHEHEMAR
REMNTIERE - EEMNLETE - A%
B SMA B TIREEAN BB R EIEFH
FHAfES  YBRET2EBAKENH
DIk EIRE - Woh - BPITSEB THRSE
TEHREENSBRERSEM I L 2R
X - ABTATEHRSK TERENEE
BN AIAANTTHERS KB o aniEiR
HBHAR(RN - BA) EINHRE
EAEENE—BEEER BT XHET
REERENBARRER TH L TIHE
SIARARERELZ R °

BAN - AEET+DTEE TS L@
o AEETRERSHEYRELE
8 BIRT AJEURREMSN - BRIRELE
YERA R - BB BM TIER
8 o

HRRLIHBEFRREE - ARAEEEARE
TTRBRRRRT - AR E L2 TER
BERRERB#RBEEBENRESIEL
REHELTER - —BRLIEAFR -
SERBEREFZNEEMLEEENER
ERIN - IR HIE TIETAI R 235515
BEBMRE - FITRRREFNZEE
EEE - ARETSLHRBARETESR
BRz25| BREBTFERERR
W SRR FEITIHEEN - UERET

THERENZZ - R KRETSREE
”ﬁ’ -

By - SIRBERERAMEE >
, o

il

nitoring regarding tl

% ith protective equipment and

mited Annual Reporf 2‘03 ‘ i

T

e e e e s

—
p——
—

—_—
—
—



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HEREAEE

B. SOCIAL (continued) B. %€
B2 Health and Safety (Continued) B2 REHEZZ(#)
Preventive Measures for COVID-19 20197 HEZ R HI ARG 15 7

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has
taken actions to enhance health and safety precautions
in the office to ensure the health of its employees.
The Group actively monitored the implementation of
preventive measures by the property management
service of our office building, including the installation
of infrared body temperature monitoring devices in the
office building lobby to monitor the body temperature
of all personnel who accessed the building, in order
to minimise the risk of infected personnel entering the
office building. Further, the Group has taken steps to
enhance workplace environmental hygiene, including
scheduled intensive cleaning and comprehensive
disinfection, to ensure a safe working environment for
our employees. Additionally, the Group purchased more
air purifiers and installed them in various areas in the
office, to ensure clean and safe air circulation in the
workplace.

In response to the government’s COVID-19 vaccination
scheme and to further contain the pandemic, the Group
encouraged our employees to get vaccinated. To show
our care for employees, the Group offered vaccination
leave for all vaccinated employees.

During the Year, the Group did not have any violations
of laws and regulations related to employee health and
safety.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B3 Development and Training

Employee Training Plan

The Group believes that talent development is an
enterprise’s development foundation. Hence, the
Group pays high attention to the staff's occupation
development and training. The Group has established
systematic training regimens and training systems to
support staff’s continuous development, among which
it comprises induction training, on-the-job training and
external training. At the end of each year, the human
resources and administration department collects
the training and developing requirements from each
department and formulates training plans based on
the information and opinions collected. Apart from
induction training, newly employed staff will continue to
learn and improve themselves during the mentoring by
experienced staff. Besides, the Group will also arrange
on-the-job training and external training tailored to
staff’s needs according to their operation post, personal
ability and aspiration to promote staff’s continuous
growth and development at work. After completing
the training, the Group will also collect staff’s feedback
to constantly improve our training quality. The Group
started to set up special education allowances in
the Year to encourage potential staff to commence
continuing study relating to current works or for long-
term career development purposes to meet the business
development goals of the Group.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B4 Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group is always committed to creating harmonious
labour relationships with staff and strictly complies
with the employment laws and regulations and labour
law of the region where it locates to ensure the staff’s
interest was fully safeguarded. The Group establishes
a rigorous and comprehensive recruitment review
process and upholds the principle of fairness, openness
and voluntariness for staff employment. At the time of
the interview, candidates should provide identification
documents and valid employment visas for us to conduct
a due diligent investigation on their basic information,
sign a legal labour contract. The recruitment for all staff
is on an optional and legal basis. In addition, the Group
pays equal attention to the implementation of labour
standards in subsidiaries and outsourcing companies.
The Group will regularly conduct a random inspection
on subsidiaries and outsourcing companies to make
sure no violation of relevant laws and regulations.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B5 Supply Chain Management B5 ftrEsgEE
Sustainable Supply Chain {8 R (R

Given that supply chain management is the key factor
of sustainable development, such that the Group has
stringent requirements for supplier management. Each
department is required to purchase according to the
“Guidelines for Procurement Process Standard of Office
Supplies and Fixed Assets” prepared by the human
resource and administration department. In addition,
Group's purchasing department sets up a dedicated
department task force to formulate and complete the
procurement process standard, conducts an annual
review and update on the procurement process to make
sure the Group adheres to the principle of openness,
fairness and transparency for supplier selection, and
conducts procurement at reasonable price and quality.
In the coming years, the Group will continuously
plan and develop the supplier selection mechanism
to reinforce suppliers’ requirements and focus on
environmental protection, labour safety and staff
protection.

In the Year, the Group had a total of 30 suppliers,
which locate in Mainland China and UK. The Group
will also supervise supplier performance. The Group
will suspend supplier service if its performance is
unsatisfactory. Meanwhile, the Group also intends
to carry out regular annual assessments regarding
supplier performance and requires all suppliers to
satisfy the Group’s requirements in the environmental
protection and social responsibilities aspects, such as
adopting green materials, prohibiting employment of
forced labour and child labour before continuing the
cooperation relationship.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B6 Product Responsibility B6 EmEE
Customer Service EFRHE

The Group attaches great importance to our service
quality and customer experience. The Group built
customer satisfaction through constantly improving our
service standard for customers to make sure providing
customers with quality products and services and set
up an effective customer complaint mechanism to
constantly improve service experience through customer
feedback. The Group dedicates to provide accurate
information for customers to make wise investment

REBFFEREPIREERLEPHR
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decisions, provides customers with sufficient advice and FHERMR -

coaching to help them understand and select products

and services required through offering products and

services with clear descriptions and provisions.

() Customer Satisfaction () EFEHEE
The Group regularly conducts annual customer AEEGEEHETEP REEH
satisfaction investigations to continuously T UBBERSEMOER KRR
improve our products and services and analyses % WIREBEERIMREER &
in detail the investigation results in accordance FEEEERGESE  RBERE®
with indicators of the established service, which 2% BEPRBELREREES ¥
includes management service quality, service and PEHRETHFMAINT - WBBE
product safety, customer service and product SNITBARNE TEFENE RS
support. The Group will also improve its customer B
service performance next year by establishing an
action programme.

(i) Customer Complaint Follow-up (i)  FEFRIFER#E

The Group attaches great importance to client
feedback for improving its service quality
continuously by humbly accepting customers’
opinions. The Group has set up a professional
customer service team to address and follow up
on customer complaints. Every complaint will be
investigated and followed up by a special person
in charge and the whole process will be monitored
R} .”‘by : .'a
N
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mﬂﬂed and responding progress
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B6 Product Responsibility (Continued) B6 EmEE®)
Marketing HEHEE

Integrity management is the essential merit of our
business operation. The Group endeavours a responsible
marketing strategy with no exaggerated marketing
tactics. All sales, promotion documents and data are
required to be approved by management before rolling
out to make sure complying with the requirements of
relevant advertisement laws and regulations.

Customer Privacy Guarantee

The protection of the privacy of customers or consumers
is crucial for the Group’s operation. Except for the
public documents as specified in laws and regulations,
the Group strictly follows the relevant privacy ordinance
in relation to the usage and confidentiality requirements
of customers’ or consumers’ private information and
never allow information disclosure without the approval
of data owners. Group has a “Staff Code of Practice” in
place to standardise the principle of management, usage
and abide by the confidentiality of business data and
prohibits casual management and storage of customer
information. In addition, the Group emphasise the
importance of protecting customer data, and provide
guidance on customer data processing in staff training
and devote all our efforts to prevent the leakage of
customer information.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to privacy, product, service
quality and marketing.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &)
B7 Anti-corruption B7 RES
Prevention of Corruption and Fraud Br L B5 REEH

The Group propagandises an enterprise culture of
honesty, integrity and righteousness and commits
to building an anti-fraud and anti-corruption
corporate culture environment. The Group requires
staff to stringently comply with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and strives to maintain the clean
management and operation structure of the Company.
Meanwhile, the Group set up the “Staff Code of
Practice” and disseminated it to all staff. The Practice
standardises the staff’s code of conduct and the
guidelines on conflict of interests and requires staff to
report regularly on any conflict of interests. Besides, the
Group also establishes a series of anti-fraud measures,
among which include propaganda and training of
antifraud policy, fraud risk assessment mechanism and
complaint reporting mechanism.

Under the guidance of anti-fraud policies and related
measures, the Group regularly organises and invites
professionals to conduct training on laws, regulations,
integrity and ethics. Employees are taught how to
identify and correctly handle conflict of interests at work
and resist the temptation of improper interests. Under
the fraudulent risk assessment mechanism established
by the Group, it is regularly conducted fraudulent
risk identification and assessment at the Group's
and department’s level to assess the importance and
possibility of fraudulent risk and formulate resolutions
to address fraudulent risk as required. The Group
also established a set of comprehensive complaint
channels, investigation mechanisms and accountability
mechanisms. Any staff, supplier and customer of the
Group may report any undue staff behaviour through
the channel provided for assisting the Group to
supervise staff's ethical character and penalise staff for
any misconduct. Complaints matters include but are
not limited to the violation of laws, regulations and
- the Group’s policy requirements, or undue behaviour
R Felaii'ﬁg Wﬁﬂeﬁ?toring, operation, accounting,
’Q\ \ anﬁng.,. inan 4

nd-undue conduct, illegal act or
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7

B8

Anti-corruption (Continued)
Prevention of Corruption and Fraud (Continued)

The above policy regarding bribery, conflict of interests
and whistle-blowing forms part of the Group’s Code
of Conduct for employees and is clearly set out in the
Employee Handbook. All employees are required to
follow stringently.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment
Contributions to the Society

The Group always attaches importance to the corporate
social responsibilities, adheres to the concept of
repaying the society while its business is developing
and devotes ourselves to the social and public welfare
to make contributions in facilitating social harmonious
development. At the same time, the Group also actively
encourages its staff to participate in various social
and public services to cultivate their sense of social
responsibility, strive to build a harmonious community,
and make greater contributions to society.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Group acknowledges the importance of a healthy corporate
culture, which is vital to attain the Group’s vision and strategy. The
Board is responsible for fostering a corporate culture in accordance
with the core principles of integrity, commitment, sustainable
returns to Shareholders and high ethical standards.

The Board continuously review and adjust, if necessary, the
Group's business strategics and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster
the sustainability of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of Shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022 as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations disclosed in this
corporate governance report (“CG Report”).

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”),
as amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Company’'s Model Code also
applies to all employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code was noted by the Company during the year ended
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The roles of the Company’s chairman of the Board
(“Chairman”) are to provide leadership to the Board and
formulate the Group’s business strategies. This aimed at striking
a balance of power and authority, job responsibilities are not
concentrated on any one individual. The Chairman is responsible
for ensuring the Board works effectively, in particular, ensuring all
Directors receive reliable, adequate and complete information in a
timely manner. The Chairman may communicate with the Directors
directly or through the assistance of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) to discuss or clarify any
issues concerning the Group from time to time, and to provide any
supporting information and documents to them. The Chairman
assumes the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established.

CEQ is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of
the Group and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the
corporate performance. He recommends policies to the Board
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the reporting year, Mr.
Wang Hongfang was the Chairman since 20 May 2021 and Mr.
Kwong Kai Sing Benny was the CEO and hence, the Company
was in compliance with the relevant requirement under the CG
Code. In the reporting year, Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny resigned
from the positions of executive director and CEO and Mr. Wang
Hongfang was appointed as CEO with effect from 31 January
2022. Mr. Wang Hongfang performs both roles of chairman and
CEO since 31 January 2022 and is responsible for overseeing the
daily operations of the Group. The Board believes that it is in the
best interests of the Group to have Mr. Wang Hongfang taking up
both roles for effective management and business development. In
addition, the Group operations are also supervised and managed
by the rest of the Board, comprising two other executive directors,
one non-executive director and three independent non-executive
directors, who provide balance of power and sufficient checks to
protect interest of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

Composition

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.
The Directors during the reporting year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman and CEQ) (appointed on
7 January 2021 as executive Director, appointed on
20 May 2021 as Chairman, appointed on 31 January 2022
as CEO)

Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President) (appointed on
20 May 2021 as executive Director, appointed on
31 January 2022 as Executive President)

Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny (CEO) (resigned on 31 January
2022)

Mr. Chen Weisong (resigned on 15 July 2022)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs")

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

Both Mr. Kwong and Mr. Chen resigned so as to devote more time
to their personal and other business commitments.

INEDs and their independence

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all
times met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term subject to re-election.

INEDs are not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws. Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

Independent view and input

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Board has developed the following mechanisms,
including but not limited to:

(i)  atleast one-third of Board members are INEDs;

(i) every INED is appointed for a specific term and subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years;

(iii) INEDs possess professional knowledge and Board experlence
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent view and input (Continued)

(vi) every INED has made an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company; and

(vii) the Board, each of its Board committees or every Director is
able to seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company'’s expenses.

The implementation and effectiveness of relevant mechanisms have
been reviewed by the Board and will further be reviewed annually.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 22 to 27 of this annual report, which
demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meeting of the Company at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has more than one-third in number of its
members comprising INEDs.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his/
her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as
to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the executive
Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of items in the agenda. The Board
schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets as
and when required. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board held ten meetings. All such meetings were convened in
accordance with the Bye-laws.

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings or such
period accepted by them. In addition to regular Board meetings,
the Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors pursuant to the CG
Code.

Minutes of all Board and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.
Draft minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments within the
period accepted by them after each meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the attendance of each S, —
individual Director at the Board meetings, committee meetings and
the annual general meeting held on 28 June 2022 (“2022 AGM"),
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are as follow: FREDZIEBERAT :
Attended/Eligible to attend
HE/BERLE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
EEREE ENZEEeE RERZE88E FHZEeER BRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wang Hongfang TRREE (FER
(Chairman & CEQ) fTBAEH) 10/10 N/A & N/A TEF N/A B 11
Mr. Zhen Yuchun BRFLE
(Executive President) (#7748 10/10 N/A TE A N/A TR N/A N 1N
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny BRI
(CEQ) Mote ) (178483 ") 0/1 N/A &8 N/A TEF N/A B 11
Mr. Chen Weisong t¢2 BB A W 6/8 N/A &8 N/A TEF N/A B 1N
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Xiao Yiqun EEvtd 8/10 N/A NiE A N/A N N/A N 11
Independent Non-executive ~ BU#EHTEE
Directors
Dr. Gao Bin =EET 10/10 6/6 212 22 11
Ms. Liu Yan Bl oo 9/10 6/6 112 212 11
Mr. Tang King Shing BEKEE 8/10 5/6 22 22 11
Notes: Bi%E
1. Resigned on 31 January 2022 1. RZIZEZZF—A=+—HEHE
2. Resigned on 15 July 2022 2. W-E-_—FtA+HAB#T
According to the CG Code, all independent non-executive directors  RIR{EZEE TR - BB IEHITE S RIFATT
and non-executive directors should attend general meetings of ~ EEREHE EHHITAZBRAG ° ———

listed issuers.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

The Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are
continually updated on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance
practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge and
skills. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant the CG Code, the Board is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the CG Report.

This CG Report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance functions.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The appointment of
the members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board
has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and considers that the
composition of the Board satisfied the Board Diversity Policy and
the Company has not set any measurable objectives.

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management)
is: male 65% and female 35%.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) with the aim of ensuring the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. When considering
a candidate nominated for directorship or a retiring Director’s
proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will
have regard to, among other things, (i) age, skills, knowledge,
experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate; (ii)
effect on the Board’s composition and diversity; (iii) commitment
of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out
his/her duties; (iv) potential and/or actual conflicts of interest
that may arise; (v) independence; (vi) in the case of a proposed
reappointment of an INED, the number of years he/she has already
served; and (vii) other factors considered to be relevant by the
Nomination Committee. Having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will identify and consider each suitable candidate or retiring
Director and make recommendation to the Board. Subject to the
provisions of the Bye-laws, each-the appointment of new Director
and re-appointment of Director will be stand for re-election at the
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Nomination Committee are:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held two meeting. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 53 of this annual

report.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2022 included:

(a) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on their
appointments;

(c) assessed the independence of the INEDs;

(d) made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2022 AGM; and

(e) reviewed the Nomination Policy.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the composition
of the Board, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board, among other things, on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management of the Company. No
individual Director is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model under the CG Code to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee were:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 53 of this annual
report.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2022 included:

(@) reviewed the performance of executive Director and specific
staff and recommended to the Board specific adjustments in
reward payments;

(b) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management for the year
ended 31 December 2022;

(c) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the newly appointed Directors and senior management for
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) was
established with a specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting process, assisting the Board to ensure
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and providing advice and comments to the Board. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice if
considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprises three
Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the Audit
Committee are:

Ms. Liu Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

Ms. Liu Yan, the Chairman of Audit Committee, possesses relevant
professional qualifications and financial management expertise and
meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held six
meetings. The attendance of each member during the reporting
year is set out on page 53 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the work performed by
the Audit Committee included:

(@) reviewed with the Company’s auditors the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2022, with recommendations to
the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed the risk management report on monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(d)

(9)

reviewed with the management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment
of Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) as external auditor to
perform the agreed-upon procedures of the final results for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and accounting advisory
service on the interim results for the six-months ended 30
June 2022;

reviewed Elite’s independence as external auditor (especially
on non-audit services); and

nominated the appointment of Elite as the auditors of the
Company at the 2022 AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice if considered necessary.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remunerations
paid and payable to Elite for audit services and non-audit services
regarding the review of interim financial statements and other
assurance and non-assurance engagements rendered to the Group
are as follow:

BB AT &

REBEE-Z-—F+-A=1+—RHLEE ®AEXK
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BT

Fees paid/

payable to

Elite

et R

BTHER

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group AREERMEZRE FET
Audit services EZIRS 2,890
Non-audit services IEEZRTE 419
Total BEt 3,309

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
Elite and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
Elite as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year ended 31
December 2021, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 78 to 85 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

The Board takes overall responsibility for ESG strategy, overseeing
senior management in developing the approach, execution and
associated reporting. The Board continues to adopt enhanced
measures to reduce energy and other resource utilisation, minimise
waste and increase recycling, encouraging its employees to adopt
environmentally responsible behaviours whilst also promoting
environmental protection to the Group’s customers. During the
Year, the Board received and reviewed the ESG report. Details of
the Group’s ESG performance in 2022 are disclosed in the 2022
ESG Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
risk management and internal control system within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. However, such system was
designed only to manage various risks of the Group within certain
acceptable risk level, rather than completely eliminate the risk
of failing to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or losses. The Audit Committee assists the
Board to oversee the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has a risk management and compliance department to
perform the internal audit functions. During the year under review,
the internal auditors of the Group carried out an analysis and
independent appraisal regarding the adequacy and effectiveness
of its risk management and internal control systems. In addition,
the Group has developed an internal control model which follows
the principle of Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO"). It consists of five elements,
namely control environment, risk assessment, control, information
and communication, and monitoring. Under this control
model, the Group’s management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control measures and
its effectiveness, and the Board and Audit Committee will supervise
the appropriateness of internal control measures as designed by
the management and the effective implementation of internal
control measures. Meanwhile, the internal control has adapted to

the Group's scale of operation, scope of business, competition and
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The risk management and compliance department also prepared
a risk management framework of the Group, including the
construction of the architecture for the aforementioned
organisation and definition of the responsibilities of all parties
concerned, and prepared risk management policies and processes
and clarified the risk assessment procedures, which, specifically
include risk identification, risk analysis, risk control and risk report.

Step 1: Risk identification — identify risks currently exposed to the
Group and business and its existing management and
control measures.

Step 2: Risk analysis — analyse the possibility of risk, extent of
influence and its existing management and control
measures, identify risk exposure, and propose further
countermeasures.

Step 3:  Risk control — implement and periodically detect the
identified risks to ensure effective operation of risk
countermeasures.

Step 4: Risk report — summarise the results of risk management
analysis, prepare action plans and report to the
management, Audit Committee and the Board. During
the year under review, the risk management and
compliance department has updated and revised the
Group's risk management system in light of its actual
conditions with the assistance of individual business units
and departments to review and provide their feedbacks.

During the year, through this risk management system, the risk
management and compliance department selected the major
business units and departments of the Group to complete three
major risk control activities, including its assessment, scoring and
ranking, and prepare risk countermeasures to ensure that each
significant risk has adequate corresponding risk countermeasures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered
the Group’s current risk assessment system was effective and
adequate. Periodical reviews will be performed to improve and
safeguard the effective operation of the Group'’s risk management
system. In addition, in view of the enhanced control on listed
companies in recent years by regulators such as the SFC and
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange, backed by the
consolidated corporate systems and procedures and internal
control manual, the risk management and compliance department
conducted sampling check on major compliance control activities
and procedures of the Group during the year under review and no
material internal control deficiencies was discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion of the risk
management and compliance department on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is of the opinion that the available resources and staff
qualifications of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions are adequate and sufficient. Based on the information
furnished and upon its own observations, the Board is satisfied
with the present internal controls of the Group.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and employees on
compliance policy regarding inside information, and provides
them updates in relation to the appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure complying with regulatory requirements. The Group
is aware of its obligations under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
overriding principles and that inside information should be
announced timely and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with
the prevailing applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests
of the.Company. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk. management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Yick Pang, Philip (“Mr. Poon") is a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group. He is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as the communications among the
Board members, Shareholders and Management. He also prepared
detailed minutes of each meeting and such minutes would be
sent to the Board for comments as soon as practicable. Mr. Poon
reports directly to the Board. All Directors are able to access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Poon undertook no
less than fifteen hours of professional training to update his skills
and knowledge pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
all Shareholders. The annual general meeting of the Company
is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter into direct dialogue
with Shareholders. The Chairman and the members of Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer any
question raised from the Shareholders.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.

All the Shareholders are given at least twenty clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meetings and at
least ten clear business days’ notice for all other general meetings
pursuant to the provisions of CG Code applicable during the
reporting period.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and
notices of Shareholders meetings as required under the Listing
Rules are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning
voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting
procedures and the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are
included in circulars to.Shareholders despatched by the Company
'a‘ ) .em ined by the chairman of general meeting at the. meetlng
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Corporate Governance Report
PEEREE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Bye-law
58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company may send
a written request to the Board to request for a special general
meeting; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) once a valid
requisition is received.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
!rﬁal %H‘a‘l'oe’rewﬁd.,by the Company out of any sums due
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Corporate Governance Report
PEEREE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholder(s) is/are entitled to put forward
a proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(@ any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred Shareholders holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned, together with a statement of not more
than a thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in
giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents
are received.

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and
payment) under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the Group’s actual and expected financial results, the economic
conditions and other factors that may have impact on the Group;
the Group’s business strategies, current and future operations,
liquidity position and capital requirements and any other factors
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CEEREE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing via the following channel:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Tai United Holdings Limited

Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor

China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@taiunited.com

Facsimile: (852) 2667-2667

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Report of the Directors
EERWME

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group was principally engaged in (i)
properties investment; (i) medical equipments trading; (iii) flooring
materials trading; (iv) mining and exploitation of natural resources;
and (v) financial services and assets management.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2022 by segments are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 86 to 87. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 and a discussion on the Group’s further
business development are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
strategic, operational and financial risks. Each of them is discussed
briefly as below:

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge
to the external environments. The Group will invest in projects
and investments based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and expectation. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial and
equity markets, the Group is facing significant strategic risks on
its investments when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure
that the Group's risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report headed
under “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial reporting periods is set out on page
239 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022, together with the reasons, are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 D@cenlber 2022, the _Company has no reserves available
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no
equitylinked arrangements were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in notes 18 to 19 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTIONS OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities.
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman & CEQ)
(appointed on 7 January 2021 as Director,
appointed on 20 May 2021 as Chairman,
appointed on 31 January 2022 as CEO)
Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President) (appointed on
20 May 2021 as Director, appointed on 31 January 2022
as Executive President)
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny (CEO) (resigned on 31 January 2022)

Mr. Chen Weisong (resigned on 15 July 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xiao Yiqun (appointed on 20 May 2021 as Director)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Zheng Yuchun
and Mr. Xiao Yiqun shall retire by rotation from office and, being
eligible, offer himself/herself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Each of the INEDs had made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The Director’s biographical information are set out on pages 22 to
27 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EXZRWE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 166(1) of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to any of them.

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest subsisted during or at the end of the year ended
31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in, apart from the Group’s businesses, any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or were in existence during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Reference is made to note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report for related party disclosures.
None of these transactions constitutes a connected transaction
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related
party transaction under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND FERFEREMATREQITRG R
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT HEROHESZRAR

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as it is known by Director or the HR-ZT_—_F+=-A=+—0 RBREAQFESK
chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the corporations £ Z4TEA BT 417 © RIEES RIS IEHIEXVED
or individuals who had any interests or short positions in the shares 2R E 3D WG AR A GIEFE - WELRRE
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be  FHMHIEENFE3I36GETEAFE 2 Z M BRE
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and &M 1) PR AR &% (0 R ARRI A1 & 2 B (T (] 1
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be  ZEAR ZZBSHEA BT ¢

kept under section 336 of the SFO (“Register of Shareholders”)

were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company RAEABRGBEFR
Capacity and nature of interest
SO RESENE
Percentage of the
Interests of Number of Company'’s issued
Controlled ordinary share capital
Name Beneficial Owner Corporation Shares held (approximately)
(Note 1)
FEEEE FREERE HARARE BT
=L BEREAA 2R ROEE  REAEDH (L)
(BtzET)
Satinu Resources Group Ltd. - 3,937,234,889 3,937,234,889 74.99%
("Satinu ") Note2
Satinu Resources Group Ltd.
(['satinu | )2
Songbird SG PTE. LTD. 3,937,234,889 - 3,937,234,889 74.99%
(“Songbird SG")
Songbird SG PTE. LTD.
([Songbird SG )
Notes: Bt et

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total 1. BAIER-ZE-_—F+t=A=+—BFHRHEE
number of issued shares of the Company of 5,250,019,852 shares as 1HANA BB B 1TRR (D 48 245,250,019,852% 2 L fAll ©
at 31 December 2022.

2. Satinu indirectly wholly owns Yellowbird Capital Management 2. Satinuffl# % & # A Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited, which is the general partner of Yellowbird Special (GP) Limited - M Yellowbird Capital Management (GP)
Opportunities Fund, L.P. (“Yellowbird Fund”). Yellowbird Fund Limited % Yellowbird Special Opportunities Fund, L
indirectly wholly owns Songbird SG, which in turn owns 74.99% of ~ ([ Yellowbird Fund |) Z 3 wbi

~ FundfE2&#A Song

IR TN 274.9
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Board recognises the employees are the most valuable asset
of the Group. The Group provides the staff with competitive
remuneration packages as well as a safe, harmonious and
discrimination-free working environment.

Details of which are set out in the section headed “Employees and
Remuneration Policies” in this annual report on page 15 and the
sections headed “B1. Employment” to “B4. Labour Standards”
under the ESG Report contained in this annual report on pages 36
to 41.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentages of the
Group's turnover attributable to its largest customer and five
largest customers were approximately 37% and 57% respectively.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 99% of the
Group's total purchases and the amount of purchase attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately 93% of the
Group’s total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 47 to 67 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on it.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by means
of telephone, emails and conferences or such other communication
means which are efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the
Group are able to minimise physical travelling and printing.

More details regarding the Company’s environmental policies,
practices and performance are set out in the section headed “A.
Environmental” under the ESG Report on pages 30 to 35 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
FINAL RESULTS

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
31 March 2023 in relation to, among other things, the delay
in publication of the audited consolidated annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Board wishes
to inform the shareholders of the Company that the said delay
was mainly due to (i) the late receipt of outstanding original bank
confirmation(s) from one of the principal banks of the Group,
leading to the auditor of the Group requiring more time to
complete audit procedure(s) in this regard; and (ii) the delay in
finalization of provisions to be made for financial guarantees as a
result of the aforementioned late receipt of bank confirmation(s).

The Company has established the Audit Committee with a specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing and
supervising the Group’s financial reporting process, assisting the
B@asd’fo.ensuwre effective risk management and internal control

f.th Groug and providing advice and comments to the
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
FINAL RESULTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this announcement,
the Audit Committee comprised all three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Dr. Gao Bin, Ms. Liu Yan and Mr. Tang
King Shing. Ms. Liu Yan is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee together with the management and the external
auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

Following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified
Public Accountants as the auditor of the Company on 29 June
2021, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was appointed
as the auditor of the Company on the same day to fill in the
vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by Elite Partners, whose
term of office will retire at the close of the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM"). A resolution for the re-appointment of
Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Hongfang
Chairman
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TAI UNITED HOLDINGS LIMITED
AMEZERBRAE

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tai
United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 238, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and consolidated the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in Note 41, 46 and 47 to the consolidated financial
statements, subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
several legal claims were filed against the Group in the People’s
of Republic China (the "PRC"). It came to the attention of the
directors of the Company that part of the claims related to certain
pledge of assets and guarantees provided by two subsidiaries
established in the PRC, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou Jiachi
Public Facilities Management Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Jiachi”), allegedly
originated prior to the acquisition of Sky Build Limited and Superb
Power Enterprises Limited (the “Acquisitions”) as disclosed in Note
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During our audit, we planned our procedures to obtain audit
evidence in respect of these pledges and financial guarantee
contracts. However, as the pledges and guarantees provided prior
to the Acquisition, the directors of the Company were unable to
provide us with documents that we considered necessary to satisfy
ourselves as to the completeness and accuracy of the information
and documents related to these pledges and financial guarantee
contracts presented to us for the purpose of our audit; and the
accuracy and completeness of the disclosures in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in respect of pledge of assets
and financial guarantee contracts, transactions and/or balances
with companies related to Mr. Dai Yongge, being the ultimate
controlling shareholder of Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi
prior to the Acquisitions, if any, in relation to the transactions,
arrangements, and/or the relevant counterparties identified since
the Acquisitions and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2022.

In addition, the Group recognised HK$683,546,000 impairment
losses on financial guarantee contracts during the year ended
31 December 2022 and HK$664,394,000 for these financial
guarantee contracts as at 31 December 2022. However, based
on the information available to us, these financial guarantee
contracts should have been originated in periods prior to the year
2022 and recognised in reporting periods prior to the year 2022.
We were unable to quantify the effects of the current and prior
periods due to the matter as stated above. Any adjustments to the
opening balances as at 1 January 2022 that would be required
might have significant consequential effects on the Group’s assets
and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and its results and cash
flows for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, and the
presentation and disclosure thereof in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$1,455,401,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022
and, as of that date, the Group’s has net current liabilities of
HK$2,656,017,000, including the overdue bank borrowing of
HK$1,527,997,000 which have not yet been successfully renewed,
extended nor repaid during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
subsequent to end of the reporting period. In addition, subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, the Group received certain
legal claims filed against the Group related to certain pledge of
assets and financial guarantees. As stated in Note 3.1, these events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

BIRBEREEHMASHEMNTERAENE
BB ) EITER - ROEZFER TAEN
BEECEARREZBERBFHR S P RERAER
BEIRDHIEE— M - REFESFEAER
e EX ST BETRDCATER /) - &,
BN BEEE YCETTHTHEMERS
AL - BIEE - RAMESNETRELETE
MEE R PINRE B R IR AR -

EFECERBNERTRE.

EEREARAUBRENTE3  ZMEER &S
BN E T -+ -_A=1+—BLEEELE
18)¥%61,455,401,0008 7L - MEBZE%A @ E5E
R EN B (EFEE52,656,017,000/8 7T @ B IEEHAR
17183K1,527,997,0008 Lt (RBE_E - —F+=
A=+ BIEFERRERREHAKINES - T
HASR(EIE) o hoN - MIpEHIRE - BESBEUWE
¥ BRERPEETEECSHIEMBEREAN
BT RRRE - MM - ZEB 4K
AR EE3. 1R P M At FIE R AT E AT
T AJfES BRARBELENENEESERG
& B E R RERILFEELBE -




Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHBMBEE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BARESER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ~ BRETEEERIBERMNTEHE - RAHAE
judgments, were of most significance in our audit of the 4RAMBREANBASZAETENEIE - ELFEHI
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These — ERMFBHEBGAVEHRELHAE RRFETE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the A BT SHELEERHEEBEBIER - BT
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our  {R%8 & B EYE R K H ii%iﬁ“ﬁ?ﬁﬁ’]éjiﬂ_ﬁﬁili
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on  —#ifFtEIE 240 - B Tl EEETE ARAK
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for ¥R BEBMEIHEFE -

Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to

Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described

below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our

report.

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAWET N ARERREENSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYF214E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the determination of the fair value
of these investment properties is dependent on certain
unobservable inputs and key assumptions that require
significant management judgments which are assessed
based on a method of valuation.
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EREMELAENANERERERRBMEEN G2
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All the Group's investment properties are measured at fair
value based on valuations performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer. Details of the valuation
technique and key inputs used in the valuations are
set out in Notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements

SEMEREMETIREB LA EREXHEMEL
{ETEEE'A AEFE - MERIBZEERITEE2H AR
B2 SN E M iR T4 519

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's investment
properties are carried at fair value of approximately
HK$3,174,568,000 as disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolldated financial statements:

!EAL.ia*M A SRR S BRI
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

HPIIREMELEETZRF B

e  Obtaining an understanding of the key processes that
the management performed in relation to the valuation
assessment;

THRERERGEFEETERRER

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work;
FHEBABIREEMEMZES - 8 REHMN - I
TRAT SR

e Assessing the valuation technique and reasonableness of
the significant inputs used by the management and the
valuer in the valuations; and
FHEE IR B XA E R h E TR 2 (B Bl X SR 4
ABB &M &

e Assessing the reasonableness of assumptions made by

the management and valuer on the propertles valuations, =

by taking into account of the conditions, location and
A i

other individual factors.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard. Because of the possible effects of the
matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgements and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with practicing certificate
number PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

14 April 2023
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eIk

IR

H 2 W am R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T - —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
Notes —E-CfF R
HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHET FHETT
Revenue Uz 5
Contracts with customers BEAEH 119,759 288,004
Leases HE 39,980 21,085
Net investment (losses)/gains SFRE (F1R), ek 7 (512) 977
Total #zE 159,227 310,066
Other income EH A 8 11,670 42,670
(Impairment losses)/reversal of TEHEEEEERXTE Y
impairment losses under expected (RERE), JRERBRE -
credit loss model, net FEE 9 (680,233) 18,721
Other gains or losses H bz sk ka8 10 (54,233) (5,040)
Purchases and changes in inventories FECHEENEE (88,211) (256,179)
Employee benefits expenses EEEANMAX (38,664) (39,139)
Other operating expenses Hih g 11 (58,368) (76,624)
Changes in fair value of investment BEMEANELE
properties 19 (679,152) (270,941)
Impairment losses on mining rights PR E R 1B 21 = (63,075)
Finance costs B TE AR AR 12 (178,153) (130,569)
Loss before tax BT RIS 18 (1,606,117) (470,110)
Income tax credit PSR R 13 150,716 28,733
Loss for the year FEEE 14 (1,455,401) (441,377)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:  H 2 (Fs%) Wiz
Item that may be reclassified Rt B 72 Em o B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on HMEGINETSEE 2 TE R ZERE
translation of foreign operations (35,221) 47,818
Other comprehensive (expense)income — &EEH 2w (FIs), Wk
for the year (35,221) 47,818

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

FERHMAXAE

(1,490,622) i




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
Note —E-=F —EB_—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to: DTATEEFEERE:
Owners of the Company FiN/NCIE 2N (1,454,890) (440,801)
Non-controlling interests PR R (511) (576)
(1,455,401) (441,377)
Total comprehensive expense NTATEEEEZEBAX
for the year attributable to: LY
Owners of the Company EN/NSIE SN (1,489,989) (393,110)
Non-controlling interests ElSuliiert (633) (449)
(1,490,622) (393,559)
Loss per share BRERE 17
— Basic (HK cents) —EARCGEN) (27.71) (8.40)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 December 2022 R=—ZE-—F+-A=+—H

2022 2021
Notes —E-CfF R
HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHET FHETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE 18 4,771 1,402
Investment properties wEME 19 3,174,568 4,160,477
Intangible assets mEE 20 49,995 97,808
Mining rights R 21 18,716 18,716
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABEZEREE
profit or loss 23 - 627
Right-of-use assets EREEE 24 5,965 4,152
Non-current deposits FEREIRE 27 1,502 1,502
Other non-current assets HibEmEEE 6,000 6,000
3,261,517 4,290,684
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 25 2,122 4,096
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRZ eREE
profit or loss 23 - 8,471
Accounts receivable FEURBR TR 26 29,769 25,620
Other receivables, deposits and HEUGEIE - iRe RIEN
prepayments FRIA 27 94,268 98,558
Bank balances and cash RITERRE S 28 222,941 255,354
349,100 392,099
Current liabilities REIEE
Accounts payable FERTERER 31 12,569 27,135
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEFH B B R E At R FIE 29 478,432 342,575
Borrowings B 30 1,741,486 1,910,778
Lease liabilities HEAR 33 4,378 2,859
Tax payables FERTTRIE 103,858 109,052
Financial guarantee contracts WBHEREL 46 664,394 =
3,005,117 2397399
Net current liabilities REBEFE (2,656,017) (2,000,300)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAE 605,500 2,290,384
———=
Non-current liabilities FkREBEME == , " ,
" Deferredtax liabilities .. " ERERIREE = == 380,925
| \Leia;glfabiﬂtm; * s\\\ b:‘;h fHEaE <> == 2,007
N X bema
AN N \\ ===
N _— 382,932

~
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 December 2022 R=—ZE-—F+—-A=+—H

2022 2021
Note —E-=F —EB_—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHET FHETT
Capital and reserves BAR#E

Share capital &N 34 262,501 262,501
Reserves e (41,474) 1,448,515

Equity attributable to owners of the RABHER NEGER
Company 221,027 1,711,016
Non-controlling interests FEPE R 1,541 2,174
Total equity AR 222,568 1,713,190

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 238 were  $86%238H v AN KEL R S -_=F 1M A
approved and authorised for issue the board of directors on 14  +POEEE S BHEREETE - SWHATESK

April 2023 are signed on its behalf by: REE
Mr. Wang Hongfang Mr. Zheng Yuchun
IRMEE BEZLE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF g




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 H{Z =T =-=F+=-A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARL
Other
Contributed capital Non-
Share surplus  Translation  Statutory ~contribution ~ Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserves reserve losses ~ Subtotal interests Total
B4 it

Rx  BHRE  EXRE  AERE  TERE  EEB N FERER £
iS00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TEL TEL ThL ThL TEL TRL ThL TR

(Note () (Note (b)) (Note (c)
(Fatal) () s i )
At1 January 2021 \E-5-R-A 260501 2,334,076 83,010 71,786 342,848 (990,095) 2,104,126 2623 2,106,749
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - (40801 (4080) (576)  (441,377)
Bichange diferences arising on BEBNEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations EiZE - - 47691 - - - 47691 m 47818
Total comprehensive incomel(expense) S E2EIE/ () 4%
for the year - - 47691 - - (440801)  (393,110) (449)  (393,559)
At 31 December 2021 and REZ-E+ZA=t-BR
1 January 2022 “EoCF-F-R 262501 2,334,076 130,701 71,786 302808 (143089%) 1,711,016 2174 171319
Loss for the year FEEE - = - - - (1454890)  (14548%0) (510 (1.455401)
Bichange differences arising on BERI$HEE,
translation of foreign operations EiZE - - (350%) = = - (350%) () (3521)
Total comprehensive expense EE2ERY = - (35099 = - (1.454890)  (1.489,989) (633)  (1.490,622)

At 31 December 2022 RZF-F+-A=1-H 262501 2334076 95,602 1,786 32848 (2885786) 221,007 1,541 22,568




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

(0)

The contributed surplus reserve of the Group (i) arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October
1995 and represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the former holding company of the Group acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of
the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefore; (ii) it
also comprised the entire amount of share premium amounting
to approximately HK$4,926,818,000 transferred to contributed
surplus reserve on 30 October 2017; and (iii) it is net off by
the dividend amounted to approximately HK$1,050,004,000
distributed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
a company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus reserve, if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts. Otherwise the
contributed surplus reserve is distributable.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries shall transfer 10% of their net profit after tax, based
on the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves,
until the balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s
registered capital. Further appropriations can be made at the
directors’ discretion. The statutory reserves can be used to offset
any accumulated losses or convert into paid-up capital of the
respective subsidiary.

The other capital contribution reserve comprised the initial fair
value adjustment of approximately HK$7,312,000 on other
loan from a third party, which was under common control by a
former director of the Company who resigned on 5 December
2018 and the reserve as a result of the Group’s disposal of its
listed equity securities to Solis Capital Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the ultimate holding company of the Group, at a
cash consideration of approximately HK$2,359,817,000, where
the consideration received over the quoted price of the listed
equity securities at completion date amounted to approximately
HK$335,536,000 was recognised in other capital contribution
reserve in August 2018, while the related loss in fair value of
these listed equity securities as at the date of disposal was
recognised in profit or loss and included as changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

GEE

(b)

AEBEBZEHBSREEORAEER—NAARE
+AZBEARLEMAETEBEAMESE - T)
EREAEEEAMBKBEAEEAIERARZ
BHEE  BHEZREMETZARRRGE
B8 (WHEMeER-_Z—tF+A=+H
EREEHRGREEZROEEZ2PEEL
4,926,818,000/87C : K(iVEWHREE_ZT—haF
+ZA=1+—HIFEHIEAI4I1,050,004,000/%
TLZ R B o

REBRZE-NN\—FRBEGEER)  HESR
IR T2 AR () A A RORAS BB SR ] 0 IR 1R
REEREABEEI A BE  RMAREEZ
EREESHEMENEEBERESBHTRA
HEEOE B BE - AIZARTNEE IR
SRR EBBHHEBET LD - T HIKE
BBERRE o

REEPEARKMBE([HE]) 2 BRER KA
] ARRGE BB QRS ARE S BEEE
BR B PRFIRRBLR T A 2 10% BRI E R
HEHEBEREDZHB AR ZEMEARS0% MBI -
BEEABHBELEIMEGR - BRMEARZE
TEREE T AR RS IR ARUR R -

Hit s EHBRERARANEE(R_2E—N
FH+_ARAHRM) XRAEFZRAE=ZFH
HtEROVB AR EFHELT,312,0008 7T &
A& E AR £ A B #92,359,817,0005% 7T A Solis
Capital Limited (RE B ZLIZER A TN 2 EN B
AR EERE FTRABSELNRFHEE o FTUIRER
FRERE ETRAE SR B REMNBELD
335,536,000/8 T —ZF— /\NF N AR EMEE
BERER  MALEEAZSE LMRAEFESFAN
BEZHEBBRXIRERPER Uit ABEZT
—N\F+=ZA=+—BHIEFEEZEARETAER
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2022 2021
—EC- 8 —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEK
Loss before tax BrER AT ES 1B (1,606,117) (470,110)
Adjustments for: RS EIE
Amortisation of intangible assets L E 2,659 1,819
Bargain purchases gain on acquisition of W R B B A B 2 i (B B e
subsidiaries - (5,866)
Changes in fair value of investment properties &% 2 AR EEE) 679,152 270,941
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% ~ B & EZITE 1,507 2,658
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 5,546 3,888
Finance costs B RS R AR 178,153 130,569
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BB KRR
equipment - (245)
Interest income F B A (2,215) (36,333)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE = 474
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment BOBEHREEBEBREXNETH
losses) under expected credit loss model, net SBEEE, CREBEER) -
FER 680,233 (18,721)
Impairment loss on intangible asset | EEREESE 41,460 =
Impairment losses on mining rights PR 2 a8 = 63,075
Unrealised exchange losses AEIRE L EE - 1,041
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESFHHCKERENE
working capital (19,622) (56,810)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,974 220,506
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets at FVTPL R AR(EFF ABZ 2 & REE
A,/ (Hghn) 9,098 977)
Increase in accounts receivable FEU AR FIE AN (239) (25,035)
Decrease in other receivables, HAbEUGRIE ~ e RIER
deposits and prepayments FIER 45,288 11,804
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable FERTERFR OB ) /12N (16,229) 27,135
Increase/(decrease) in accrued liabilities JEET A E R H M ERFRIE
and other payables i CRd) 19,402 (248,452)
Cash generated from/(used in) in operations KRR (BT S 39,672 (71,829)
Income tax paid B ATSH (10,309) (21,076)
Dividend received B UAR B - =303

==
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ERATED FROM/(USED IN)  {SSTAT18,(1/A) 2 & 94l
n'\’l\

O N ——
\t*:\\\\: f v ==

\ uigc SH.G
bémm
NN

N
N

~ ——
e

p—

—
——

e
—

9

\\\l\ Annual Repdr’& QD‘ ‘._.u-u‘-mm_::;_--;;' j
~ ] ee——
~ e S NEEERERERE

e o o



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ fﬁimbiﬁ
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2022 2021
Notes —ECCF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
P s FHET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Acquisition of property, plant and W% - BRE MR
equipment (4,956) (490)
Proceeds from disposal consideration HEMMAREEEERBRAF
receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong Asset FEWMREFREFIE
Management Co., Ltd - 950,800
Interest received 2 U F 8 2,215 69,060
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant  H&E¥%E « EREEZ
and equipment Fr{S 3R = 321
Net cash outflows from acquisition of B AR 2R e F8E
subsidiaries 40 - (987,172)
Additions to investment properties REREME = (9,083)
Payment of rental deposit Heke 2% = (1,502)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED REZE(FA) e
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ReFHE (2,741) 21,934
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
Repayments of bank borrowings BIBIRITER (23,290) (18,752)
Interest paid BRFLE (19,821) (184,944)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEBEEE (5.616) (4,010)
Proceeds from bank borrowings raised EERITEE ZMBHRIEA 2,634 19,055
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BEEBHFACREFE
ACTIVITIES (46,093) (188,651)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERERRSEBER R FHE
EQUIVALENTS (19,471) (259,229)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REDZREREFRLIER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 255,354 496,862
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IEEZBB 2
RATE CHANGES (12,942) i
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZAEREFRLSER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 222,941 255,354




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 H{Z =T =-=F+=-A=+—HI-FE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tai United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company’s immediate holding
company is Songbird SG PTE. Ltd., a company incorporated
in Singapore with limited liability and its ultimate holding
company is Satinu Resources Group Ltd., a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and the principal place of business of the Company
is Room 4202-03A, 42th Floor, China Resources Building, 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries (collectively
referred to “the Group”) are set out in note 44.

The consolidated financial statements presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—RER
ARMERBER AR (TARRE )R BEFEF MK
VR HEREERAT - HRONE B
ERGHARAR([EBRAT]) EH o ARQF]
EERR  RAFZEBZER A ASongbird
SG PTE. Ltd.(—FEIR T MK sx M a2 2 AR A
7)) » i Songbird SG PTE. Ltd. 7 S&EZER A
7] ASatinu Resources Group Ltd. (— IR HE
RS ([ REBRELHS])EMKLZBR
AR]) o ARA Az FEM P E E AR Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda « AR A2 B AR ERE
F78 82657 3 A E42184202-03AF -

ARBR/—AREZERABTMARAMNERF]
(FriE ARl ) 2 E 2 EBEHNMTEA o

A BRETET(EL)) 25 - BAR
A2 LR -
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.

FEREIER] B R M BREER
(TERMBHREER )

RAFERFIER 2 EETERY
B EAEL

RAFEE  ARBEXREA T BEB G
ARE([FREFMAE NRON_FT_—F—
A—RZZ &SR FERR G LR LE
FIEBMBMEER ARBAR S B TERE -

FRMBRERER  HHESERZEL

FEIFISET A
EBPBREER R —FX A=
F165EEI R B 2 % 822019 A%
SHEENESESR
HAEGEIAER] M - BEREE—1E
ESS RN BT ARATE TSR
18
HAEGEIAER] EBEH—-BITEHN
FEI7HRIBEI R AR
EEVIEREER BEMEREEAN =T
(EHEN —N\FE-_T-THF
RE FEE

BRTIXFraESN  WAFERREEMBRE
ERNERIAB A RBNANFE FBEFEME
BB RBR R, KL SRS M RRPTE A
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or after 1
January 2022. The amendments update a reference in HKFRS
3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a requirement
that, for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination and add an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The Group has applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 retrospectively for the first time in the current year.
The amendment extends the availability of the practical
expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16") by one year so that the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met.

The application of this amendment has had no material

impact on the Group'’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments specify that the costs
of any item that were produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment
is functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such
items should be recognised and measured in the profit or
loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the
items are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of 1 January 2022. The application of the
amendments in the current year has had no impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance.

FE RIS B BB E %R
(BB KREERD ) =)

RAFEERFERZLIETEBY
B EER (&)

EREBEERE16HIETIY R  BER
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VAE TR [ 4k 77 TUE VR FTAR My b B S AR B EE
HEERIER KA (PIERHAEBYME - B
FRRBRELFEERELNEAR) LHEE
ZERE B RARRBERER N B E
REFE - ZFRENKATIRIBEEB A
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020y°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies'

Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Amendments to HKAS 12

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

§ Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP mAME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2022, the application of the amendments will not

result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
L . J Y -~ > e <

EREET B R B REER
([ERMBREER ] =)

BB EREIRBILKEED
BRRBIFERBURBERESS
H(ZBRF) 2BRER

ZIERI AR E B EERREEERE A HK
RO+ A A RORRERHURE RERIMES] - A
HREIBRRBSERE) - BF

o FIHABEBERBREHMRFENENT Y
BRRENIERY - ABME - KIEFTA

() BOBTXEEEENRBANEE
BENEENERAZE &

(i) fe 5 AR NA B ST 28 Rk - BN
EERAEREK AR ARARTER
BIRME - RIRER & RS HIRA
BIRHFNERTEE - &

o EBAWMERBERABENK  TAHTEEE
BEZERAGHOBRATRETHEE - A
EEERERAASTENSNRDH
TA: 2388 EREBRAR/RATA
B ZEGRRT T EEESBRREHIE
RBENTE -

o - ERREESTEBE R ERIF 15 E
RIAETTIERT - LAEARERE R RES — B

ERASER_T__F T A=t—FHzi —
AEERE  BARSHABTREHEAEE
i H

ZRRBHAR: “

—_—

g

——

> p—
——

—
e

—_—

—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP mAME

=]

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured at
monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates
in HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The application of the amendment is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

102 Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the
Group incurred a net loss of HK$1,455,401,000
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as
of that date, the Group’s has net current liabilities
of HK$2,656,017,000, including the overdue bank
borrowing of HK$1,527,997,000 which have not yet
been successfully renewed, extended nor repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and subsequent to
end of the reporting period. In addition, subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, certain legal claims
were filed against the Group in the People’s of Republic
China (the “PRC"). It came to the attentions of the
directors of the Company that part of the claims related
to certain pledge of assets and guarantees provided
by two subsidiaries established in the PRC, namely
Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co.,
Ltd.* (FEMNELE AR EBR A 7)) (“Guangzhou
Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd.* (S8 =5 A KB EEZ AR
2 8] ) ("Jinzhou Jiachi”), allegedly originated prior to
the acquisition of Sky Build Limited and Superb Power
Enterprises Limited (the “Acquisitions”) as disclosed
in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
that were not recorded in the books and records of
the Group. These conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis as the directors
of the Company are satisfied that the liquidity of the
Group can be maintained in the coming year taking into
the consideration of the following matters:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

(M

)

@)

In March 2021, the Group had entered into an
undertaking arrangement with Dai Yongge (“Mr.
Dai"), the ultimate controlling party of the Seller
of the subsidiaries acquired in 2021 as defined
in Note 40, that if the Guangzhou bank loan has
not been successfully renewed subsequent to
the completion of the acquisition of Guangzhou
Rongzhi and being enforceable for repayment, Mr.
Dai will irrevocably fulfil his personal obligations
under this undertaking arrangement to repay all
amounts of the Guangzhou bank loan due with
interest accrued to the Bank of Jinzhou. In case
of such event happened, the Group has agreed
to repay Mr. Dai’s settlement amount within
13 months from his settlement date or when
financing on Guangzhou Rongzhi is available to
the Group for repayment, whenever earlier.

In April 2023, the Group had obtained a
confirmation letter from Mr. Dai that the
undertaking arrangement in connection with the
Guangzhou bank loan entered into in March 2021
is still effective and will apply for a period of at
least 12 months from the date of the letter,

The Group may seek other financing resources
(including but not limited to rights issue and
placing of shares) to meet its liabilities and
obligation as and when they are fall due, and

The Group may consider to take action against
the Seller of the subsidiaries acquired in 2021 for
claims for breach of warranty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the
cash flow projections of the Group prepared by the
management covering a period of not less than 12
months from 31 December 2022. Taking into account
of the internally available funds, non-current assets held
by the Group, the undertaking arrangement obtained
from Mr. Dai and the potential fund raising activities,
the directors of the Company are confident that the
Group will be able to meet its financial obligations when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
qccordance W|th HKFRS 16 and measurements that have
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBHRRZHFEREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented

separately from the Group's equity therein, which
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities mcurred
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FEMBHRRZEREEREKX
B #®)

3.2 EXBEBER#)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

e S

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e  the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contracts are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of car parks that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities,
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from
COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

HEMBERRZEHREEREKX
SHBEKR®)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBERATANA ()
Lease liabilities HEaE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include: fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

When a lease contract contains a specific clause that
provides for rent reduction or suspension of rent
in the event that the underlying assets (or any part
thereof) are affected by adverse events beyond the
control of the Group and the lessor so as to render
the underlying assets unfit or not available for use, the
relevant rent reduction or suspension of rent resulting
from the specific clause is accounted for as part of the
original lease and not as a lease modification. Such rent
reduction or suspension of rent is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments to occur.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payment originally due on or before 30 June 2022;
and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not
a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

HEMBERRZEHREEREKX
SHBEKR®)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessor KEFIERLTANA
Classification and measurement of leases HENIBEMNE

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
; forelgn operations.are translated into the presentation
curgency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), Singapore and United Kingdom (“UK") and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in relation to
employees of the Company'’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit

for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before

tax because of income or expense that are taxable

or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current

y !Q(JQC@W;Q%; rates that have been enacted
“or substantively by the end of the reporting
N o reporng
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

‘Deferred tax assets-and liabilities are measured at the
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its asset and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition
and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
. resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
iie@é& m'&dijitations, that are not subject to initial
X ie’cbgrutrén.'e&w ption are recognised on the date of -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. When current tax or
deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible asset
that are held for use in the supply goods and services
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
k “the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. KENBBRRZEREEREK
SHBEKR®)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property is included in profit or
loss in the period. Transfers from investment properties
are made when, and only when, there is a change in use
for a transfer from investment property carried at fair
value to inventories, the property’s deemed cost shall be
its fair value at the date of change in use.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately and in business
combination with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
mpawme*nt losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Mining rights

Mining rights that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and
are subject to amortisation upon commissioning of the
mine for production. Amortisation of mining rights is
recognised using the unit-of-production method based
on the actual production volume over the estimated
total recoverable reserves contained in proven and
probable reserves at the related mine.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful life and mining rights to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash- generatmg
!uilts) in .prler years. A reversal of an impairment Ioss s o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. KENBBRRZEREEREK
SHBEKR®)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

| Q .%ﬁ | \ -, L
’] . ] n > R ;.\s\s
N

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale costs
necessary to make the sale incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which
the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset

rflnanaal I|ab|I|ty or, where appropriate, a shorter
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

0]

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for

being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
.yalue at the end of each reporting period, Wlth
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including accounts receivable, other receivables and
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in-which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL Jh&assessment of whether lifetime ECL shQuld
R Pe !Qcogms.eﬂ a&ﬁa&gg'on significant |ncrease§ia:kl%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
"investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers.the changes in the risk that the
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBHBRRZGEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHBEKR®)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXRSFBE )

Financial instruments (Continued) 2HMTHAE)

Financial assets (Continued) ZREE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREEZRHEE)

(i)  Definition of default (i) BROEE
For internal credit risk management, the Group ?Jﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬂﬁﬁ BmE - A5HE
considers an event of default occurs when RE - BHRNEHERNINHIETHER
information developed internally or obtained ﬁl‘ﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁ’lﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ’\ﬁﬁ&/\ﬂ_ﬁ—f
from external sources indicates that the debtor is R MEREA(BIERER)ER
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, (RET RAEEAFEMERD) K
in full (without taking into account any collaterals TE

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers BEELMRTE BECHEER
that default has occurred when a financial asset Hi#Bi@90H - AEEHRAE A
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group B EAEBBEERARREE
has reasonable and supportable information to KRB TREINBENENTES S
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is 15 & RIBRAN o

more appropriate.

(iiy  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERESMEE
A financial asset credit-impaired when one or more CREEL BN EENSH(E
events of default that have a detrimental impact ZeMEEMTRRBESREENX
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial THEE)FHEREREERE - ©
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset MEEHREERENSERES
is credit-impaired includes observable data about BT 5 S R AT R R B

the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or (a) EBEITATEBRANEAGR :
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or —— by BRAEA( : ———
.. i | = = ==
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBHBRRZGEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHBEKR®)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EREHBE )
Financial instruments (Continued) 2HTAE)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREEZRHEE)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (iy EERESMEEE)
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower (d) fBERAKAIBEPA AR EREAM
will enter bankruptcy or other financial W& ; 3

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for (o) ZEMEEMERMSHENRK
that financial asset because of financial iEK °
difficulties.
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  HEEBCR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there EAEHMETRIHEFABARE
is information indicating that the counterparty is BFR - B0 ERR Y B #) AT A 2 B
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic (Bl B FH EIFE SE AKE
prospect of recovery, for example, when the R ke B m AR E (ShIE
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or ERME) (UREERE)  A5H
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the eMESREE - EMENERE
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are B RIRE AR SR E oy Y 172 7 E i
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. BEIHNTT  EEEBRTERAR
Financial assets written off may still be subject ER o MBEERKEUBEREE - (£
to enforcement activities under the Group's A H B WK EE B R o

recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
@a ntsﬂe rglmhurse the holder for a credit loss
;ha\ Qany amounts that Ih.e Grmtp
ex from the holder, the debtor or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BRENBREZGFREEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHBEKR®)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 ERESTHBE#®)

Financial instruments (Continued) 2HITAE)

Financial assets (Continued) LREEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREEZREMEE)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) FEEREEEEMNGIE RER(E)
Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable are considered ET R B EE R R E@V%ﬁ
on a collective basis taking into consideration past BHHInpTiE R BB ER) -
due information and relevant credit information H&EE?KE’U%EE?EE@{*EEETEE?E%
such as forward looking macroeconomic BEETIAEE -
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into PEBTHEME - AEBEETZAER
consideration the following characteristics when FeEE A TRE

formulating the grouping:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. certain e SRIAME(AAEEET
of the Group's accounts receivable are each JEWERRE BT mE AR -
assessed as a separate group. Accounts BEREKREEZ AR EWIR
receivable with significant outstanding R TERE B B RRE A%
balances are assessed for ECL on an FHE)

individual basis);

e Past-due status; o EER

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and o BRAMME  BERITE:
53

e External credit ratings where available. o INBEEFHR(E) -

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management BRTIEREIRE T Rme - AR

to ensure the constituents of each group continue REERKDEE S ERLUEER

to share similar credit risk characteristics. B4 o

Interest income is calculated based on the gross %UEASU\E%EEEEE%@EE{E%*

carrying amount of the financial asset unless the E BRIEZEMEEFERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows the assets expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

3. KENBBRRZEREEREK
SHBEKR®)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. KENBBRRZEREEREK
SHBEKR®)

3.2 EREHBEKR#®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past event but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting

_ period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
!urreq.nﬁ”mg the obligation. When a provision is
|

HAREE

A BEREE B BESFHERERNER
BEME BATANERERFBRL TR
FMEOBERTLRBREAET - EHEE
EH ST D AISEHIETE ©

EASERRRERMAERLESE -
BB EMET AT BITHE IS SR
REARBE - UTEEEAMBREFTT
LARERR o

RNEBFEETE - LETERESAT
ERRLERNNERRL o WERI{ER
SABEEIEMNIER A e G EEUR R
ML - RIgEARIEEEZ(D
WMEHNAR S MR RS -
ERZFERAIER T EAEH A S bEt AR
Gh e

R

EAKERBERMHMARKEECEE
HIEE) - AAREA AR BRET
ZAEME - M EZBREENEERAIAR 5
HfhEt - RIS R

HERRBENESRIREN S REHREA
BT R R R B AR B R ERREGS

= o iy mﬁﬁ@ﬁ%

“¢%Fl%&EEEMH@&TE£E£;

—_—
——-_—-

—_——

@m Jrg}%

i

p——

easuged Lﬁln@%f?&ﬁ;h flows estlmated to et the———

\ p—
——

—_—

—
e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBEHRRZEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHBERm®)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXRSFBE )
Related parties/connected parties -y -V
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the BT ARAEEERENEARE
Group. g o
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s (@) MHBIATAL:  BlsZATEZATLT
family is related to the Group if that person: TR BN AR (B R
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; ()  PEFIEEERIAREE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAREMEEATE o
(iiy is a member of the key management (i) AREEMNFEZEERENKE -
personnel of the Group.
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) MHFFE TIMEMAEM - B EEEA
following conditions applies: EEFREE
(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the () ZEREALEBEER—%£EZ
same group (which means that each parent, KERF(AIERATE - M8
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to AEIRRARMBAREILEE
the others). RAHE) ©
(iiy One entity is an associate or joint venture iy —FHERBAS—EEMH2L
of the other entity (or an associate or joint AREERR(H S —EER
venture of a member of a group of which KE AR ZEBEETKE AR
the other entity is a member). ZEENRHAEEAT]) o
(iliy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i MEAEBHYAR—F=FNE
third party. =WNGI
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third party vy —HEBAF=-TEENAE
and the other entity is an associate of the RNA ME—EBRZE=A
third entity. EREAEE AT °
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit v EBRASESEATESRE
plan for the benefit of employees of either B BEENEBBNZIABE
\ Broup, or an entity related to the BB FIETE o i 7 .
i Al If the Group s itself such a plan, the = R =
| ployers are also rel@ledio e —=————— HIZRS ==
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties/connected parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include.

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidies of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

In addition, transactions with connected parties as
defined under the Listing Rules are disclosed in the
Report of the Directors of this annual report.

3. KENBBRRZEREEREK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP mAME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experiences
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties in the PRC

The Group recognises deferred tax in respect of the changes
in fair value of the investment properties located in the
PRC based on directors’ best estimate assuming future tax
consequences through the usage of such properties for rental
purpose, rather than through sale. The final tax outcome
could be different from the deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the Historical Financial Information should the investment
properties are subsequently disposed of by the Group, rather
than consumed substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties by leasing over time.
In the event the investment properties are being disposed
of the Group may be liable to hlgher tax upon disposal
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{Z—Z - —F+-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in note
19.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuation of
the Group's investment properties are the best estimates, the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the COVID-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve, which have led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuation in the current year.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal
assessment on the risks of change in macroeconomic
environment through performing sensitivity analysis in
< ngatmn to the Group's investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist
for mining rights, consideration is given to both external
and internal sources of information. External sources of
information of the Group includes changes in the market,
economic and legal environment in which the Group operates
that are not within its control and affect the recoverable
amount of the mining rights. Internal sources information
includes the manner in which the mining rights are being
used or are expected to be used and indications of economic
performance of the assets and operating results. The carrying
amounts of mining rights are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever
certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Mining rights are assessed annually to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. The Group’s cash-
generating unit ("CGU") for impairment assessment of
mining rights is the cash-generating unit that holds mining
rights (the “Mining CGU").

When an impairment review is undertaken, recoverable
amount is assessed by reference to the higher of 1) value in

use (“VIU") and 2) fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD").

The best evidence of FVLCD is the value obtained from an

active market or binding sales agreement. Where neither

exists, FVLCD is based on the best information available to

reflect the amount the Group could receive for the Mining

CGU in an arm’s length transaction. The recoverable amount

of the mining rights are determined based on the VIU
calculation and certain key assumptions. VIU calculation used

the discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be
derived from the Mining CGU and the Group has engaged

an independent qualified professional valuer to perform

such valuation. The key assumptions used in estimating the
discounted future pre-tax cash flows are tungsten metal

- estimated selling. price, estimated future costs of production,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment losses
amounted to approximately HK$63,075,000 (2022: nil) has
recognised for the mining rights as recoverable amounts are
lower than the respective carrying amounts. Details of the
mining rights and the impairment test of mining rights are
disclosed in note 21 and note 22 respectively.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable and other
receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are assessed for
ECL individually and collectively.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on accounts receivable which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables
are disclosed in note 38(b).
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5. REVENUE

(i)

N
N

N
X R
A l h..’ N:l\%

Disaggregation of revenue for
contracts with customers

5 W&
() BEFGHWEAS

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Types of goods and services EmkRgER
— Sales of medical equipment —HEBERE 9,864 17,462
— Sales of flooring materials — SHE AR AR 83,383 25,315
— Sales of properties —HEME - 217,813
— Revenue from properties management —REMEETE KIEH
and related services AR5 B Wz 26,512 27,414
119,759 288,004
Geographical markets WwETS
— The PRC — 35,865 261,777
- Hong Kong — &8 19,456 =
— Singapore —¥hng 33,351 23,798
— United States of America (“USA") —EFRERB([XE]) 30,576 1,518
— The United Kingdom (“the UK") —HE([HE ) 511 911
119,759 288,004
Timing of revenue recognition W R A
— Over time —BERY A 26,512 27,414
— At a point in time —RE—EE 93,247 260,590
119,759 288,004

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed
in the segment information for the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021:

BE_ZTZ-_—_F#N_ZT-_—F+_-H4
=t+—BIEE  UWTEHIEFA OIS
HABEREESRE SR

Segment revenue

2R
2022 2021
—EC- 8 e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T AT

Revenue from contracts with customers
— Medical equipment trading

BEEEHNE
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YEERE

i

9,864
83,383
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. WiE#)
(i) EEFAHNzBEHNERE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers
Sales of medical equipment

The Group sells medical equipment to distributors
and non-distributors comprising hospitals in the PRC.
Contracts with the Group’s customers are mainly
short term and fixed price contracts. The revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the
customers’ specific location (delivery) on which the
customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods.

Sales of flooring materials

The Group sells flooring materials to customers are
mainly short term and fixed price contracts. The
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the customers’ specific location (delivery) on which
the customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. W)
(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BXEFEHNZEHNER®)

with customers (Continued)
Sales of properties HEYF
The Group transfers operation rights of a portion of REEEZEENEY RO U T A
underground shop units in its shopping mall. The LERE o  BERBERERLCEEREH
consideration has been fully paid upon the transfer of XA M T EERMEXEALREA -
the operation rights. All the transferees of underground RIS B R E NG R 4T
shop units are individuals. Revenue from transfer of IS TS (RIPASEF A B ) T LATERR

operation rights of shop units is recognised when
control of the operation rights has transferred, i.e. at a

point of time.

Revenue from properties management and related KEYEEERIEERBEH W 25
services

The Group recognises the revenue from property AEEFABGHARRBMEETERRE &
management services and the related services in the AR BrE - EeBEERFARE
amount that equals to the right to invoice which BRER] - HEAREEE S RIENELARE
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of HEPHEEEELTE - BRERENEH
the Group's performance to date on a monthly basis. Wi - WRRBITOWEOEE -

They are rendered in short period of time and there is
no unsatisfied performance obligations.

(i) Transaction price allocated to the (i) P WMFEFEANRTENE
remaining performance obligation for ENRZER
contracts with customers
The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or partially F—giii&:g:_iﬂ’:ﬂiff
unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December E' AEE RS TRORTOCREKK
2022 and 2021. BB ARERK) °
(iv) Leases (iv) S
2022 2021
—EC-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Revenue arising from operating leases: #ﬁﬁ‘*ﬂﬁﬁiﬂ’ﬂ&ﬁ : A

. Llease'pa s that are fixed “BEEMAEMR = 39,929 ‘ 1,08: :

\/quabbm Mat do not depend E#%i#?a%ﬂ%%
\ S AREENR

‘””“‘i‘*\

—
———
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or rendered.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
commenced the business engaging in flooring materials
trading along with establishment of a new subsidiary in Hong
Kong and it is considered as a new operating and reportable
segment of the CODM. Moreover, the Group started business
engaging in development of shopping mall and property
management along with the acquisition of subsidiaries (as
detailed in note 40) and it is included in properties investment
segment.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

(i)  Properties investment segment — properties investment,
development of shopping mall, leasing of properties,
and property management;

(i) Medical equipment trading segment;

(iii)  Flooring materials trading segment;

(iv)  Mining and exploitation of natural resources segment —

mining and production of tungsten resources activities
in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”); and

(v)  Financial services and assets management segment by
aggregating different operating segments including
trading equity securities and derivatives and managing
of assets arising from acquisition of distressed debts
assets.

7 RREF

RMARNRITHER X ELERRE(TEE
BERRE ) 2MADEER M D BRR
ZER  ERREMEXECRE 2 EMRRYE

KEF o
f gl

BE-TZ-—F+-_A=+—HILFE KESE
REEREBKL T —HEFHHNBLAR - A%
EHETHRMHEZINER  HE X228
REERBFNEBERAIZRMDED o I - BE
EAEEWETWB AR (FIESRNMEEL0) -
REBHETHSEREMEETENER - &
ATAMERESE -

BfEMmE - RIBFEMBERSERFESR - &
SEZAIE2RIMMAT ¢

() MEREDH-MERE  RABEEDD
O HEMERMEER

(i) BEREEZDE:

(i) HWIRMEBEZDE

(iv) RERBERAERD B NG KM
(REDZRBEREESEEREZS &

v) SRREREEEESB-TRLEDE
EREREERATSRITETA | kK
BIREBEEMELZEEERRE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER )
Segment revenue and results DEU R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and NN AR E R 2WHEHE D 2 N EBW
results by operating and reportable segments. REEGEZ DT -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—E-—F1-HA=+—HILFE

Mining and Financial

Medical Flooring exploitation services
Properties  equipment materials ~ of natural  and assets
investment trading trading resources management Total
B RERGE  SREER
NERE BERRES WHES RRER BEEE A5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAT TATL TATL

Segment revenue 2k 66,492 9,864 83,383 - - 159,739
Segment net investment PBEREERE

losses - - - - (512) (512)
Total st 66,492 9,864 83,383 - (512) 159,227
Segment results DEEE (1,558,678) 252 (4,890) (731) (3,487)  (1,567,534)
Net foreign exchange losses EREBFE (12,773)
Unallocated interest income ROBFBHA 2,187
Unallocated finance costs ROBEBHA (185)
Central administration costs RRITBHEY (27,812)
Loss before tax BREiAIEE (1,606,117)

\\\l\ » Annual Repo& Qbi
& o — e
N ] e LL REBEREERE

e o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEPER#)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PSR EE )
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ-—8-—fF+-HA=1—HILFE
Mining and Financial
Medical Flooring  exploitation services
Properties  equipment materials of natural and assets
investment trading tradng resources management Total
‘ Wh RBREHE  SEBBR
NERE BERIEES MHES RRER BEER s

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

Segment revenue pinail e 266,312 17,462 25,315 = = 309,089
Segment net investment gains 4 3ERE A - - - - 977 977
Total @t 266,312 17,462 25,315 - 977 310,066
Segment results ARELE (406,424) (2,304) 14 (64,294) (1668)  (474,676)
Interest income from HEMNAREEER

consideration receivable from AR QAN ([HMA

disposal of MMAKEEEE  KFEEZERK

BB DR Hangzhou TaiRong B2 FIBIA

Asset Management Co. Ltd.*

("Hangzhou Tai Rong") 12,357
Net foreign exchange losses EREETE (10,677)
Bargain purchase gain on WEHERRMZEE

acquisition of subsidiaries Bl (fizt40)

(note 40) 5,866
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE(FF0)

(note 40) (474)
Reversal of impairment losses on ~ SLIEURAT/ KRR (E

consideration receivables and M F| S &R 2 AfE

interest receivables from B8

Hangzhou Tai Rong 22,582
Unallocated interest income FRABFEHA 23,974
Unallocated finance costs RABLHBREA (105)
Central administration costs RRITHRES (48,957)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (470,110)
¢ English translated name is for identification purpose only.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue EXFE®R2 9 Eblam Ty igIN R P EE Z I
generated from external customers. There were no o RREFERA - MRS EEHEE o

inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred
before tax by each segment without allocation of central
a%gﬂr‘,]i@tration costs.including directors’ emoluments, legal

it

?& j[ir:bfeeﬁﬁgahée'gg and other operating expense
reig \
cia

2egx haggs-lps‘se interest income from consider
ble from disp i%Wangzhou Tai Rong,
g\\ income, | ed finance costs,

purchase gain on a

receivables from
e reported to the
on and assessment of segment
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

DEER 2
PTHEERERE
AEERELRA2H) BRD T BER A E

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: AT
2022 2021
—EC-—F —E- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Segment assets DEEE
Properties investment MERE 3,266,801 4,314,866
Medical equipment trading BRREES 13,144 10,352
Flooring materials trading HARMRLE 5 77,785 92,732
Mining and exploitation of natural resources — £%0& & #1232 KR ER 18,837 19,006
Financial services and assets management SRREREEER 213,420 228,406
Total segment assets NEEEBTE 3,589,987 4,665,362
Unallocated right-of-use assets ROMERAEEE 4,269 2,966
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL RAOMBAAEETAERZZ
TREE - 627
Unallocated property, plant and equipment kOB - FiE M & 3,975 332
Unallocated intangible assets RoELEE 4,155 4,155
Other unallocated corporate assets HitRDERAREE 8,231 9,341
Consolidated assets LeEEE 3,610,617 4,682,783
Segment liabilities PMEE
Properties investment YERE 3,287,436 2,861,395
Medical equipment trading BESEES 6,951 4,566
Flooring materials trading HARMELE 5 12,569 27,135
Mining and exploitation of natural resources — £%HE & #)ZX KR ER 523 523
Financial services and assets management PRREREEEIR 1,894 1,134
Total segment liabilities NEBEBE 3,309,373 2,894,753
Unallocated lease liabilities KOGHERE 4,570 3,100
Unallocated tax payables ROBENTIIE 63,687 68,820
Other unallocated corporate liabilities Hib kDB RIAE 10,419 2,920
—r =
=
qu‘soligalgcz liabilities o 3,388,049 ,969,593
N %W ! \w\\;\:: —
&\ \ . \ N N \ =

\\l\ E d Annual Repéi’é Fp
~ " “) r‘ 7\ oL
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than unallocated right-of-use assets,
unallocated financial assets at FVTPL, unallocated
property, plant and equipment, unallocated intangible
assets and other unallocated corporate assets (including
primarily unallocated bank balances and cash).

e all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than unallocated lease liabilities,
unallocated tax payables and other unallocated
corporate liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group operates in six principal geographical areas — the
PRC, Hong Kong, the UK, Mongolia, Singapore and USA.

DEER 2
THEEREE®)
REED BRI RES B S EERMS -

o BRARDEERREE AoERAN(ER
ABRZEREE AOEYME - BER
&l ROBEEVEEREMARDE AR
BE(XZERADERTEHLRE)
Sy MEBEBNEERERTZ2RY

o

s BAPEMEAE  FORENFERE
wERPEATAEN  FERESHES
QAT 23R 56 o

i EE R

AEENANEEELR -FE - B - EH -
5a o IR R EBETEE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEPER#)
Geographical information (Continued) wEER )
Information about the Group's revenue from external REBEIMNBEFPHRAE EMI 25 ERASE
customers is presented based on the location of the relevant REINDE P U E R RAR R A B A a2,
operations of external customers and information about 2IERATEEIERBEERNER

Group's non-current assets is presented based on physical
location of assets.

Revenue from Non-current assets
external customers (Note)
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
FREBEE
REMREF W (BfEE)
BE+-A=t—HLEE R+=A=+—H
2022 2021 2022 2021
—BoofF T4 B —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T i
The PRC F 65,698 277,896 2,646,561 3,579,855
Singapore Fronsg 33,351 23,798 - -
USA £ 30,576 1,518 = S
Hong Kong B 19,456 = 18,825 14,045
The UK [ 10,658 5,877 575,885 675,916
Mongolia ES - = 18,744 18,739
159,739 309,089 3,260,015 4,288,555
Note: Non-current assets excluded non-current deposits and financial M3 . ERBEAETEEIENBRE RIZAAER

assets at FVTPL. ANBHZeREE -
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group as
follows:

DEE R )
FEEF2ER

ERIAEEANEE10% U FHERFEE P
BSOS

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiT FHET
Customer A BPA 33,351 N/ATE A 2
Customer B =FB 19,456’ N/ATNE A 2
Customer C BHEC 18,405’ N/AZN 3 2

! Revenue from flooring materials trading segment.

C The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.

No other customers contribute revenue over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

' KA IR EE 55 EEES o

2 BRI EAA KBRS ERI0%A L -

REE-_ TR _T-_—F+_A=+—
BIEFE  BEEHFERAAEEBUEER
#10% °

NET INVESTMENT (LOSSES)/GAINS 7. BRE(FE) &S
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ EA B ABRZ EREE
FVTPL RAEES (512) 977
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8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfzlgA

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Interest income from: REATEEZFEWA -

— consideration receivable from disposal of ~ — HI& M AL ERAE
Hangzhou Tai Rong = 12,357
— bank and other deposits —HRITREMIFR 2,061 5,286
—loan receivables —ERE R 154 18,690
Government grants (note) BT as (I E) 376 =
Sundry income ESIETGN 9,079 6,337
11,670 42,670
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group Wik : BEZT-__FF+-A=+—HLFE' &
recognised government grants of HK$376,000 (2021: nil) in SEREBBNRHE MR EIFTE TSR
respect of COVID-19-related subsidies of Employment Support 201978 AR 5 75 48 A 1 Bh B RESR BT R BE 4V

Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. 376,000 T (ZF=—4F : &) °

9. (IMPAIRMENT LOSSES)/REVERSAL OF 9. FEHIEEEFEEENE NHWORE
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED Eia) O REEERE - BEE
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

2022 2021

—EC-—F —E- 4

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment  FtA F&IEEHR 2 CRERE),
losses recognised on: REBERED

— accounts receivable — FEUBR TR 3,877 (3,116)
— other receivables — H b YR IB (564) 21,086
— interest receivables — FEUFI B, - 751
— financial guarantee contracts — B HERER (683,546) =
(680,233) 18,721

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 38(b). BB RT {4+ BB T E38(b) © —
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10. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 10. Hfb =& 8
2022 2021
—E-CF —E- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net foreign exchange losses b 3 s 18 F 2 (12,773) (10,677)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE RREWE
equipment = 245
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of WK B AR EEBE NS
subsidiaries (note 40) (FF5E40) - 5,866
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 40) PR (B8 18 (P31 40) = (474)
Impairment loss on intangible asset BV EEREBE (41,460) =
(54,233) (5,040)
11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 1. Htt &
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HEX 29,535 21,157
Administrative expenses TEAX
— Depreciation —E 7,053 6,546
— Legal and professional fee —FERBEEBH 9,533 15,917
— Registration, license fee and other office — i fft - A BREMBAE
expenses b=g=s! 2,801 3,043
— Short-term leases and property —RHHERYEERE
management fees 5,777 7,470
— Repairs and maintenance — B MRS 1,966 1,106
— Other taxes — HAbFiIE 1,600 15,855
- Sundry expenses —MIARM Y 103 5,530
58,368 76,624
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13.

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. B ISR AR
2022 2021
—E-CF —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest expenses on: THEENFEHAY
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 177,868 130,342
— lease liabilities —HEaE 285 227
178,153 130,569
INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FISHiIER
2022 2021
—EC- 8 —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current tax: IRITHRIA -
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") FRECEMSHR(TEEMRSHE] 5,115 2,675
Deferred tax (note 32) EEFLTA (M 5E32) (155,831) (31,408)
(150,716) (28,733)

;Lm%f i 2500
N %

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. No provision
for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's
income neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
ment@hon Regulation ‘of the EIT Law, the tax rate of

, or at a lower concessxanarzy :l‘ate
ating in the Tibet Alitéfi&?ﬁﬂ
t =

Ly ARSI RS *R—?—%'Jr‘éﬁ%%lﬁﬁf
#)E 2,000,000/ 7T 5% F1l 5 128.25% HY &4
i - T8 182,000,000 7T &9 )i B #5342 16.5%
RFRER o THAEFEHMAHEENEER

B SR8 M A B 1R 16.5% B 58— B R BUN TR
I8 o

Bt - 6 ERERERNTBAERIRGTE
R 1% ) B 2,000,000 701 8.25% 5T & A &
B FFEHE 82,000,000 T A 14 5 FE R Y ik
FIZ16.5%1E - HRASERNRALIENE
PBEESESE - M ERBERIE R -

 EFRERAE NS - A

 REHELEFERA(DERERE RS

= NGO RS 7%25%&3% :

= EE% fﬁ@?%
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to
Mongolian income tax which is calculated at the rate of
10% on the first 3 billion Mongolian Turgrik of estimated
taxable income and 25% on the amount in excess thereof.
No provision for Mongolian income tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as there were no assessable
profits for both years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

13. IS8R @)

REGFMEIANBEARBARNTE HEH
FTiER BRI EERRRAS
3,000,000,0005 & Bl 18 B 7 1% 10% M F K51
E - BEEDIE25% B ERTE o ARMEF
BN EEAERBEF - B RRERE B 5
HEARSE SRR L RE -

IS

AEEREREREGEBE MAM NS

loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss RZBPIRIEEBEERAT
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss before tax BRI AR (1,606,117) (470,110)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax RS R EGE 2 BIE
rates (396,167) (102,717)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A 0FIFISL ~ i 2 2
purpose 207,053 8,892
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERTBAZ BIEE
purpose (589) (740)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIEE B T2 48,532 53,721
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A SCATARER 2 HIBEE
recognised (3.365) (4,577)
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference KRR A HIRE B =50 2 FiIs &
not recognised - 16,688
Utilisation of deductible temporary B) A SCATARTER Z ATHIA
differences previously not recognised ErRER (6,180) =
Income tax credit for the year NEEBHER (150,716) (28,733)
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XFEEHR
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Loss for the year has been arrived at after REFEBIENRGTA) TS
charging/(crediting): BIBGER :
Directors’ emoluments (note 15) B (FEE15) 9,843 17,427
Other staff costs: HA B TR -
— Salaries, allowances and benefits —%® R RER 24,971 19,178
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions  —R{RA&EFIFH (2% 3,850 2,534
Total staff costs B TR AEEE 38,664 39,139
Auditor's remuneration ZERTEN S 2,890 2,000
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense B ERAFR Y 2 FE/HKA 88,211 256,179
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE 2,659 1,819
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREEZTE
equipment 1,507 2,658
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 5,546 3,888
Total amortisation and depreciation M ITEBRE 9,712 8,365
Gross rental income from investment REMEMGHSWALRE
properties (39,980) (21,085)
Less: direct operating expenses arising from 38 : EEATS WA Z R E W EFTE
investment properties that generated ECEEEERX
rental income 23,668 15,242

(16,312) (5,843)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o= A
e

BTSRRI =T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND

7777

15. 8% TETHRAEBREEMS

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

emoluments

The following table sets forth certain information in
respect of the directors of the Company during the

(a) EEREETHRAEMNE

TREIINBERARBEARREBHE
BMARBEEZETER :

reporting periods and as of the date of this report:

Date of appointment as

Name Position the directors of the Company  Date of resignation
] =40} BZARKARESZAY BHERH
Mr. Wang Hongfang Chairman, Chief executive officer 7 January 2021 N/A
and Executive director
FRMEE IR THESFRITES “E-—F—-R+tH TEA
Mr. Zheng Yuchun Executive president and 20 May 2021 N/A
Executive director
BEEFRAE PITEEFITES Sty = TEA
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny Chief executive officer and 19 April 2018 31 January 2022

PR L

Mr. Chen Weisong
BRIEIR LA

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent
BEELE

Mr. Xiao Yiqun

s

Dr. Gao Bin

RAEL

Ms. Liu Yan

2%+

b N, N, N

Mr. i ing: ~o-:

v S ’.~

N | Wy
R N

N \ 0

Executive director

THEEFWTES - \FNATNH 2 _4%-R=1+-H
Executive director 27 October 2017 15 July 2022
WTES “Z—+E+AZ++tR Tt A+HA
Executive director 30 October 2019 31 December 2021
WTES —Z-hETA=TH —E--F+ZA=+—H
Non-executive director 20 May 2021 N/A
FTES St iy = ek
Independent non-executive 20 November 2015 N/A

director
BUFRITES T sy = T
Independent non-executive director 18 June 2015

BUFNTES

Independent non-exel

BUFHTES

—H=m A T/\R




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 15. 2 - FETHAERESMHNE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) (%)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ (a) EERFETHAEME 2
emoluments (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the FEANEEREZITHAE ZHEBIERE
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules B EmRRRESARHEIIEENT

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022 BFEF-—E-—fFf-H=+—HIEFE
Mr. Kwong
Mr.Wang  Mr. Zheng Kai Sing Mr. Chen
Hongfang Yuchun Benny Weisong Total
IZHEE BEERE BRELE RENRZE B

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Fees we - - - - -
Other emoluments HihBi<
Salaries, allowances e 2 REDR
and benefits in kind 3,900 1,740 310 1,744 7,694
Bonus bz - - - - -
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFFTEIE T
contributions 18 18 2 11 49
Subtotal &t 3,918 1,758 312 1,755 7,743
Mr. Xiao
Yiqun
HRFLLE
HK$'000
FHET
NON-EXECUTIVE FHITES
DIRECTOR
Fees we 1,200
Other emoluments H i< -
Subtotal /NEF 1,200
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
SEEL 28+ TR KL k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT TERx TERT
INDEPENDENT NON- BUKHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Otheremoluments Hipie - - - =
Subtotal /Nt 300 300 300 900
Total e 9,843
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES' AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

15. 8% TETHRAEBREEMS

(%)

(a) EBEREETHRAEME )

BE_FE_—Ff_HA=+—HIFE

Mr. Kwong Mr. Chow
Mr.Wang  Mr. Zheng KaiSing  Mr. Chen Chi Wah
Hongfang Yuchun Benny Weisong Vincent Total
TrmsE BRERLE BREKEE RENTE BSEXE wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TAT THET THET THET TR
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS ~ #i{78%
Fees we - - - - - -
Other emoluments HivBie
Salaries, allowances He 2B REYHE
and benefits in kind 2,953 961 2,600 3,497 1,200 11,211
Bonus TE4r - - 2,000 2,500 - 4,500
Retirement benefit RIKEFIFT BN
scheme contributions 15 9 18 18 18 78
Subtotal et 2,968 970 4,618 6,015 1,218 15,789
Mr. Xiao
Yigun
EEy e
HK$'000
FAT
NON-EXECUTIVE FHITES
DIRECTOR
Fees we 738
Other emoluments Hp e -
Subtotal NE 738
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
=EET 2%+ BEKEE 1BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FAT FET
INDEPENDENT NON- BIFHITES ——
\ : EfcaUTNE DIRECTORS —_—
NI R 00
W\  HipEe

IR 0 O P,
o R
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15. 8% TETHRAEBREEMS

(%)

(a) EBEREETHRAEME )

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as the directors of the
Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during both years.

The discretionary bonus is determined having regard
to the performance of the relevant director and the
operating results of the Group as a whole in respect of
each financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

ERATATEERERTHAEMEE
ETRABENARARRAEERMIZE
BRI o ERARZBIIIFRITE
FZMEEBTIRRUBREFREARRES
ZBRIG S AT

RWEFER  AEBEHEREEXME
NS - (EAIMARE B IAREE R
Z SRR AE R RER 2 i (E -

BBEADRESWRFEARRESH
RANRASENBBEEREETE -

EEHT2THABRMESFEALEE
HREXFAERREAMENLTHE -
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 15. 2 - FETHAEREEMNS

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) (#)

(b) Five highest paid employees’ (b) EERSMEES
emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group during REA  AEBRESESHHIES 2N
the year included four directors (2021: four directors), FEE(ZT—F UEESR) Al
details of whose remuneration are set out in the HERERN LR - FABKRT —R(ZE
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the ——F  —R)EaFHES (WIERAF
year of the remaining one (2021: one) highest paid EEREFETRABR) ZHESFFBOT

employees who are neither director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Salaries, allowance and other benefits %< « JZAL R EAEF] 1,350 1,055
Retirement benefit scheme RKBFFTEIHR
contributions 18 14
1,368 1,069
The number of the highest paid employee who are WHARRESTHEEZTRAE EBEN
neither directors nor chief executive of the Company FTINSBEzEeFMESHENT :
whose remuneration fell within the following bands
follows:
No. of employees
EE8A
2022 2021
—E- & =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00187c % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

IR 0 O P,
o R
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16. DIVIDENDS 16. RE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend EERYIAEEREE_SE-__F+=A
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil). =T —REFEINEARE(ZE=—F
&)
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RATRHEB ANEERTREREEDRET
owners of the Company is based on the following data: FIBURAE
2022 2021
—EC-—F —E- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR EHREREEHA QT
the Company for the purpose of basic BB ABLENERE
loss per share (1,454,890) (440,801)
2022 2021
—E-F - —F
‘000 ‘000
T TR
Number of shares BEE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose AR ETE AR EL A B 1B A L 3BAX L
of calculation of basic loss per share 5,250,020 5,250,020
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as AAMEFEA AW ED FITEE LB - U8
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during both E27|MEFENSREEEIE -

years.
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18. ¥ - BMERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements  equipment Machinery vehicles Total
B
HEkER
BEXE  BOERE B& AE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AL TERL TERL TARL

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

cost M
At 1 January 2021 RZZ--F-f-A 1,301 9,808 1,636 15,232 21977
Additions RE 239 251 - - 490
Disposals HE - (18) S (576) (594)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) InBE M 23] (B 340) - 282 157 307 766
Exchange realignment Ei A% 4 17 4 25 205
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R=E=—-F+ZF=+-H

k-E--%-5-H 1,544 10,495 1,797 15,008 28,844
Additions AE 3,874 1,082 - - 4,956
Exchange realignment EHE (1) 218 (13) (53) 141
At 31 December 2022 Sk Sk b 5,407 11,95 1,784 14,955 33,91
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZithE
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ-F-F-A 1,094 8,976 1,313 13,797 25,180
Provided for the year EmiE W 584 395 1,437 2,658
Eliminated on disposals L E R 8 - (1 = (517) (518)
Exchange realignment EiAE 4 106 1 il 12
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R=F=—-F+-A=1-H

k-E--%-f-H 1,340 9,665 1,709 14,728 27,442
Provided for the year Emak 946 409 59 93 1507
Exchange realignment B AR (1) 276 (7) (37) oy
At 31 December 2022 e 3-_—FTZA= R 2,275 10,350 1,761 14,784 29,170

CAR RYING VALUES

Nl
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19

! Qangés, in fair value' recognlsed in profit or loss

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Qver the shorter of lease term
or 5 years
20% t0 33.3%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Machinery

Motor vehicles

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group leases out residential property units and shopping
malls under operating leases with rentals payable weekly/
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
week to 5 years (2021: 1 week to 5 years) and no unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by the
Group and lessees.

20% t0 33.3%
20% t0 33.3%

Certain leases of shopping malls units contain variable lease
payment that are based on 10% to 50% of turnover of the
lessee (2021: 12%) over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash
inflow for leases is approximately HK$39,980,000 (2021:
HK$21,085,000).

18.

19.

W% - BERRE®)

Ltz - BB RRERE ARS Z AR
EBEBRABRERATFNRITE

HEEE %ﬁ%\i%ﬁ%i(uﬁﬁ%
B, BERER 20%233.3%

PWNERAE
23 20%Z%33.3%
RE 20%%33.3%
REWME
REBE_Z-_—_FR-_F-_—F+_A=+—

BIEEEA LKE@*ETF%“%%E HEEEY
XBURBEYES  HekEsR / SAXMN-
HENNFHRBE R BESF (T ——
F:URESF) AESTHEMNSESER
EREE AR BT HRIASN o

ETEYTLEE
22810%550% (- T
FHREMNK -

HRAAEREIUAEEEER BN EE
B BAEETERBELHMATINER
- AN S FIBEAERE FAE
AEHEMRBEZMEAEEE -

BERAEAREHANE
—F 1 12%)FHEET

RBE_E-_—_F+_A=+—HILEFE"
FER SR ALSEA%)39,980,0008 L (=&
——%F :21,085,00057T) ©

HK$'000
FHIT
FAIR VALUE ARE
At 1 January 2021 Ne=——t=—H<H 792,245
Addition = 9,083
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40) U BE T BB A7) (B 5E40) 3,780,073
Transfer to inventories* ER ST E* (222,575)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERPERZ A EZS (270,941)
Exchange realignment I 5 E 72,592
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 e gl
— e -5
i

e egl@nmérﬁ‘\b%

| in “Purchases an-d-chaag&m :Wgﬁuﬂ\ﬁé

B B%;&kimt’ .

pusy
——
-

—
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REV*E#)

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Unrealised losses on investment properties 5T ABZA 2 I EWE 2 R EH
included in profit or loss &8 (679,152) (270,9417)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out by Messrs International Valuation Limited (2021:
Messrs International Valuation Limited), an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group
for properties located in the UK and on the basis of valuations
carried out by Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited
(2021: Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group for properties located in the PRC.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group engages the independent qualified professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with them to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties to
the directors of the Company.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
In estimating the fair values of the investment properties
for disclosure purpose, the highest and the best use of the
investment properties is their current use. The fair values of
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

REBUREBR 2REMER_T ==

TZA=T—HBZARETHELREH
B4 B B 2 98 <L A B 18 E {8 Bl Messrs
International Valuation Limited (=& = —4F :
Messrs International Valuation Limited) #Z (& 18
BEEBETF  MURPBEZWEZRAABIIS
HASEMERAN B A EREEMGEM
Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited ( —

L = —4F : Messrs Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited )2k (B EAERETE °

REFRENEZAAENS  AREREE
TREREXMEMETHE AREEERE
BREZTAE AT LZEX 2 BRMER
M RBEARE - WAARRERERIRENE
RABEREBZER

REEZT_ZFR=F_—F+ZA=+—
BIEFERN  FTAGERITEZS - WG
R ERGR 2 EMEQAER  BEDEY
BRakEEARAERERR - WEMENR
AECERR MBS ETEERERA
LA e EERTE -
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWM= )
The following table gives information about how the fair TRENZEREMELAABZEEARZE
values of these investment properties are determined (in AR ERM RATREARE)
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).
Significant Relationship of unobservable
Investment properties  Valuation technique unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
REME fHER M BATTERGAYE TUBEBABBERIABENBE
Residential property units ~ Market comparable Market unit rate, taking into Asignificant increase in the market
located in the UK approach account the recent transaction unit rate used after adjusting
2022: HK$575,840,000 prices for similar properties location and conditions of
(2021: HK$675,866,000) adjusted for nature, location and  the property would result in a

conditions of the property, which  significant increase in fair value,
ranged from Great British Pound ~ and vice versa.

("GBP") 1,897 to GBP2,097

(2021: GBP1,846 to GBP2,261)

per square foot.

RERBZTEWMEEN  THLEE A RBEOMENTARSER  REMENLE RIERETHEE
— T 4 1 575,840,000 BWEOME NERIBERET  RANTISEEAREMNEGEN
BT HE) & - MBEENRETES RABERBRIEN © RZIMA °
(2% IR1,897 285 ([ 58 1) %2,097
675,866,000/ 7T) HEE(ZTZ—F 1 1, 8468 HE

2,26154%)

Shopping Mall in the PRC  Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into The higher the capitalisation rate,
2022: HK$2,598,728,000  approach account the capitalisation of the lower the fair value.

(2021: HK$3,484,611,000) rental, income potential, nature

of property, and prevailing

market condition, ranging from
4.0% t0 4.5% (2021: 2.5% to
4.5%) as at 31 December 2022

respectively.

Monthly market rent, which A significant increase in the market
ranged from RMB50 per sg.m rent used result in significant
to RMB200 per sq.m (2021: increase in fair value, and vice
RMB60 per sq.m to RMB255 versa.

per sg.m) taking into account
the differences in location,

and individual factor, such as
frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

(73 B 2 W WAB R E A RESERE  MAESN - ERNMEES - ARESE- =
B St o WEHBERERTRE - BX ==
2,598,728,000. . == =

a . L ENTA0%EA5% (=B —

5%Z4.5%) ©

\.\.{iiﬂ £
W

—
—_—
e
—
p—Te—

\\l\ Annual Repéi’é’
. - Al

‘r\“u - -
| R
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19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
year. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, certain investment
properties of the Group have been pledged to secure banking
facilities granted by the bank of Group. Details are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties held
by two subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi with carrying amounts of HK$1,462,350,000
(2021: HK$2,027,890,000) and HK$662,132,000
(2021: HK$841,493,000) respectively were pledged to
Bank of Jinzhou Co, Limited for the bank borrowings
of two companies in aggregate principal amount of
RMB3,400,000,000, which were related to Mr. Dai in respect
of its certain bank borrowings. At the prevailing time of
those pledged contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but
companies indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. As disclosed in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
acquired the entire equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb Power
Enterprises Limited and Sky Build Limited respectively that
were completed in April 2021. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group became aware of these pledged
contracts when the Group received the PRC court notices
about legal claims as disclosed in Note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements.

19. BEWE »)

RER - FZERBESLEEY -
ER-T-—F+-A=+—8 AEEET
RE YRR ABRRASERITE L ARTT
BE o FIFHNERE M B REMTESL -

R-F— -

N— < ——

RIE-_—F+-_A=+—H WEKNBLQ
AIEMABE RN B AR EMERE
B 5 B 41,462,350,0008 T ( — T — —4F :
2,027,890,0007% 7t ) %.662,132,000/ 0 (= F
Z—%F : 841,493,000/ 7T) + ESEREMA QA
RITIE R A £ 4858 A R#3,400,000,00070 4
T WRIMNRITIRND BRI - BEGREEH
B ERE THRITERIERME - REILZEER
AHEF - EINEYVE IR G IEAR D BB
AR MEBEEMBEEFINAR - HWEE
B3R R M s 40FT 1R - AEE D FIE B
B Superb Power Enterprises Limited }2Sky Build
Limited(R=Z=—F MM AFEA) - WIEEME
BRBMNESH 2 HRE - NRAREERE
AR A B TS IRR M ST47PTIREE - REBE PN URE
FEVER RS A RERNAEZEETA
45 o

w
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 0. B &EE
Vehicle Customer
license plates relationship Total
REEE EFEB% et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAT
(Note a) (Note b)
(MfzEa) (Ff5ED)
cosT A
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—%F—F—H 4,155 - 4,155
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40) Uz E&HTE 2 71 (MiEE40) = 95,472 95,472
At 31 December 2021 and RZTE=——F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HkK
—E-—_%F—AHF—H 4,155 95,472 99,627
Exchange realignment VE 3% = (5,026) (5,026)
At 31 December 2022 NRZTE-—F
+=-A=+ 4,155 90,446 94,601
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION &
At 1 January 2021 RnZZT=—_—F—H—H - - -
Charged for the year FAHK - 1,819 1,819
At 31 December 2021 RIE-—F
+=ZA=+— - 1,819 1,819
Charged for the year FAHR - 2,659 2,659
Impairment loss for the year FARERSE S 41,460 41,460
Exchange realignment T i A% - (1,332) (1,332)
At 31 December 2022 WIE-_F
+ZA=+— - 44,606 44,606
NET CARRYING VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2022 NZE-_F
+=ZA=+—8 4,155 45,840 49,995
At 31 December 2021 R —F
+=-A=+—~H 4,155 93,653 97,808
Notes: P3E -
(@)  The vehicle licence plates were issued by the relevant authorities (@ AREREAPERESEEEEHPIRE - I
in the PRC and Hong Kong with no expiration date. EyE SRR
As a result, the vehicle licence plates are considered by the FE - AREEIRE R A E S A R
management of the Group as having indefinite useful lives. EHFH - ZETEMERT IS PR - BE
These vehicle licence plates will not be amortised until their 135 2 {5 A A EARE I A A BRI R RS Bl 7R
useful lives are determined to be finite and they are carried at BT R ERB(RIE) Ak » R - 5
cost less any subsequent impairment losses, if any. Instead, they S BB R S A R L BURE - RIS
will be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if FF(FERE)BEZREAR - ==
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be tie—— —

impaired.
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The mining rights represent four of the rights to conduct
mining activities in the location of Ulaan Uul, Nogoonnuur
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Ulaan Uul”), Tsunkheg,
Nogoonnuur Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Tsunkheg”) and
Khovd Gol, Tsengel Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Khovd
Gol"”) in Mongolia. The mining right in Tsunkheg and the
two mining rights in Ulaan Uul have remaining legal lives of 9
years (2021: 10 years) to 13 years (2021: 14 years), expiring
in July 2031, March 2033 and December 2035, respectively.
The mining right in Khovd Gol has a remaining legal life of 14
years (2021: 15 years), expiring in July 2036.

The mining licences are issued by Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “Mongolia Mineral
Authority”) and may be extended for two successive

21. MINING RIGHTS 21. BRIERE
HK$'000
FAT
cosT e
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZZEZ—F—HA—H ZF-_—%
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +-A=+—R8 —TE-—_F—F—HBHK
B _F+-A=+—H 1,003,034
IMPAIRMENT BE
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—%—F—H 921,243
Impairment losses recognised (note 22) BRERREEE(ME22) 63,075
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H8k
—_E-_%—AF—H 984,318
Impairment losses recognised (note 22) B iR EEE(M:22) =
At 31 December 2022 R-E-——F+=-A=+—H 984,318
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2022 KRB —_F+=-A=+—H 18,716
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H 18,716

RBEETREEEERYELKEFBEMS
BEN(SHEEN ) REAFK(EAE]) RE
ESVELERIMEAZA([RAZ ) #
ITEREEE) 2 INERER - REHIE 2 FRIEE
kR EE SN 2 mEFRBEEE G ETEFH A9
F(ZEZ—F 10F)E13F (2 =—F:
14%) » DRIR=_T=—%+H - _FT==
ZARZE=RAF+_AER - REAZTZ
RIBERGEEFHRI4F(ZE_—F : 15
F) RZBE=ELAER -

REMFHEDESEREORRANERR
([Z&MB R EH » TEREBAL SR
20% - ARAEFRA - B EEBEARN

Hman

additional periods of 20 years each. The directors of the - ABREF  mAEEERE R, e
' ﬁmmﬂ@'%ng - EBEANAE  EEFER =N —
s pr i wan Ggogo' should be able to renew it ERRAL - RBZE= s =
l&] icence G i&g charges until all ;@E +_E|Jt$" ——

.
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21.

MINING RIGHTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received several notices from the Mongolia Mineral Authority
and requested the Group to prepare updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol. The
Group commenced the discussion with the Mongolia Mineral
Authority regarding the feasibility of conducting mining
activities on these mining rights. The Group consulted with
legal adviser on the legal implications of notices and with
reference to the legal advice, the mining licences of these
mining rights owned by the Group are still in effect as at 31
December 2022 and 2021. Started from 2018, the Group is
in the progress of preparing an updated resource estimation
technical reports and feasibility study reports on these mining
rights by different phases in accordance with the Mongolia
Code for the Public Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves in order to fulfil the requests
from Mongolia Mineral Authority.

Mining rights are included in the mining and exploitation
of natural resources segment which is a CGU, representing
the Group's subsidiaries — Kainarwolfram LLC and lkh Uuliin
Erdenes LLC that hold mining rights for the purpose of
impairment testing. Particulars regarding impairment testing
on mining rights are disclosed in note 22.

21. KB »)

REBE-_Z—N\F+_A=1+—HILFEER
AEEBWIEHBEERHETBRSE  Bk4As%
ERIUSESN - B 58 KB 2 K RERE
& SR E R RS R TS -
REBHSHERRDINZ S HREEETHRE
SEEMAIITHERRE R o ARBREE ZER
FELWAEER  BE2EXREER A%
EEENZEREENARRENR S
—E-—F+-RA=1+—HDAEK - #=F
—N\FRE - ANEEIERZETRRERANRE
ERESHHGFRER BREARRBARKEZ
AFRET AR RS SR E RS k]
THHRENEBFHEERHEK -

RERETARBREBRRAERD FIA—
BEReELEN  BAEEZHB AR -
Kainarwolfram LLC } Ikh Uuliin Erdenes LLC 5
BRI B MR 2 ERIEHE o B RAERIEER
BRI 2 FIER M 322558 -
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22.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS

No active mining operation of the Group had been taken
place during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022,
and the directors of the Company conducted an impairment
assessment of the Mining CGU. For the purposes of
impairment testing, the mining rights set out in note 21 have
been allocated to the Mining CGU represented by mining and
exploitation of natural resources segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCD and VIU. The
recoverable amounts of mining and exploitation of natural
resources segment were determined based on VIU calculation
and certain key assumptions. For the purpose of impairment
testing, the VIU calculations used cash flow projection based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a period of five to twenty years (2021: five
to twenty years). The pre-tax discount rates used for the VIU
calculations are 25.3% to 32.0% (2021: 25.0% to 31.6%).
Other key assumptions in estimating the discounted future
pre-tax cash flows are included tungsten metal estimated
selling price with nil growth rate (2021: nil), estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating costs,
recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential and
exchange rates.

In November 2018 and August 2019, the Group engaged
independent qualified mineral technical advisers to
prepare an updated resource estimation technical report
(“Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report”) under
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves and they have conducted
the first phase and second phase of exploitation work
regarding the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and
Khovd Gol during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019. Furthermore, the directors of the Company have
planned to carry out the third phase of exploitation work
for the mining right in Tsunkheg and however, as a result of
quarantine measures as well as the travel restrictions imposed
by the PRC and Mongolia under the COVID-19 pandemic,
the third phase of exploitation work had not been started in
2021 aiaxnd 2022.

22, BRIERE 2R E AR
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22.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS (continued)

Based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report issued by the qualified mineral technical adviser with
reference to their first and second phase of exploitation
work conducted, the tungsten grades of the mining rights in
Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol are considerately lower
than the tungsten grades indicated in the previous resource
estimation technical report prepared in 2008 (”Previous
Resource Estimation Technical Report”), while the volume
of the exploration potential of the mining rights in Ulaan
Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol is higher than the volume
indicated in the Previous Resource Estimation Technical
Report. Considering the increment in the estimated volume
of recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential
of the mining rights in the Updated Resource Estimation
Technical Report, the management of the Group expected
that longer period of lives of the mine for the overall
exploitation work and revised the financial budgets covering
a period of five to twenty years for cash flow projection in
2022 and 2021.

Based on the above findings from the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged an
independent PRC professional firm to update the feasibility
study report and also engaged Norton Appraisals Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer to perform
the valuation of mining rights at 31 December 2022 and
2021 based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report and the latest feasibility study report. With reference
to the valuation of mining rights performed by valuer and
the information available to the Group up to the report
date, the directors of the Company were of the view that no
impairment losses of the mining rights for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: HK$63,075,000) need to be
recognised for the Mining CGU in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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22.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS (continued)

The directors of the Company believe that the estimates and
assumptions incorporated in the impairment assessment
are reasonable; however, the estimates and assumptions
are subject to significant uncertainties and judgements.
Furthermore, the directors of the Company expected that
the third phase of exploitation work can only start after the
relaxation of quarantine measures and travel restrictions
and the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Tsunkheg may differ from
previous estimates and causing potential adjustments to the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU upon completion of
the third phase of exploitation work.

If there are adverse changes in the key assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment for the mining
rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol, it would lead
to the recognition of further impairment loss against the
Mining CGU as follows:

22. IFRUERE 2 RERHE =)

ARREERS  RMEFEPAHAOGE KRR
BaE R HERBRRAXRERTHBAAE
ERFAERR - Ut ARREERYE=
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RN BN R EBE T RE A BN SE AT R G BN 7T
RE=REEFARTREERBER SELEMA
Wm & BB B o

S SH  B &R S0 R R E T
BELNTERREETNED - LHEHY
RERSELEMFEHNE - PREEBBRE
R TR

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHIT
5% relative increase in pre-tax AT BEER R AR EIE A5 %
discount rate - (3,587)
5% decrease in tungsten price 5B 5% = (10,372)
5% decrease in volume of recoverable RS ERRMEEE
reserves, resources and exploration WA5%
potential - (78)
5% relative decrease in tungsten grades ISEAREIR 5% - (10,372)
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. RAREFABRZERNEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets designated at FVTPL BERAANEFABZZE/MEE
Unlisted equity securities (Note) LR FH (FI5E) = 627
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REBLTRAES
- held for sale — BEHE - 8,471
- 9,098
Analysed for reporting purposes as: 2B ATIERI AT -
Non-current assets IEREAE - 627
Current assets mEEE - 8,471
= 9,098
Note: The amounts represent investments in unlisted equity securities MieE : RS SEIENTEK T —BLEEERER
issued by a private entity established in the PRC. T2k EMRAFEFHIIRE -

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted HR
for their fair value measurements are disclosed in note 38(c). Bz

REFEMRAZGEERMTRERH AR
SR RE38(IFE
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24. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 24. FRAEEE
Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FHT
Carrying amount BRTEIE
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+-H=+—8 4,152
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-A=+—H 5,965
Depreciation charge EEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (B2 R —F+_A=F+—HIFE 3,888
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z-—_F+-A=+—HIEFE 5,546
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Expense relating to short-term leases EREBREEHAY 207 257
Total cash outflow for leases HERS /LA 5,823 4,267
Additions to right-of-use assets REGREEE 7,426 1,806
For both years, the Group leases offices premises for its RREFERN  AEERAESERERAE

X RMEFEA %HE #THREEEIT
FIEESFEY RBEFEK L - AEEEE
REEREFRIIRRALESEREEEEY
¥ YEHAKEBTAENEMES, LI

operation. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
year to 5 years with fixed payment for both years. The Group
does not have the option to purchase the leased properties
for a nominal amount at the end of the relevant lease terms
or any extension/termination options which are solely at the
Group's discretion. The Group'’s obligations are secured by
the rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

R o $%Z§ET§L‘A%§%E%ZE$E
SEERA - MERRHIRERNEEER T B

FHETRIGER R IGHE - Eiﬁﬁﬁﬂiuﬂﬁﬂ_—f
BUHERIMERE  AEEHAAONEERT
EEa
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24. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$7,426,000
(2021: HK$1,806,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$7,426,000 (2021:
HK$1,806,000) as at 31 December 2022. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set
out in notes 33 and 38(b).

25. INVENTORIES

Inventories represent finished goods held for resale.

24, FREEE®)

25.

oh  RZTBZZF+=-A=+—H 3t BH
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26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 26. FERBRX
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Accounts receivable FEUER TR 30,444 30,097
Less: allowance for credit losses B BB (675) (4,477)
29,769 25,620

REBIZMEERBAKRTERF30E120K
F 308120k )2 =EH -

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days (2021:
30 to 120 days) to its customers depending on the type of
products sold.

(ZF=—

The following is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice dates which approximated to the respective revenue

AT AZREEAH(EE 8 RARREBEE)
I EKER(NREEBERE) KK
#r

recognition dates:

2022 2021

—E- 8 —E-—4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 30 days — 90 days 30HZE90HA 7,253 24,843
91— 120 days 91£120H 21,916 -
Over 120 days 1208 A E 600 777
29,769 25,620

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s accounts R-TZ-—F+-F=+—H KEEANE

WERF BIERRE S HHNAREEY
2,706,000/ (=& = —*F : 3,763,000/ L)
WEWEESR - REBBEHT - 4T (=%
——4: B)E@E0 A L EREEE
IREERE B R ZSRBERNES B2
AR BELN - AEEWEFHE EALHK

receivable are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$2,706,000 (2021: HK$3,763,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, approximately nil (2021: nil) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default considering
the background of the accounts receivables and historical

settlement arrangement of these accounts receivable. The e
Group does not hoId any collateral over the balances. M=
| | ‘ . N W — ; = g/:'_":'b—-lg; =
§;41.‘i\' b ..\ Hrsee =l = v
540 \ ) \ W 9 p ment of accounts re@@abierae - IR @ = ——
: ;l?i O\ gg ot _\\ == = | ——
NN = | ———
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27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

27. HtEWHIE - RERFANRE

PREPAYMENTS

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Purchase deposits HEELS 50,633 65,357
Rental and other deposits (note a) e REMZE (H5Ta) 2,292 2,428

Other receivables, net of allowance for HEEW B (R EER
credit losses, and prepayments EERE) RIERFIE 42,845 32,275
95,770 100,060

Analysed for reporting purposes as: 2B ATIERI AT -
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,502 1,502
Current assets MENEE 94,268 98,558
95,770 100,060

Note:

(@) The amount represents deposit paid to a supplier for the

purchase of flooring materials.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and
deposits are set out in note 38(b).

P aE -

(@) BRI R B AR KL i 5 R HER

MRS o

BRAEMERRARES 2 REMEFBEER
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28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. RITHEHRREAE
The bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates RITHEMIZIRITIISFR XS -
per annum.
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group BT T-_—%+_-_A=+—H
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and IEFE - AEBERITARETREN G IR
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty REFFIRITEOO AR EN - it - W
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for MEEBEIELRE -
credit losses is provided.
29. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 29. FERtEERHMENRIE
PAYABLES
2022 2021
—EC_F —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Construction payable FEfTIEEE A 96,285 110,571
Accrued expenses and other payables FEET 2 J HoAth 1~ k1A 16,024 9,351
Interest payables FERTRILE 249,920 91,873
Receipt in advance for rental income LGN 33,369 13,562
Deposit received from tenants WP YEUR S 81,809 115,311
Other tax payables HAbERTIE 1,025 1,907

478,432 342,575
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30. BORROWINGS 30. B &
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHIT
Unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note i) #EIME BIRITEE (M) 5,337 3,000
Secured variable-rate bank borrowing (note ii) &% S8R1TEE (i Ei) 208,152 232,131
Secured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note i)y BT SIRITEE (i Eiii) 1,527,997 1,675,647
1,741,486 1,910,778

PEE -

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2022, the unsecured fixed-rate bank
borrowing amounting to approximately HK$5,337,000 (2021:
HK$3,000,000) which is unguaranteed, carried at fixed interest
rate of 3.8% (2021: 3.8%) and is repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, the secured variable-rate bank
borrowing carried interest at the London Interbank Offered
Rates (“LIBOR") plus a margin of 2.75% (2021: 2.75%) per
annum, which the effective interest rate is 4.16% (2021:
2.85%) per annum. It contains a repayment on demand
clause and contractually repayable within one year based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement. The
loan agreement was expired in November 2022, and thus, as
at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowing became overdue,
repayable on demand, and was shown under current liabilities.
The loan agreement was further renewed and extended
subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the secured fixed-rate bank
borrowing which is guaranteed, carried at fixed interest rate of
7% (2021: 7%) and is repayable on demand.

The secured bank borrowings were secured by the investment
properties and 100% equity interest of a subsidiary established
in the PRC as at 31 December 2022 (2021: same). Details of
charges over the borrowings are disclosed in note 41.

The loan agreement was expired in January 2021 and the
agreement had not yet been successfully renewed nor extended
as at 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the bank borrowing
became overdue, repayable on demand, and was shown under
current liabilities. Up to the approval date of the consolidated

\D nk borrowing has not yet %gn

(iii)

R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—8 #EFTE
SRITIEE B#5,337,0008 T (— T - —4 :
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B3 -
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31. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 31. EERE
An ageing analysis of accounts payable presented based BRIERWE RIS HEZSERNRE MR
on the delivery date at the end of the reporting period is as BAITIAT
follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
0-30 days 0£30H 1,849 10,755
31-90 days 31290H 10,720 16,380
12,569 27,135
The credit period granted by the suppliers was 90 days (2021: BHEZZT-_F+-A=+—RHILFE  #E
90 days) for the year ended 31 December 2022. AR THEEAIOR(ZEZ—F : 90K) °
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, all RZEZZF+ZA=+—RHARZ=ZT=—F
accounts payable were denominated in United States Dollar TZA=1+—8 " FEEMEREHUET(E
("US$"). TEE -
32. DEFERRED TAX 32. EAEBLIE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes.

FRGEEMBRRARAZHRANME - ETE
EREBEEERBBDEE - UTRARUBRE

B BT i B RE B AR AT

2022 2021
—EC- 8 —E-—4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Deferred tax assets T IAE E - 6,495
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIAAE (380,925) (582,159)
(380,925)

(575,664)
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32, AR IE )

REE-_Z-_—FR-_ZF-_—F+-_A=1+—
BLFENERRZEIEZELERBEE, (&

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021: &) REFEFHIFMOT -
Revaluation
of
investment Provision of
properties ECL  Tax losses Total
B EHEE
REWE BRRE BIEEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FHETT
At 1 January 2021 W-_ZE-——F—F—RH - 5,600 - 5,600
Acquisition of subsidiaries BLGIEINGI eI e
(Note 40) (Pi7E40) (609,573) - 8,489 (601,084)
(Charged)/credited to profit B8z (%), 5 A B
or loss (Note 13) (BF5E13) 38,988 (5,600) (1,980) 31,408
Exchange realignment B 3, (11,574) - (14) (11,588)
At 31 December 2021 and ~ RZT=—4F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—AK
—E-_%—A—H (582,159) - 6,495 (575,664)
(Charged)/credited to profit B8z (Fk),FHAEZ
or loss (Note 13) (B5E13) 162,011 = (6,180) 155,831
Exchange realignment EH AR 39,223 - (315) 38,908
At 31 December 2022 P S
+=-—A=1+—H (380,925) - - (380,925)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$1,247,376,000 (2021:
HK$1,055,821,000) available for offset against future profits.

RBEHR  AEBZ2AHAREE
18 %91,247,376000 B T (Z & = — F :
1,055,821,0007 7T ) AT FA AR S5 R SR F)
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The directors of the Company perform periodic assessment
on the probability that future taxable profits will be available
which the deferred tax assets can be realised or utilised.
In assessing the probability, both positive and negative
evidences were considered, including whether it is probable
that the operations will have sufficient future taxable profits
which the deferred tax assets can be deductible or utilised
and whether the tax losses result from identifiable causes
which are unlikely to recur.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a deferred
tax asset has been recognsied in respect of such losses
amounting to HK$25,980,000. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an amount of
approximately HK$6,180,000 representing the balance of
deferred tax asset for tax losses was charged to profit or
loss. Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams during the year ended 31 December 2022.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences arising from impairment loss of
mining rights of approximately HK$15,887,000 (2021:
HK$15,887,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
foreseeable future.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the retained
profits earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting
to approximately HK$508,758,000 as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foresggap!e future.

)
\\
N

B N

32.

EZERIE %)

ARBEEEHHEAIERABAELEHREE
ERARRERBE A AT BENE - AP AT BEE
o FEMEEEROCER  BRZEHS
DA TN ENABRELEREREE
BRI ERTE A - ARSI A B Al &
AERESIE - MiELREN KA ERRE
& o

BE-_ZT-—F+-A=1+—HItFEE B
ZE B EERIELETIEE E25,980,00078 7T ©
EREBE T —F+-_A=+—HILFER
REREFRTAITER - B R FIRTIBEE
RIBLETHIHEE ©

BEZZE-_F+=-A=1+—HLFE #
TH SRR E T 18 & E £/ ¥8 496,180,000 7T
Bt ABZ - At - HE=-ZT-_—F+=-A
=+ —HLEFE - ARRI MR TE R
M WA IEBBERECHIBEEE

RIEHBR  ANEBRREEREEBELR
TR BT I = 58 4915,887,000/8 L (— T = —
£ :15,887,000/870) - WERZZ A N L
R EERRRERBEEE  REAAEAER
KRR K AT REE A B AT IR BT A M 5B
FERFLEF

BREFECEMERE BT NF—A—
At BAEEZFBEWER RN %8S
k2 RBBRBER - HE_S=—F+=A
=+ —HIEFE  WRRGE T IERERAFEFR
B /8 B BRER 2 AR BB i ) A1 T e M = BB T
IRIE LR TH 49508,758,000/8 7t © RE AR E
BB S I B R = R B B ) B R R
ZREE A TE R ARG Pl et el o
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33.1HE&E
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE
Within one year —&R 4,378 2,859
Within a period of more than one year HABR B A — SFE N BB
but not exceeding two years 1,764 1,310
Within a period of more than two years HAPR AR B N BB T A
but not exceeding five years 243 220
6,385 4,389
Less: Amount due for settlement within A RBBEE T RER
12 months shown under current +ZEAREEZ
liabilities EIHRFRIE (4,378) (2,859)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  3ERBIBEE TATRAR+ @A
shown under non-current liabilities ZIEEEF 2 B EIFRIA 2,007 1,530
Notes: P5E
(@)  The weighted average incremental interest rate applied to lease (@) MHEBEEANINETHEENENF25%F
liabilities ranged from 2.5% to 7.5% (2021: ranged from 2.5% 75%(ZF=—F : 25%%E7.5%) °
to 7.5%).
(b)  No lease liability is denominated in currencies other than the b) HEEESEENEBEEZEROINEEREIUN

functional currencies of relevant group entities. B EHEEHE -
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B
Number of Share
shares capital
RHEEE (L&
HK$'000
FET
Authorised ordinary shares at HK$0.05 per  #EMR0.058 T2 A EEEBR
share
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZE-—F—-HA—-H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E_—-F+-A=+—-8"
T oHE-R-HK
—E__F+-A=+—H 34,566,666,668 1,728,333
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares at EER0.05BTZERITRAR
HK$0.05 per share ZER
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, WZE-—F—-H—-H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 T+ A=t+—H"
—E__F-A-HRK
ZE-=F+ZA=1+—"H 5,250,019,852 262,501
Authorised preference shares at HK$0.05 BER0.05B T2 AR LR
per share
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZE-_—%—f—H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-—%+-A=+—8"
—TZF-A—Bk
—T-—#+-A=+—H 5,433,333,332 271,666

Issued and fully paid preference shares at BEBR0.05BTZERITR

HK$0.05 per share BEEER
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZE-—F—-H—-H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-—%+-A=+—H8"
T _4—H-BAk

—E-—&#+=HA=+—H - =
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35.

36.

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

The investment properties held by the Group for rental
purposes are expected to generate rental yield ranging from
0.12% to 1.67% (2021: 0.65% to 1.82%) on an ongoing
basis. Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

35. REHRERH

FEEFEREAA

AREFERERMZRANXERSHEE
HENF012%FE1.67%(ZF=—F : 0.65%=E
1.82%) MM S et R - B ERKAARE

REMZET

2022 2021

—EC-—F —E- 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Within one year —FR 10,364 39,457
In the second year E-fF 1,937 3,965
In the third year F=F 1,795 833
In the fourth year EefutEs 1,821 103
In the fifth year FRF 1,547 =
After five years AFiE 335 =
17,799 44,358

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group has no significant transactions and balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the key
management personnel, are set out in note 15, which is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

36. BB

BT FR-_FT-_—F+-A=+—H
IHFE ASESEERFTESAR S RE

£ o
FTEEEABZHM

HITEF(AEEEEAR) ZHMERHE
15 EFMOBFMEZE@KERBEARTL

MSBBERETE °

L
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37.

38.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s
stability and growth, and to strengthen the Group’s financial
management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
notes 30 and 33, respectively, net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews
its capital structure and make adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payables to
shareholders, issue new shares or raise new debts and repay
existing debts. The Group’s capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged from previous year.

37. EXRAEE

AEBEREER  EEBRARENERL
2 MARRGERADR  FHAKENR
FERIBER - ARIBBRAR BRI B E RS

AEENEARBRBAEFR(DRIREM
A30MIBEMNEEREEARE) - MRRTT
BHRMRERARAHEARGERZ(BED
BITRA R AR -

ARBEERBNENEHEERNREE 1R
BEEARNESIELAR - REITAFEE
ARE  ARELSABIKN TREMABE -
BITHBRREETEMEEREER - BBE
FENUR  AEEEBERNEE - BEE
Fr AR Z ) -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €@t TH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) 2R T ENER
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Financial assets EREE
FVTPL BARERAEZ - 9,098
Amortised cost HEHRR 340,788 370,157
Financial liabilities sRERE
Amortised cost BIERR 2,862,487 2,264,602
Financial guarantee contracts MISEREL 664,394 =
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, accounts receivable, other
receivables and deposits, bank balances and cash,
accounts payable, other payables and borrowings and
financial guarantee contracts. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i)  Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have the
foreign currency bank balances, which also
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk. In
addition, the subsidiary of the Company has intra-
group loan with a subsidiary denominated in
foreign currency which also exposes the Group
to foreign currency risk. The intra-group loan
had been fully settled during the year ended 31
December 2022.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBEEBEREE

FEENTECRTABEETRANE
SPABRZEREE - BURR - AR
WBRizE - RITESRRES - BHER
A BAORNRERERA RS BRRE
% BZEeR T ARANRREETS
R (BERER - M X R ERR
) ERERARKRSHESEAR - BRI
AR SRBROBREN X - ERE
IR N B S AR AR R R B R E i
HEREE

e
() EFEmE

AABETHEBRRIKINEIRITAE
BRTME AN E B AT HNERE S o U
Hh » R BIHE A A —FE A INE
FHENHBAREEEBANER -
HIME AR E EAZINE R - BRE
EEANEREREBEE=-Z ==
+—A=t+t—B2m3E -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. €T BE(#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) IEREREEEZERBER &)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) TG E R ()
()  Currency risk (Continued) () EEmEE(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign RBWERKR - NEBELAINEFHER
currency denominated monetary assets and EREEREEABENREBENAT

monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2022 2021 2022 2021

B T B —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT FET FHT
us$ E 12,569 27,135 26,575 25,889
Renminbi (“RMB") ARBTARKD = - 50,633 65,570
GBP R = = 6 13
Singapore Dollar AT - - 72 293
The Group currently does not have a foreign 7N 52 B 35 WF 30 48 T ] S BE ¥ R
exchange hedging policy. However, the X Am  AEBEIEE SN
management of the Group monitors foreign ERRIENETEREEEFE
exchange exposure and will consider hedging RHNGE R o
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related AEBFZEMBEET ARBR
to US$, RMB and HKS$. ATHENERER -
For the entities of which their functional currency HE N EE /BT A AET
is HK$ while holding assets denominated in US$, FHEMEECER  ARRESR
the directors of the Company consider that as 7 BITHEEITE - NEBATF
HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group is not subject FEAE T H R INEE R SIS KX
to significant foreign currency risk from change SNERER - Bt EEEBITEE
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against US$ and TCBAGN 2 B T B SN B B S S ) B
hence only consider the sensitivity of the change RRE DT o
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against currencies A

other than US$.

: P EI'F\ \u‘éﬁﬂyys includes only ou BRED

rrVop). rxlch are denominated in relevant HSNEE ETHE B C W s
and adjusts its trM BRI ES /o 38 2 e

m___‘
5% change in relm Ho

ge rates.

p——

e

—
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in
the functional currency of the group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5%
(2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. It did
not take into consideration the foreign currency
forward contracts outstanding at the end of each
reporting period as the directors of the Company
consider that the relevant currency risk exposure
is minimal. The analysis illustrates the impact for
a 5% strengthening of the functional currency of
the relevant group entities against the relevant
currency and a positive and negative number
below indicates a decrease and an increase in loss

respectively. For a 5% weakening of the functional

currency of the relevant group entities against the

relevant currency, therefore would be an equal

and opposite impact on the loss or profit.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

5 /m e (&)
() E¥mbg(E)
BREDSN(E)

TRAVNRAEEAEREERNY
EERLAEMINETKS%(ZF
T 5%) ZBRE - RAAER
TRERASBRSINERREER
ZHREL R RSN (B —F :
5%) REEEHIMNEEXRSIEN
REE B 2 AT o RW R RZEHE
HRZAAREBNINEERAL

REBAAREERRAREEER
BRIGM - DMSHAEHEEERED
DREER LA EEHES %N
2 MmMIXWEEEFTHRIHAE
BB RIEM - HEBEEERE
MR R AR BRI E5%

BEEEIENAESERBROE

2 o
=

\\l\ Annual Repéi’é’
~ i I Y

R e

- “fLH

RMB Impact (i) HK$ Impact (ii)
ARBEHE>) 7 TT R (i)
2022 2021 2022 2021
el T — et (-
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHERT FAxT
Increasein loss before tax  BRFATEIELE N (2,532) (3,728) = 1 ;—i = m—
i M BT T IS S = - F:ﬂ';f;:gﬂg:ﬁr—:z
NN Decrease in loss before tax KR Al ES 1R IR 4 2;5320-—=== 3,728 - ==
W | { . W N Ftors = ==
‘“\n\u'n.'n \».” = — ~ ==
N N » ——— \ —
S W ——— — =
Mh
— -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

Market risk (Continued) TG E R ()
()  Currency risk (Continued) () EEmEE(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREDW(E)

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances denominated in RMB at the
end of reporting period.

(i)  This is mainly attributable to the exposure
on bank balances and an intra-group loan
denominated in HK$ at the end of reporting
period.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the relevant years.

(i) Interest rate risk (if)

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate consideration receivable
and fixed-rate bank borrowing as disclosed in note
30. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances as
disclosed in note 28 and variable-rate borrowing
as disclosed in note 30. The Group's cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuations of LIBOR arising from the Group’s GBP
denominated borrowing. It is the Group'’s policy
to keep its borrowings at floating interest rate
so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.
The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook.
9 ‘ ] b | X 3
\ » \ ] : Th

R

'\\\ \ N i ‘o its exposure to interest rate
. I e —

- \'e management will-consider
py : 8 3 m‘%
g:sig t interest rate exp% —

() EEHRBEHRAARE
EHYSRTTAEERAOTE H R -

(i) EEHRBEHRAETIE
BV ERTT S K SR B A B SR A0 E
R

ERERR - mRFERNERIL T
RERMARRFERR - HBURES
MR REBSNERL

FYF a2

AEBHEEHE0MBENES
EURREBRERRITEEN QA
A ERER - A% E IR HE K E28
PR EE R A BZ B IRITAE M R M &
M ENFEMERREREMNEK
R - ARENRSRENRER
TEETRAEEARSEHENE
REE N RBUERTTRESFEF R
B ARENERRRRFEERR
FEMERE  UBARERNERE
BREME - ARBERMRER K
Al R E B h E R A R BB E A1
BEZETEAMEER -

s
i —
REMER ===
NI E: —
i~ B
EANRR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

9
~ l
{

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Total interest income from financial assets that
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

38. £ T B
(b) HERBREEEEREE®)

5 /m e (&)

(ii)

FIFER (&)

BEHRATEZSREEZ BT
BAIT

2022 2021
—ECF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Other income =N
Financial assets at amortised cost RHSEN AR, R EE 2,215 36,333
Interest expense on financial liabilities not WIRARBEFAERms R AE
measured at FVTPL: ZHRBZHAT
2022 2021
—E;-_—F —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ IZE X AFIBRz £ RIBE 177,868 130,342
Sensitivity analysis BRBE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising

B 1f'nst,gr!xt

\\f\ d Annual Report QD

R
il
- B L‘u RRRRRRRRRRERE

ot

T XBRE DT IR RS KRR
MEREBMETE > DT HERNRK
HHARNER TARZBBAEEDA
“%ﬁ%%oﬁMﬁHQwﬁg%
—&F  S0AE) AEIRE
HET AT RSB e EE) 2 7T
m HRARRESERABZER

ERELE 2B SR E TR R
DITEx R A N )
FRIRTTHE RS o

_7_

—

—_—

—
]

—
——




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments listed and unlisted equity securities.
The directors of the Company manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. The Group’s equity price risk
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments of
entities which are quoted in Stock Exchange in
Hong Kong. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
other price risk. However, the management has
appointed a team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should that
needs arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the
management considers that the Group’s exposure
to other price risk is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, other receivables and deposits,
bank balances and cash. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets and
financial guarantee contracts,

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

5 /m e (&)
(iii) B AES R

AEBRER LK LEHBRAE
FEREMEERRAEBRRERR - &
RAEFBRBERTETRERZ
KREHAEEZAR - ARE 2K
AERERIBEFREBNBR
PIRENBEBNRATAR - A&H
REWEERAEMITETAROS
HEAMERRR - A BEEED
ZE-HAABSRERARILHR
ERENEEMTERAR o

REBEE_T-_—_FR-_FT=—F
+-—A=+—HLFE WES7
BREMN  RRAAETEEBRAL
SEMESG . HMERRRY T E
j(o

=EmbER R R ETE

FERBEASERUFIERREZA
HETEBERZHBEENRR - A%
B2 EERRMOEERERER - Kt
FEMBRR RIZE « SRITRBRRAS - A%
3 B S R A E MR ER S W94
W2 ERERRSAEAER R EMER
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment financial
assets under ECL model. Information about Group’s
credit risk management, maximum credit exposures and
the related impairment asses applicable, are summarised
as below:

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals and to
determine any debt recovery action on those delinquent
accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers. Before granting credit to these customers,
the Group reviews the credit quality and defines credit
limits by these customers. Limits attributed to these
customers are reviewed once a year and each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of these
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables so as to minimise credit risk. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for
64% (2021: Singapore, accounted for 93%) of the total
accounts receivable as at 31 December 2022. Also, the
Group had concentrated risk as 64% (2021: 93%)%
of accounts receivable was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the remaining nineteen (2021:
one) customer represents 36% (2021: 7%) of the total
Group's accounts receivable. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
credit- impaired accounts receivable individually. The
remaining non-credit impaired accounts receivable are
assessed collectively and grouped based on shared credit

- risk.characteristics by reference to the Group's past due;_

38. €T R
(b) BIEEREERERBE®)

EERE R BETE (&)

AEBEREBHEEBERERAHERE
EETRENS - AEAKBEZEERR
B - RAEERRM O RERRERT G
(@) 2 BBt T

KEEF R WIS

AR EERBRREREK  AEEEEEDR
Zk—HAEBEBTEEREREEN
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REEER AfBeERERPZEEE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, including
consideration receivable from disposal of Hangzhou
Tai Rong and related interest receivables, the directors
of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12 months ECL (“12m ECL") ECL. Impairment
of HK$564,000 (2021: reversal of impairment losses of
HK$21,086,000) was recognised for other receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2022. Details of
the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Financial guarantee contracts

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment
and concluded that there has been a significant credit
risk and risk of default since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. During the year ended
31 December 2022, impairment losses on financial
guarantee contracts of HK$683,546,000 were
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Details of the financial guarantee contracts are set
out in note 46.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EERE R BETE (&)
B ER IR Rt T

FEMEBBRRRIZS (BELEMIMNA
REWRERBEEKAE)ME @ AR
RIESIRBBTEELE  BELBRIUR
AEASAREHZ TERTEMHER EH
ST E M FEUAR SR 2 S 2 PTUR B M AT (R
AT - ARRESERE  ZESH2E
ERRIEBEZRA  REAEAVIX
BREAEBREN2EABBEES
B NEABEREEBE] FIRBER
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FER - OHEMERKERRREL
564,000 T ( — T = — 4 : BEREES
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

38. €@ T E»)

(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EERE R BETE (&)
RITHEER

BREF T REERER TREREFEN
BRBERT HRTEBKZEERRE
R - REBSEGRIMNPEETRMEE
e EREETRSRNEOMEREY
BIEMNER  HRITARETI2EAE
HEEERNE - ENTPHEREX - )17
Rz 2B ARBEREEBRRA/EM
FEIRH] o

REBZ ABEERRFRFEBEAT

comprises the following categories: A

Internal Accounts Other financial

credit rating Description receivable assets

REBEE TR faat FEWUER X HihemEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

iyt RGHFHEVRAREEBFNEREMSE 2HBHEESE—- 2EAEREERSE
TR REEEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

e BERABINSIAREGEN  HEAEEHN 20BHEEEE—- 2EAEREEER
(AR RBEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally

RAR FRNBPREHER  AVTHRAREER 20BHEEFE- 2HBEHEEEE—
b E AE EF REEEERE

N
S%&ﬂiﬁaﬁﬁéaé’éﬂéﬁi -

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL —
impaired e -~ credit-impaired
- RHEHEEEE

= ERE

-

REEEERE

Lifetime

o

tis written off
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EERE R BETE (&)

TREALAEEAETRREEBRG
ZEREERMBERAOERZEER

contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment: B
2022 2021
It b3 —5z-
Internal/external (Gross carrying amount (ross carrying amount
credit rating BERE #5EE
Notes R,/ 12m or lifetime ECL HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Wi EEIR RS TR TiEL Thn Fin
Financial assets at amortised cost
RASARSIE, SREE
Accounts receivable 26 (Note ) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 30,066 26,324
MR (Htz1) 2OEHCEER(BRER)
(Note 1) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 3718 30,444 37173 30,097
(htz1) 2HEHCEER(EEAE)
Other receivables and deposits 7 (Note2) 12mECL 86,771 89,183
Efpriarangs (Mzt2) NERBSEESE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (Not credit-impaired) 1,309 88,080 745 89,928
RE HRHEEER
(REEEERE)
Bank balances 28 Aa3toB2 12mECL 222,94 255,354
R/t Aa3ER NEABHEEER
341,465 375379
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERERFETS(E
Notes: FisE

1.

For accounts receivable from contracts with customers,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for accounts
receivable from contracts with customers which are
assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired).

1.

RREEFROZBUERME - A&
EREREBMBHERANFEISRAZHE
RN REHRAERERT 2R/
B AREEBRABRBEBHEZER
BEERAEERE  WARNIBEEF
AETTHHE -

ERASEEERRER 2 —#1H - &
SEREELSERWU L EPERAANIE
B - TRARZHEBEEERCR
BAEERE) BB NN RIEEEERE
FHEZREBEFPANZEBUIRRIERE
BEERRAR 2GR -

Gross carrying amount AERREE
2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F

Average Accounts Average Accounts
Internal credit rating loss rate receivable loss rate receivable
REBEERTR PHEER D E A FigEsiax FEUER K
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THET
Low risk EER 0.98% 30,066 2.67% 26,324
Watch list BRAE N/ATIE A = N/ATE A S
Doubtful RIR N/ATEA = N/ATE R =
30,066 26,324

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

B BREXDREBEBRSHZEN
RIREWFIRZ At A B R
e B % 2 RANKRE 7 BV AT RIS 2 A i
HERELFE - DEHEREEHRE
B LA AR A 9055 5E e MR OB 2 AR R
SEIEH -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised reversal of impairment losses of HK$406,000
(2021: impairment losses of HK$709,000) for accounts
receivable based on the provision matrix and recognised
reversal of impairment losses of HK$3,471,000 (2021:
impairment losses of HK$2,407,000) for accounts
receivable based on individual assessment.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

38. €@ T E»)

(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EE R R BETE(E

fiRE : (&)

1. REEZZT-_—F+ZA=+—HLHF
&+ 7N S [ AR 4R 48 18 P IR Tk UK R SR
SRR B 5 1B B [E1406,0008 T (T = —
£ RI{E K1 709,0008 7T) © WARE
11 51 57 1 58 8 5 AR SRR SRR (B S 1R R B

3,471,000 (= E=—

2,407,000 7T) °

FOREER

TRIRHEBUIRREER 2 2 HIREE

that has been recognised for accounts receivable: EEE 2
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
- provision - individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HTEH 2HITEH
FEFE FEEE
— B EIER — (@ BITfE
(BIEERE) (IE&RE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—F—H 84 1,357 1,441
Changes due to financial RZZE_—F—A—HBERZ
instruments recognised as at cRIAEMBES :
1 January 2021:
— Transfer to credit-impaired —ERESZERE (84) 84 =
— Impairment losses recognised —BRERREEE = 1,453 1,453
New financial assets originated EEVeREE
— Impairment losses recognised — TR EEE 709 954 1,663
Exchange realignment [ W R (5) (75) (80)
As at 31 December 2021 RZZE=_—F+=-RA=+—H 704 3,773 4,477
Changes due to finandial RZEZ=F—A—HB#ERZ
instruments recognised as at SR TAMBED :
1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed —BEDREESE (448) (3,849) (4,297)
New financial assets originated EEHepEE :
— Impairment losses recognised — PRHERREE 1R 42 378 4208 ==
Exc allgnnie% 75 ——
A (O
X sAE ;N
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

Changes in the loss allowance for accounts receivable
as at 31 December 2022 are mainly due to reversal of
impairment losses of HK$3,849,000 for credit-impaired
accounts receivable.

The Group writes off accounts receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the accounts receivable are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the accounts
receivable that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EERE R BETE (&)

fiRE : (&)

1.

RZEZZF+-A=+—HB2ZENK
EREERE2EH I EEHNT T
REERENERRERELRRERSRE
3,849,000/ 7T °

EEAMETEBARAREVRAEY
BEHKEOANS  BERBEACHERHR
PHEEARERTHERKERD A
HEBME(ARPEHEERE) K&
2 5 R AR R o 2 B O P MR BR X
B RZHITEBHLIR

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the 2. ?JE Wﬁﬂﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ? ' f%@{iﬁﬁ
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit @ft@%*ﬂfﬁﬁ BYEHEREREERRE
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. EAIEEN ©
No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
2022 fREE
ot e 3 bt i] BERR st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FHET
Other receivables and deposits ~ EfbEWFIERIZ S - 88,080 88,080
No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
2021 HREE
TS HH BRER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR FHET
Other receivables and deposits iR IB RIS = 89,928 189,928
i
A

y 1
B ted Annual Report 202
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
2. (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

EEEBRREEFE(E)
MisE : (&)
2. (@)

TRIVTE FE M &I R IR S TR

allowances that has been recognised for other receivables Z BRI Bk
and deposits:
Lifetime ECL
(Not credit-
impaired)
2HEREEEER
(RBEERFERE)
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2021 ——¥—A—H 22,582
Changes due to financial instruments recognised —F-A—B®ERAZER
as at 1 January 2021: TR
— Impairment losses reversed —BERIREEE (22,582)
New financial assets originated EETemEE
— Impairment losses recognised — B HERREEE 745
As at 31 December 2021 RZZE—_—F+=-A=+—H 745
New financial assets originated EXNemEE
— Impairment losses recognised — B HERREEE 564

As at 31 December 2022

RZBEZZF+=ZA=+—H 1,309




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

In addition, as disclosed in Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group might be required to
make payments in respect of the financial guarantee
contracts entered into by Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi. The maximum liabilities guaranteed by
Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi were principal
amounts of RMB569,900,000 and RMB3,300,000,000
respectively together with the outstanding accrued
interests and other charges.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.

REELTEE

EEERBDECRRE  AEBEERERE
FEEEBRRBEIRITEBRIREIK
Fo UBRAKERBRHES  WRIE
Ren8rsoyE EEBEREEZ
HRBERL ERETERIE

BESN B ANER & B R M SR 46 AT IR
B ANEET AR EMN RS MR FE
RIS ERA AN o EMNEE K8
MNESERNERABED AT ARE
569,900,0007T K A £ #3,300,000,0007T
BRAEENEHNEREMER -

HREFBFHERASRERE © HHER
ERFENE - ARMRSBIRREHR
Z IR R E -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. €@ T B
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEEEREE &)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELERE(E)
Liquidity table BB 2K
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-=F+=H=+—H
Weighted  On demand Total
average  orless than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months 1year 1-5years  cash flows amount
mE  HEXG =faR AERRE

TERE  FR-BR  -Z=fiA E-f -E0F i ¢t Raf
% HKS000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS$000 HK$'000
% Tin Tin Tin TR Tin Tin

Non-derivative financial liabilities i 4RER

Accounts payable JERFE NATER 12,569 - - - 12,569 12,569
Other payables HtEATE N/ATHER 478,432 - - - 478,432 478,432
Borrowings B8 6.48 1,756,805 - - - 1,756,805 1,741,486
Lease liabilties HEERE 6.12 381 762 3429 2,048 6,620 6,385
Financial quarantee contracts FREREN NATER 5762021 - - - 576,01 664,394
8,010,208 762 3,429 2048 8016447 2,903,266
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+-A=+—H

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orless than 3 months to undiscounted Carying
interest rate Tmonth  1-3months 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount

g EEkE =faA AERRE

HoiE  AR-BA -2-fA % -ERf  jBER L]
%  HKS000  HKE000  HKFOOO  HKSO00  HKY000  HK§'000
% TAL ThT AT AT ThT AT

Non-derivative financial liabilities 5744 HEE

Accounts payable FEfi3E NAT R 27,135 - - - 27,135 27,135
Other payables Efpiiza NATER 326,689 - - - 326,689

Borrowings - 6.5 (RS - i 90f1 - =
TR N * leseliaifes, ", n,, BERH P==—3 === 13 ‘ e m——
1 O J:\. HARAY e = —
AN AR —— | =

p——

e

—
——
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2022, the aggregate principal amount
of this borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$208,152,000 (2021: HK$232,131,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors of
the Company believe that it is probable that the bank
will not exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company
believe that this borrowing will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment date set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table
below.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

mBELmE(E)

MBBERERERIER 2 BEE LR E
Bt AMEERS TR — @A |2 R
HEN N_T__F+=-A=+—80"
FZIEE 2 A& 8% H#208,152,0008 T
(ZZT——4 :232,131,000/87T) ° &=t
RAREE BB E - AREIESERA
RIT TR A B TR E R AN R R 2 WS
o ARRIEERE  ZEEBHREER
ETEE T ENE EEE - HFEER
T o

Maturity Analysis -

Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause

based on the scheduled repayment

HRAK - WRRET BEARR

ARERMERTZRE
Total
Less than 1-3  Over 3 months undiscounted Carrying
1 month months to 1year 1-2 years cash flows amount
AR
ikl REng R
SR-ER  -E=@R ZfAZE-E -ERE ag b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T T TR T T T
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZ#t-A=1-H 486 m 43N 208,711 214,539 208,152
As at 31 December 2021 R2B--%+-A=1-H 566 1697 236,092 - 238,355 23,131
—_—

L
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
directors of the Company are responsible to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For
instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The management reports the valuation
committee’s findings to the directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

38. £ T B
(b) BIEEBREEEERBKRZ)

(o)

)2 SR 2 BB A BN E PRAEE
ZEETRIR - ERFRTAHAZESREA
TEH -

ERMTENAARETE

AR EEAEBNAEE TR H
BENSRBENALENEFR

ARETERGEES
RUBHRERRN  AEEHOSHMTA

ARERE - ARREFREEELN
FHEMERHERM LB ARE -

¥

EEFTAAER - AREEAEERTE
EMHEE - RE=ERPEFTAIHER
BABBNTAMS @ AAEF —ERDN
BABBZEAT  AKREBHEE=746
BREEMETHE - ARREETYA
BARERINBEERD - AEBEE HRE
HERMREARE - EEE/TEER
EHRER/RRBETARAES - ARE
ARABERBNREA e
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

38. €@ T E»)

(0 EMIENDRETER)

REEUBEMEEE A A BT ENTH
BEERTHEEHAALE

AEEROERMEENSRERRZAR
BFtE - TREFERNAEEZESR
BEENDAECLEZMERGERN
AR NER -

Fair value Valuation technique(s) and Relationship of key inputs
Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy key inputs to fair value
RE=B=+-Af ME IZRAYES
ME £ HESRRIERAEE MRENER
202 2021
ot Sl 3 %
HK$'000 HK$ 000
TR TER
Financial assets
SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL - - 627 Level2 Asset-based approach Asignificant increase in the net asset
unlisted equity securities value used would result in a significant
Derived based on net asset value of the  increase in fair value, and vice versa.
unlisted invested entities
BRAEH ARS8 2ER BEARA [EReEEFENARENBEHLA
BE- ¥ EHIRAES LN v
REENFLTRATREERENE
Financial assets at FVTPL - - 8471 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A
listed equity securities
BAAEH ARG 8 2R FRTHHREAE MR

RE- LTRARS

There were no transfers in different levels of the fair
value hierarchy between Level 1 and 2 during the
reporting period.

RABERA  AABEERE—RZ_ER
ZFE?I%KE%%&FE?E@ e
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures required)

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values based on
discounted cash flows analysis.

39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group has retirement plans covering a substantial portion
of its employees. The principal plans are defined contribution
plans.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The Group's employees are required to join the
scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregated
income with a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Singapore and
the UK, in compliance with the applicable regulations of
respective jurisdictions, participated in various pension
schemes operated by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments. These subsidiaries are required to make defined
contributions to these schemes at a fixed percentage of their
covered payroll. The Group has no other obligations for the
payment of its staff’s retirement and other post-retirement
benefits other than the contributions described above.

The total contributions.in respect of the year ended 31
ceinbeg 2022 charged to consolidated statemenlgf

38. T A

(0 EMIENDRETER)

REFWHEUAZE ME RGN AEE
THEERTHBEEBNAAE (EFER
ERAE)

ARREERA  REUBREAE
- EREENSRE BIREHKANE
BHMBHRRESZEREEEEAARER
VEESI

7
=

39. RIREFIETE

u i

AEBERE —HERREAID R E ZRIKGH
2 - TRFBRFREMHKEE

ARBNEBMERRRBEREIMEREFE
EEBNRAERELERBELTESETE -
AEERBHAZMUEE - SHEINEERAK
KENBENRRE  AREAEHES - K
SEEETEERBERRRERAERESR
BERBRANS%HER  LRABREREA
1,500 7T °

RETREEERERR - ARABHTE
g R REREARIS2REIBEHEMAET
B &8 ZHRASFE - ZEMBRRIA
B BIPIRES © 2 BE AN L RZE
ZIEHERHR o B D ERON - REEIL R
Hin 2 ff B TRAREMERRBHORE

- mE=e——sioA= i gl
/\Tﬁﬁf&ﬁﬁﬂ%@ bk 2 4

——
—_—
g

I (2021: HK$2,612 OW
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. WEEKMTEB A T

(a) Acquisition of Sky Build Limited and its
subsidiaries

On 24 December 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a share purchase agreement
with an independent third party for the acquisition
of 100% equity interest of Sky Build Limited (”Sky
Build”), a company incorporated in the BVI at a cash
consideration of RMB 554,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$660,847,000). Sky Build indirectly
holds the entire equity interest in Jinzhou Jiachi, which
holds the operating rights of Jinzhou First Tunnel
Shopping Mall* (% )i #th — K 78 B %7 /0 located in
Jinzhou, the PRC. After the transaction was completed
on 23 April 2021, it becomes a subsidiary of the Group.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of

(a) UxBESky Build Limited 5 Eff}

BAF

R-ZZ-_ZTE+_A-+WH  AQA
—H2ENBARE—BBIE=FH5
U8 Sky Build Limited ([ Sky Build ] + —f
REBEZHSEMAMAAR)100%
BEMSILTRMEERR  ReR
8 & A R # 554,000,000 7T (B & R 4
660,847,000/ 7T ) ° Sky Build #5617
M 32Eh 2 SRR - MR MR BT ERIR
RSB Y ER M b — KB LR &
e RGN B —FNA-+=H%K
% HERATAEENHBAR

REXBBERENEERERNEEN

completion were as follows: SE
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment Y - WERE& 113
Investment properties wEME 821,988
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment HMEWROE - k& RIERFHIE 10,495
Bank balances and cash RITHBRES 801
Accrued liabilities and other payables ErtBaEREMEMNFIE (41,489)
Amount due to fellow subsidiaries JER R Z B A R Z0E (74,149)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIES F (54,600)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAAEYRZ AIHEFEERTE 663,159

The fair value of other receivables, deposits and
prepayment at the date of completion amounted to
approximately HK$10,495,000. The gross contractual
amounts of those other receivable, deposits and
prepayment acquired amounted to approximately
HK$10,495,000 at the date of completion. The best
estimate of the contractual cash flows not expected to
be collected at the date of completion date amounted

RIEp B H - EhfEGIR - ke RIEH
FIBHA B 510,495,000/ 7T © FA5E
KREE - BRENZEEMERIE &
& RIERRIEMN & 4I48847/410,495,000
VBT o IRTERK H B - HTEH A SR &
NEEREZRERERT °

T

T — ——

\\l\ Annual Repéi’é’
. - Al

wf\“
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continved)  40. WREBHI B D Tl (2)

(a) Acquisition of Sky Build Limited and its (a) UiESky Build Limited & EFf}

subsidiaries (Continued) BAv®)
Bargain purchase gain arising from the acquisition WEEEELZEREE K

HK$'000

FHT

Cash consideration ReRE 660,847
Less: total identifiable net assets at fair value B R AAESRZ AIEREEELTE (663,159)
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition W EEEE 2 ZEES K= (2,312)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WIBEENE 27T

HK$’'000

FHT

Cash consideration HeRE 660,847
Less: bank balances and cash acquired W T 2 SRITEBR KRR S (801)
Less: deposit paid in prior year (Note 27) B R EFEEMRS (MFE27) (118,075)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHEEBEELE RS RLFE 541,971
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021, mkEEEERN -_E-_—F—HA—H
total Group revenue for the period would have been T AN EERERERERDY
approximately HK$317,756,000, and loss for the year 317,756,000/ 7T+ MF NEBEL A
would have been approximately HK$444,434,000. The 444,434,000 7T - FHEARERSZ -
pro forma information is illustrative purposes only and WABARKEWEEEEN T _—F
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results —A—HBZERAERT - AREEBER
of operations of the Group that actually would have EEEERNERFES - M TIRHARRE
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on LRAYTEA

1 January 2021, nor it is intended to be a projection of
future results.

IR 0 O P,
o R
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)  40. U BB B 2 T (2)
(b) Acquisition of Superb Power (b) UE&Superb Power Enterprises
Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries Limited R KB A A

On 24 December 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a share purchase agreement
with an independent third party for the acquisition
of 100% equity interest of Superb Power Enterprises
Limited (“Superb Power”), a company incorporated
in the BVI. Superb Power indirectly holds the entire
equity interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi, which holds the
operating rights of Guangzhou First Tunnel Shopping
Mall, Phases 1 and 2* (/N —KEEWHL - —Hi Kk
—H) located in Guangzhou, the PRC.

The Guangzhou Rongzhi has an advance owned
to a former shareholder before the completion of
acquisition. Included in the advance amounting to
RMB1,437,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,717,400,000) was novated to a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company upon completion of the
acquisition as a consideration for the acquisition. After
the completion of the acquisition on 23 April 2021, it
becomes a subsidiary of the Group.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of

RZZZTF+ZA=+MA  AQA—
MEEMBARE-—EBIE= st
Superb Power Enterprises Limited([ Superb
Power]  —[EIR & R Z B Skl iz
B E)100% MM ST T IR BB E
% ° Superb PowerfSiE B EMNRE 2
ERAHE - i M RLES RIS A L7 BN
B E M — KRB O— A R — R A

BN FE UK BE SR AT E M ATAR SR B H 8
o BRE R AR1,437,000,0007C
(FBZ71491,717,400,000 7T ) B R U BE
EEEKBEET ARG —HE2ENBER
A EAREEEMNRE - WEEER =
T —FNA-—+=HE/KE  HKAET
AEENKIBAR

Ry AR BNEERERNAEN

71 77

completion were as follows: SE
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &R 568
Investment properties EYE 2,345,294
Intangible asset mpAE 95,472
Inventories FE 72
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment Hib YR « 12e RIE[FHKRIE 24,099
Amount due from fellow subsidiary A EESN VNGRS 1,845,312
Bank balances and cash RITEMREIES 3,323
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET A E R H M ER I (510,955)
Borrowings BE (1,636,807)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEAERE (449,452)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BASEYRZ SR FEEARE 1,716,926

The fair value of other receivables, deposits and
prepayment at the date of completion amounted to
approximately HK$24,099,000. The gross contractual
amounts of those other receivables, deposits and

N {

R B - B EIRIE « e RIBR
TRIBH)A S ME#5524,099,00058 7T © AT
KB BRENZEEMERIE -
© RIENFIENEHL 49524,0

N “prepayment acquired-amounted to approximately e e - RAERH
N F“M&m;t S — 75 I =g as
esti | - =

e of completion da

auﬁg date of completion.
dﬁgtual cash flows not

e ey

—
pusy
e

—_—
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

(b) Acquisition of Superb Power
Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries

40. WIEMIB A B (&)

(b) YEESuperb Power Enterprises
Limited R It B AR (#)

(Continued)
Goodwill arising from the acquisition KIEEEELHEE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration RE 1,717,400
Less: total identifiable net assets at fair value B R AAESRZ AIEREEELTE (1,716,926)
Goodwill on acquisition W ETREE 2 E 474
Net cash inflow on acquisition WEEANE S RAFE
HK$'000
FHTT
Cash consideration ReNRE =
Less: bank balance and cash acquired W T 2 SRITESR RIS (3,323)
Net cash inflow on acquisition WHEEEEL 2 R RAFE (3,323)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021,
total Group revenue for the period would have been
approximately HK$312,767,000 and loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$498,147,000. The
pro forma information is illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2021, nor it is intended to be a projection of
future results.

WkEEBEER _TE=Z—F—HA—H
TR CHANEERSREEAD
312,767,000 8 7T+ ™ F A E 1B E L
498,147,000 7T - EEERHEH S ZE -
WANARKEWBESEEER S =—F
—A—HBZEKKERT - KEEEBER
EEEARNERESE M TEHARKE
EER9TEA
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

(c) Acquisition of Willease Limited and its

subsidiary

On 27 October 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a share purchase agreement
with an independent third party for the acquisition of
100% equity interest of Willease Limited (“Willease”), a
company incorporated in the BVI at a cash consideration
of RMB 370,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$451,659,000). Willease indirectly holds the entire
equity interest in Anyang Jiangchuan Public Facilities
Co., Ltd*, which holds the operating rights of Anyang
Diyi Shopping Street* located in Anyang, the PRC.
After the completion of the acquisition, it becomes a
subsidiary of the Group.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
completion were as follows:

40. WEMHB A5l =)
(c) WEBEEZEBRLATIREKE

N H]

RZEBE-_—F+A=-++tH KXAF—
MEEMBARE—RBILE =T
THROBE RS LWKESLZERAR
([FR] —HREBE RS FMKL
ZATE)100%RE - BeRBEAARK
370,000,000t (#8572 49451,659,00075
TL) c ERABERBEREIIIARKREE
RARIEEBARHE - Mk I A HZER
R A AR A R B M5Tf5 it — B
ZEERE o ASTRRINEEEIRR - EAT
AEEHHB AR

REK BB WBNEER D ERNEE
LU

HK$000
FHT

Property, plant and equipment M - BB RZE 85
Investment properties WA 612,791
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment Hib EWRIAE - 12e RIBNFKIEA 4,303
Bank balances and cash SRITHBRIES 3,135
Accrued liabilities and other payables ErTREREMEMNFIE (68,069)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEBE (97,032)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value

BAREYIRNABAIEEFERRE 455,213
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) ~ 40. YEBHI B 2 ) ()
(c) Acquisition of Willease Limited and its (c) WEBEEZEBRLATIREKE
subsidiary (Continued) YNGIlED)

The fair value of other receivables, deposits and
prepayment at the date of completion amounted to
HK$4,303,000. The gross contractual amounts of those
other receivables, deposits and prepayment acquired
amounted to HK$4,303,000 at the date of completion.
The best estimate of the contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected at the date of completion date
amounted to nil.

RER B - B RIRGIE - 12e RIER
FIEHY A 70 1B A4,303,0008 7T ° RTERK
HE - 252U EMEREIE - e
RIE B A 4258 54,303,0008 7T ©
RERBH - HEHTIERIMHEHRS
RENSEGTAZ -

Bargain purchase gain arising from the acquisition WIBREL N ZEBEE K
HK$000
FHET
Cash consideration ReNRE 451,659
Less: total identifiable net assets at fair value B ERAAEYIRO AT BB EFEARE (455,213)
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition Wi = 1H v A ERE (3,554)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WIEEHEL W R LM FEH
HK$000
FHET
Cash consideration ReNRE 451,659
Less: Bank balance and cash acquired B BB IRITAERR RIS (3,135)
448,524

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021,
total Group revenue for the year would have been
HK$317,570,000, and profit for the year would have
been HK$441,966,000. The pro forma information
is illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the

MK EEEN-_E_—F—H—HE=
K- FREEN=AEERE A317,570,000
A IT - M F N FE /441,966,000 8
T o BEBREESE - WTANANREKE
WHEBEN _Z-—F—H—HE %KD

BT - AREEREEEERK S RE
EXE W?F*K%ﬁ%ﬁiﬂﬂ —— :

il 1 i
i

ac.qt:'@iti b comple{ed on 1 January 2021, nor it is
N\ hice'n %%n of future results.
» N N [N =1
S8 ‘

S
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41. CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group has the following charges on assets for a bank
borrowing as set out in note 30 at the end of the reporting

41. EEER

AEBRREPRER AT BRITRERIRMYE
REOEE R (GRINPH FE30FEL)

period:
2022 2021
B —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHEIT
Investment properties KEYE
— Residential property units located in the — IR RE =Y E B
UK (note (a)) (M7EG@)) 575,840 675,866
— Shopping malls located in the PRC — IR BRI EE DL
(note (b)) (FfzE(b)) 2,124,482 2,869,383

Notes:

(@)  The investment properties, insurance proceeds and together
with a floating charge over all the assets of certain subsidiaries
of the Group were pledged to a bank to secure for a bank
borrowings with an outstanding amount of approximately
HK$208,152,000 (2021: HK$232,131,000).

(b) As at 31 December 2022, investment properties held
by two subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi with carrying amounts of HK$1,462,350,000
(2021: HK$2,027,890,000) and HK$662,132,000 (2021:
HK$841,493,000) respectively were pledged to Bank of Jinzhou
Co, Limited for the bank borrowings of two companies in
aggregate principal amount of RMB3,400,000,000, which were
related to Mr. Dai in respect of its certain bank borrowings.

(©)  As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the secured
fixed-rate bank borrowing were secured by the investment
properties and 100% equity interest of a subsidiary established
in the PRC.

B -

@ AEEREWE -  RBABHREERSETHE
RRIFTE B ERN O F BRI T IR1T -
EAREEIRTTIEE#208,152,0008 L(=F
——%F : 232,131,000/ 7T ) Z &R °

by M-ZZT-——F+-_A=1+—B WMKRHB
ARAEMNBENRBMNEHEENREDE
ARERTEMBITROBERAEF - AR
E{B{E 51,462,350,0008 T (ZFE = — 4 :
2,027,890,0007% 7T ) % 662,132,000 T (=&
Z—4F : 841,493,000/ 7T ) * AWK A AR
1TfE A& 5 A AR 3,400,000,0005T ¢ £
BEENE TRITERERE -

(0 RZB-_—F+4+_-_A=+—ABRZZT=_—%
+ZA=+—8 ' AEANEEFRRITHER
LAIS B W) 35 R AR B A ST & B BB 2 B1100% AR
VR o




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MR RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+=-A=+—HIFE

42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 42, BB RESTE

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
directors of the Company to grant options to selected
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time employee, including any director) of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, any supplier of goods or
services, any customer, any person or entity that provide
research, development or other technological support, any
shareholders or any participants who contribute to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity
(the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group and/or
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Participants and to
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
on 17 September 2015, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 17
September 2015 and shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 16 September 2025) unless
terminated earlier by shareholders in general meeting. The
number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total shares in issue on the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting (i.e. 125,091,243 shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
shareholders to renew the Scheme Mandate Limit on the
basis that the maximum number of shares in respect of which
any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

BREA B BN RARARRES A MAMEEN
AEBEMKE AR SERMKRERROEM
BEFERER (THEZBIRRBES 25
EAES) FHAEMRREHEER - T
P REMESEMRMSENEAIALTHE
B EARRARAREREMRE BN
REEREHERNEMNSEE((SER2HE
EDROBERE  FREBNEE  RPHEY
AEEEHKAT LB ER - R REFR
BERABNRER2EERRSIHAEES
EBENANER -

REBRRNR_F-—AFNATLRBBNHN—IA
TRABR  ARAERZZB-—AFNA+LE
R — AT 8 ([ R Rt 1)) -
REFEREAERAEBEIZZ_0F N
ATRB)BER - BH+F  RIFAERERER
BRIRAR & LIRATARLE  IRIEHTAB RS 8 A
R EMEAE A B AR B R L RO PT A M RTT
EEBEETET A TRERETHRNH
B AANSEBRRNBIRBSFAS LitE
B S BI B BIE BT 2N 10% (BN
125,091,243 ) ([ 5+ IR ) - BRIE
AR RVERREN M EE I SR ERBELE
RRIEF B B R AR EAMAEBE RHE
W ARTTE R E BT S RN &= EE
TMEEBARRTEHNEETRAZ30% -
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42.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cContinued)

The Scheme Mandate Limit was changed to 525,001,985
as at the date of passing of the ordinary resolution granted
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. 5 June
2017). The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue amounted to 5,250,019,852 shares as at 5 June 2017.
The options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit do not include options that are outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed as at 5 June 2017.

The terms of the New Share Option Scheme provide that
in granting options under the New Share Option Scheme,
the directors of the Company may offer to grant any
options subject to such terms and conditions in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance criteria to be satisfied before such options
can be exercised and/or any other terms as the directors of
the Company may determine in its absolute discretion. The
directors of the Company will also have the discretion in
determining the subscription price in respect of any options,
provided that the relevant requirements in the Listing Rules
are complied with.

The exercise price of the option is to be determined by the
directors of the Company provided always that it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer for the grant of the option (which is
deemed to be the date of grant if the offer for the grant of
the option is accepted by the Eligible Participant), which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of the
option shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
twenty one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to any Eligible Participant (including cancelled,
exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue from. time to time. Any further grant of options

42, BT &2

FrEIREREN BB L EFTEEERE 2
TERERERA(AN_ZT—tFAEH)EE
/£5525,001,985% o 485 #at 8| AER BB A
NAIZEBEITEBRBRMDBEZ10% - B
T — 47X A A HIES,250,019,852 % f% {7 ©
NARRIBEE I 2 5T 8 R T A X L AR
o OERBRR -_ZE—tE AR MKT
i - BiEsEs B R BB -

HBRAEE BIMIRTRE - RIBEFTIEIIERT 2
REBERER  ARREFAEHRDEME
Bt - Wt ANA BE AT TR R A BT 22 15 A B AR
RREHIR K, SAEEHRE B RAER
RAGH R,/ SRR BEEATEERIEEENE
A E MR - FEE T ETARRAARBRET
ARBERENBERBIBERTE S BRIEMBRE
HRRE(E

BRENTEEARRHEREE - HAED
BTN =FFNERRE  NBORLBEE
ER(BAR/RRSH)(HENKHBEREESE
R2REZM  ARARE A BRMER
WERMINBRMDKTE : ()EER L AHA
T EE % AR S B RERM NN F19
WiE - EERENTTREEEAIER T IE
BRI EE - R aEE

RUBRENZNARENBERE=-+—H8
(BIEZA)NEERN - ARARERZLEH
BN ZLNERNAARNSRER1.00 BT °
REERE AHEE2E A BE - RigH
R B R AN A BHE IR A RE AR 8l (E
e ER2EREREES TFTRENBRE(E
BERE BT RFEATTEAELGE) T
EMEETRESERTHENERERE ~IE

BETRERITRMDMN% © MAEE—TRE
=

78 A BR R 0 B A i S AR B SRS S
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

43. EEHELENEENEER

TRV AEEREZHEENABEEH (B
BRRENIFREBEY) 2FE - RMEZHEL
MEEDERSREXNSRREREN A EE
WEERERERTHIERBEETHRLSRE

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows ZBfE-
from financing activities.
Interest Lease
payable Borrowings liabilities Total
ERFRE BE HESE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FET FAET
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—F—H—H 1,017 235,626 6,319 242,962
Financing cash flows (note) ~ FEIR &= (M) (184,944) 303 (4,010) (188,651)
Non-cash transactions: IFBERH
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1y N 145,458 1,636,807 = 1,782,265
New leases entered BEITHHEE - - 1,806 1,806
Exchange realignment HNE FEE - 38,042 47 38,089
Finance costs BAREAAR 130,342 - 227 130,569
At 31 December 2021 and AT =—%F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HkK
—E-—_%—A—H 91,873 1,910,778 4,389 2,007,040
Financing cash flows (note) ~ EEEIR @ E (HFE) (19,821) (20,656) (5,616) (46,093)
Non-cash transactions: FRERS -
New leases entered BETFHEE - - 7,426 7,426
Exchange realignment HNEE B - (148,636) (99) (148,735)
Finance costs TR AR 177,868 = 285 178,153
At 31 December 2022 RZZBZ_F+=A
=+-8B 249,920 1,741,486 6,385 1,997,791

Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent rental payment,
withdrawal and repayment of bank borrowings and interest
paid.

NN
AN

M BARSRETERBSMNN  RBRERR
TERARENFE °
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, ZRREEWE D RIFE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and R —FR_FT-_—F+-_A=+—8H"
2021 are as follows: REEEZEMBARMFBOT -
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl A BRTRARKRA/ KARBENERR
HELRER EENY AR B EE RRRERDL TEER
2022 2021
—BC-CE B
Directly held subsidiaries
EREENNELA
Bestway Group International Limited BVI US$1,100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERNES 1,005 RERK
Tectron Pacific Limited BVI US§1 100% 100% Investment holding
RERNES 1% RERK
Wide Flourish Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EERERRAR RERNES 1% RERK
Indirectly held subsidiaries
EREEHNEL A
Prolific Rich Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EHERAT RERNES 1% RERK
Grand Shining Limited BVI US§1 100% 100% Investment holding
WERRAR RERNES 1% RERK
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
business
FRARLHA A 17T REBRRE 5%
LR AR AR A The PRC HK$400,000,000 100% 100% Trading business
REl 400,000,000/ 7C - HA%H —
2 = I
== 1

. The PRC - RVBS00,000000
m
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44, KRB EEMBRARNFER =)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl BRAIRMRRE/ RRARENERE
WEARER EENY EMRARER RREEESL TEER
2022 2021
“B--F -ZE--F
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
54 100,000%7t RERYERAER
lkh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
BT 100,000%7T REROERRER
Tai United Management Company Limited ~ The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HE 158 RERR
RCBG Residential (UK) Limited The UK GBP0.01 100% 100%  Property Investment
5 0.015% NERE
MRB Residential Limited The UK GBP1 100% 100% Property Investment
HE 158 WERE
MRB Residential Partners LLP The UK - 100% 100% Property Investment
(Note)
#8 - ES
(Fitz)
Superb Power Enterprises Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FNREERAA ERRXES (E9 RERR
Longain Park Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
REERAT A 1AL RERR
Guangzhou Rongzi The PRC RMB335,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease

: hE

BVI

and manage

IR 0 O P,
o R
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44, KRB EEMBRARNFER =)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAE Ve BRIRMRRE/ RRARENERE
WEARER EENY AMRBREE RRFERAL TEER
2022 2021
“B--F -ZE--F
Jinzhou Jiachi The PRC US$49,800,000 100% 100% Development, lease
and management of
underground shopping mall
BINEE E 49,800,000%7T BR HERTEUTED
il
Asian Leader Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEREARAR E 17T RERK
Anyang Jiangchuan Public Facilities Co., Ltd.* The PRC US$15,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease
(formerly known as: Anyang Renhe New and management of
World Public Facilities Co., Ltd.*) underground shopping mall
ZHLI ALREERAR HE 15,000,000 7T BR BERERMTED
(FIBEBANS R ALREERAF) )
Full View Trading United (established on Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Trading business
18 June 2021)
BREFERAT Bl 17T HH%H
(RZBZ-%/AT\BRI)
Notes: B 5 -

This entity is a partnership established in the UK. No registered share
capital available.

* Established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.
“ Established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

2 Deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2022.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their
ncorporation/establishment.
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(461,495)

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. XA R AR R KR # B
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHTB AR 2 #Exm 1,379,600 2,918,774
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 3,959 264
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,269 2,966
Other non-current deposits HtIEReize 1,503 1,502
Other non-current assets HMIEmEEE 6,000 6,000
1,395,331 2,929,506
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or A ET AR Z S REE
loss - 8,471
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EAbfEFIE - &4 MBI I8 493 1,619
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 49,743 1,075
50,236 11,165
Current liabilities RENEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEF B B RE AR FRIE 3,476 1,085
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIE A RFIE 1,636,514 1,635,327
Lease liabilities HeaE 3,600 2,290
1,643,590 1,638,702
Net current liabilities REEEFE (1,593,354) (1,627,537)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAR (198,023) 1,301,969
Non-current liability FEREAE
Lease liabilities HEARE 971 811
Net (liabilities)/assets (8fB) EEFE (198,994) 1,301,158
: NN — e = =
gxtal arﬁ:hrg \:\‘: BEXRRRE = ==
\ capital i :\\ e —— 262,501
| v \ — _

(198,994)

—
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

45, KRR MBRRAR R REE2)

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves ARERERE
Other
Contributed capital
surplus contribution ~ Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
BHES Hitr g
i 51 REEE Eak ]
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET THET THET
(Note)
(B3x)
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE=—F—-f—H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,682,973) 1,093,289
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEEBRZARXAE
for the year - - (54,632) (54,632)
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-—F+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2022 K—FE-—%—F—H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,737,605) 1,038,657
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEEIE Kk 2 E S 5
for the year - - (1,500,152) (1,500,152)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F#+-A=+-H 2,440,726 335,536 (3,237,757) (461,495)

Note: The contributed surplus reserve of the Company arose as a
result of the same Group reorganisation scheme and represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefor.

ffiE . ARRERZASKREDEASEZHARE
HEEMELEREMKBNBARERZE
PR EEBHADBERZARMEITHEA
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46. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 46. BIBIEREN

During the period from November 2018 to July 2019, two
of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou lJiachi entered into various financial guarantee
contracts with Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd and Bank of Jinzhou
Co, Limited respectively for the bank borrowings of seven
companies which were related to Mr. Dai Yonggue (”Mr.
Dai”). The maximum liabilities guaranteed by Guangzhou
Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi were principal amounts of
RMB569,900,000 and RMB3,300,000,000 respectively
together with the outstanding accrued interests and other
charges. At the prevailing time of those financial guarantee
contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but companies
indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. As disclosed in Note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group acquired
the entire equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb Power
Enterprises Limited and Sky Build Limited respectively that
were completed in April 2021. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group became aware of those financial
guarantee contracts when the Group received the PRC court
notices about legal claims as disclosed in Note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, these financial
guarantee contracts were not disclosed as contingent liabilities
in the Group's consolidated financial statements in last year,
and were not recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2021. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group recognised RMB586,998,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$683,546,000) impairment
losses on these financial guarantee contracts based on the
valuation prepared by Messer International valuation Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group, which was engaged by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

During the course of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the directors considered the expected payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantees were no longer recoverable
from the borrowers and therefore recorded a loss of
HK$683,546,000.in the profit or loss.

—E-NF+—REZZE-NAFLAHBME &K
S B A T BN RS & 88N 52 5t o) Bl £
BRRIRITIRO BRI T RBIMBRITROBRA
Alpt M EE K E LR E([EEED BB AR
RIRITIEREI L Z O BB IEIRE K o ENFE
BMBMNEZHEROSABES I ALEAR
#£569,900,0007T & A R #3,300,000,000 7T i
EAREBENEAFEREMER - RE] L ZE
EREHOR  BMNEES RIBIMNEHIWIEARQE
MEBAGE  MEBEERBFEHHIA - #
WG WS RERM 40T R - AEE D 7
i% 3B U B8 Superb Power Enterprises Limited &
Sky Build Limited (R —ZF = —F M A5HK)
W iE BN RS I 8RN S2 Bty 2 EPARE - R AR]
BEERE  WERAMBHRERMNFTATFEE -
E BRI EIFR BUERT BN A RE AR A
ERZEEMER - Bt - ZFUBHERENL
REREE EFEREVERETPIEAIAE
BERE  BEREAEBR-_ZT-_—F+=A
=+t —HMEAUBHREPER - HEZT
—ZF+-ZA=+—HLFE AEEIRE
HAEEWEEENE LS EREEMGER
Messer International valuation Limited (A< 7]
REBE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFEELE
ZARRENEE  BRASVBERELN
7R (B 5 18 A R 1 586,998,000 7T (#HE M &
683,546,000/ 7T ) °

ERESE T+ -_A=+t—HIEE
G SRR BET  EERAEHEEE
REBEANRBELABRAERARE - Bt
B 815 E518683,546,000/5 7T
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Litigation claim against Jinzhou Jiachi
Public Facilities Management Co., Ltd.

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
13 February 2023, the Company noted that a litigation
claim had been brought in the PRC by an onshore bank
(the “Claimant Bank”) against among others, an onshore
subsidiary of the Company, Jinzhou Jiachi, which was
alleged to have provided guarantee as one of the guarantors
of a bank loan, the borrower of such bank loan being a
third party company, Chongqing Baoting Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd. (EEBE A HEZREEEHBRAA). A
individual, Mr. Dai and other companies in the PRC were also
defendants in the said litigation claim. Based on information
set out in the claim documents, the total amount claimed
by the Claimant Bank against relevant defendants was
approximately RMB1.7 billion.

Based on information in the claim, the guarantee contract
alleged to be entered into by Jinzhou Jiachi was dated
30 July 2019 and at the prevailing time, Jinzhou Jiachi was
not a subsidiary of the Company, but a company indirectly
controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire interest
in Jinzhou Jiachi from Mr. Dai through an acquisition that
completed in April 2021 (the “Jinzhou Acquisition”). Based
on the legal opinion obtained by the Group for the purpose
of the Jinzhou Acquisition and the enterprise credit report
from the Credit Reference Center, The People’s Bank of
China (B A RIR1T#{Z B L), the existence of the said
guarantee by Jinzhou Jiachi was not revealed as at the time
of the Jinzhou Acquisition.

Litigation claim against Longain Park
Limited

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
13 February 2023, the Company also noted that a litigation
claim had been brought in the PRC by the Claimant Bank
against among others, a Hong Kong subsidiary of the
Company, Longain Park Limited (%% B2 A7) (“Longain”),
which was alleged to have provided a pledge against the
entire equity interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi, also a subsidiary
of the Company) as security for a bank loan taken out by
.Guap zhou Rongzhl (the "Guangzhou Bank Loan"). Mr Da|

47.
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Litigation claim against Longain Park
Limited (Continued)

Based on information set out in the claim documents, the
total amount claimed by the Claimant Bank against relevant
defendants was approximately RMB1.6 billion. Based on
information in the claim, the pledge contract alleged to be
entered into by Longain was dated 7 March 2019 and at the
prevailing times of the pledge and the Guangzhou Bank Loan,
Longain and Guangzhou Rongzhi were not subsidiaries of the
Company, but companies indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The
Group acquired the entire shareholding interest in Longain
and its subsidiary, Guangzhou Rongzhi from Mr. Dai through
an acquisition that completed in April 2021 (the “Guangzhou
Acquisition”). As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
26 March 2021, Mr. Dai provided an undertaking in favor
of the purchaser in the Guangzhou Acquisition that, if the
Guangzhou Bank Loan has not been successfully renewed
subsequent to completion of the Guangzhou Acquisition,
he will irrevocably fulfil his personal obligations under such
undertaking to repay all amount due to the Claimant Bank.

Litigation claim against a subsidiary of the
Company

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
9 March 2023, the Company recently became aware that a
litigation claim had been brought in the PRC by the Claimant
Bank against among others, Jinzhou Jiachi, an onshore
subsidiary of the Company, which was alleged to have
provided guarantee as one of the guarantors of a bank loan,
the borrower of such bank loan being a third party company,
Weifang Yuandu Chuangfu Public Facilities Co., Ltd. ( # 5
E#MalE AL FZMEAR A F]). Mr. Dai and other companies
in the PRC were also defendants in the said litigation claim.
Based on information set out in the claim documents, the
total amount claimed by the Claimant Bank against relevant
defendants was approximately RMB2.4 billion.

Based on information in the claim, the guarantee contract
alleged to be entered into by Jinzhou Jiachi was dated 30
July 2019 and at the prevailing time, Jinzhou Jiachi was
not a subsidiary of the Company, but a company indirectly
controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire interest
in Jinzhou Jiachi from Mr. Dai through an acquisition that
completed in April 2021. Based on the legal opinion obtained
by the Group for purpose of the Jinzhou Acquisition and the
enterprise credit report from the Credit Reference Center, The
People’s Bank of China, the existence of the said guarantee
by Jinzhou Jiachi was not revealed as at the time of the
Jinzhou Acquisition.
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Awareness of additional five guarantee
contracts

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
9 March 2023, the Company also became aware of the
existence of and subsequently obtained five additional
guarantee contracts alleged to have been entered into
by Guangzhou Rongzhi in 2019, which is prior to the
Guangzhou Acquisition. The Company is in the process of
discussing with its advisers whilst obtaining more information
regarding these guarantee contracts, including but not
limited to their validity and authenticity.

Pledges alleged to have been provided by
Jinzhou Jiachi

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated 28
March 2023, the Company recently became aware that two
pledges were alleged to have been provided by Jinzhou Jiachi
as one of the pledgors under two bank loans, the borrowers
of which are third party companies, namely Ganzhou Juli
Public Facilities Co., Ltd. (M EFAHRIEEZRERAE])
(the "Ganzhou Juli Loan”) and Harbin Dili Fresh Agricultural
Produce Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (P4 E8B i FI| 4 &
EEROCEEEER AT (“Dili Fresh”, the relevant bank
loan taken out by it being the “First Dili Fresh Loan”). Mr.
Dai and other companies in the PRC were either guarantors
or pledgors of such bank loans and in particular, Guangzhou
Rongzhi was alleged to be one of the pledgors under the
First Dili Fresh Loan as mentioned below. Based on the
information available to the Company, Jinzhou Jiachi pledged
its operating rights of an underground shopping mall located
in Jinzhou to secure the repayment obligations of the said
borrowers under the two bank loans, which amounted to
approximately RMB1.6 billion (with respect to the Ganzhou
Juli Loan) and approximately RMB1.6 billion (with respect to
the First Dili Fresh Loan), respectively, as at the date of this
report.

Based on information available to the Company, the pledge
contracts alleged to have been entered into by Jinzhou
Jiachi were dated 2018 and at the prevailing time, Jinzhou
Jiachi was not a subsidiary of the Company, but a company
indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire
interest in Jinzhou Jiachi from Mr. Dai through an acquisition
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Pledges alleged to have been provided by
Guangzhou Rongzhi

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
28 March 2023, the Company also recently became aware
that two pledges were alleged to have been provided by
Guangzhou Rongzhi as one of the pledgors under two
bank loans, one of them being the Dili Fresh First Loan and
the other also taken out by Dili Fresh as the borrower (the
“Second Dili Fresh Loan”). Mr. Dai and other companies in
the PRC were either guarantors or pledgors of such bank
loans and in particular, Jinzhou Jiachi was alleged to be one
of the pledgors under the First Dili Fresh Loan as mentioned
above. Based on the information available to the Company,
Guangzhou Rongzhi pledged its operating rights of an
underground shopping mall located in Guangzhou to secure
the repayment obligations of Dili Fresh under the two bank
loans, which amounted to approximately RMB1.6 billion
(with respect to the First Dili Fresh Loan) and approximately
RMB593 million (with respect to the Second Dili Fresh Loan),
respectively, as at the date of this report.

Based on information available to the Company, the pledge
contracts alleged to have been entered into by Guangzhou
Rongzhi were dated 2018 and at the prevailing time,
Guangzhou Rongzhi was not a subsidiary of the Company,
but a company indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group
acquired the entire interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi from
Mr. Dai through an acquisition that completed in April
2021. Based on the legal opinion obtained by the Group for
purpose of the Guangzhou Acquisition and the enterprise
credit report from the Credit Reference Center, The People’s
Bank of China, the existence of the said pledges provided by
Guangzhou Rongzhi was not revealed as at the time of the
Guangzhou Acquisition.

Litigation claim against Jinzhou Jiachi and
Guangzhou Rongzhi

As stipulated in the announcement of the Company dated
4 April 2023, the Company noted that a litigation claim had
been brought inthe PRC by the Claimant Bank against among
others, Jinzhou Jiachi, which was alleged to have provided
a pledge against its operating rights of an underground
shopping mall located in Jinzhou to secure the repayment
obligations of the borrower under the Ganzhou Juli Loan, the
borrower of such bankloan being a third party company. Mr.
Dai and other companies in the PRC were also defendants in
the said litigation claim. Based on information set out in the
claim documents, the total amount claimed by the Claimant
Bank against relevant defendants was approximately RMB1.6
billion.
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

Litigation claim against Jinzhou Jiachi and
Guangzhou Rongzhi (Continued)

The Company also noted that a litigation claim had been
brought in the PRC by the Claimant Bank against among
others, Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi, each of
which were alleged to have provided a pledge against its
operating rights of an underground shopping mall located
in Jinzhou (with respect to Jinzhou Jiachi) and against its
operating rights of an underground shopping mall located in
Guangzhou (with respect to Guangzhou Rongzhi) to secure
the repayment obligations of the borrower under the First
Dili Fresh Loan, the borrower of such bank loan being a third
party company. Mr. Dai and other companies in the PRC
were also defendants in the said litigation claim. Based on
information set out in the claim documents, the total amount
claimed by the Claimant Bank against relevant defendants
was approximately RMB1.6 billion.

The Company also noted that a litigation claim had been
brought in the PRC by the Claimant Bank against among
others, Guangzhou Rongzhi, which was alleged to have
provided a pledge against its operating rights of an
underground shopping mall located in Guangzhou (the
“Guangzhou Shopping Mall”) to secure the repayment
obligations of the borrower under the Second Dili Fresh
Loan, the borrower of such bank loan bring a third party
company. Mr. Dai and other companies in the PRC were also
defendants in the said litigation claim. Based on information
set out in the claim documents, the total amount claimed
by the Claimant Bank against relevant defendants was
approximately RMB593.5 million.

Based on information in the claim, the pledge contract alleged
to have been entered into by Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi were in November or December 2018 and at the
prevailing time, Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi were
not a subsidiary of the Company, but companies indirectly
controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire interest
in Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi through the
Acquisitions that were completed in April 2021. Based on
the legal opinion obtained by the Group for the purpose of
the Jinzhou Acquisition and the enterprise credit report from
the Credit Reference Center, The People’s Bank of China, the
existence of the said pledge by Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi were not revealed as at the time of the Acquisitions.

PRC legal counsel has been engaged to advise on the said
litigation claims. The Company, Jinzhou Jiachi, Longain and
Guangzhou Rongzhi reserve all rights and remedies they may
have against Mr. Dai and other relevant parties.
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Five-year Financial Summary

IFHHME

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~— AfEBA AWM HRERHE I GEEE - BER
last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the audited ~ BE(HEEAEBLEXGAMBRE)BMMT ¢
consolidated financial statements of the Group are summarised

below:
For the year ended 31 December
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
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RESULTS ES

Revenue and net investment Uz M IREUES

gains/(losses) (E18) 58 159,227 310,066 18,754 25,927 4,127,877
Loss for the year FHEERE (1.455,401)  (441,377) (27,234)  (246,770)  (553,393)
Attributable to: LA ARG

Owners of the Company RARIEE A (1,454,890)  (440,801) (26,782) (246,440) (553,243)

Non-controlling interests Eaali g (511) (576) (452) (330) (150)

(1,455,401) (441,377) (27,234) (246,770) (553,393)

As at 31 December
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
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HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets BEE 3,610,617 4,682,783 2,493,696 2,642,309 4,372,770
Total liabilities BEE (3.388,049) (2,969,593) (386,947) (573,360) (999,748)

Net assets FEE 222,568 1. 713280 - 2,106,749~ 7 RIDBS, 849K ==s-=735672

\\

|

——

‘%
| \ !

il

il




Particulars of Properties

MEFFIB

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
BREME

Attributable
interest of
Location Usage Tenure the Group
AEED
ik A FH bR
6 Buckingham Gate & Flats 1, 2, 3 & 5 at Residential premises for rental Freehold interest 100%
7-9 Buckingham Gate, London, and/or capital appreciation KA ZERE
United Kingdom PRREEMER,SEEARILE
The Anyang Shopping Mall located in Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 100%
Jiefang Avenue, Beiguan District, property management services are held for a term of
Anyang City, Henan Province, the PRC income 40 years.
2P HR BT R & 225 T Jb B [ R oK 38 FYERTE RS E R RS ZICERERA0F -
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Portions of Jinzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 100%
Shopping Mall, Zhongyang Avenue, property management services are held for 40 years.
Linghe District, Jinzhou City, income RIS ETERAOE o
Liaoning Province, the PRC LA R, S EEE RS
Az R AP B 3 B2 4 88 M T 2R [ AR SR KT W AHIEE Y O
Z M — KB OIS
Portions of Phase | of Guangzhou First Shopping Mall for rental and/or The land use rights 100%
Tunnel Shopping Mall located at the junction  property management services have been granted
of Zhangian Road and Zhannan Road, income for a term of 40
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City, FREHA RS EE B RS years expiring on 11
Guangdong Province, the PRC AR EE R s December 2046 for
R B BE 3R & B T A5 [ S AT B commercial/services
EAUARE IR R [E B 2 Mt — KB Y L and special uses.
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Portions of Phase Il of Guangzhou First Shopping Mall for rental and/or The operation rights 1009
Tunnel Shopping Mall Iocated atthejunction  property managementservices ~  are held foratermof = ;
of{.h an Qd and Z ‘quy income - not less than 40 ye ==
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